Investigating the steam sterilization of dental handpieces

Sandra Winter, BSc MSc

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy



School of Medicine

College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences

January 2016

Abstract

Dental handpieces are used in a wide variety of dental treatment and oral surgery. During patient treatment handpieces becom contaminated with patient material. Due to the design and function of the dental handpieces, internal contamination of handpiece components frequently occurs during use, raising the risk of iatrogenic infection. Dental handpiece lumens represent a challenge for both cleaning and steam sterilization due to limited access. Manufacturers of handpieces and benchtop sterilizers as well as international standards and several guidelines recommend use of a vacuum steam sterilization process for lumen devices; however, non-vacuum is used in many UK dental practices.

Therefore the aim of this thesis was to investigate if benchtop steam sterilization processes commonly used in dental practice are appropriate for sterilizing dental handpieces. Critical variables affecting the outcome of steam sterilization, such as pre-cleaning and lubrication were assessed.

In order to investigate the above stated aim, four research questions were formulated:

1- Investigating steam penetration into dental handpieces and lumens in general (chapter 4), which was approached using thermometric measurements, chemical and biological indicators were used in different handpiece types (high-speed turbines, slow-speed motors, surgical handpieces) and process challenge devices using non-vacuum and vacuum sterilization cycles in a laboratory setting (chapter 4) and in general dental practices (chapter 6).

2- Investigating the effect of pre-cleaning dental handpieces, contaminated with different test soils from the standards or clinical contamination after patient treatment using a washer-disinfector or a handpiece cleaner-lubricator, which was assessed using the o-phtalaldehyde and G-box method (chapter 7).

3- Investigating the effect of handpiece lubricating oil on microbial inactivation by altering different parameters during a steam sterilization process using a BIER/CIER vessel in St. Paul (MN, US) (chapter 5). 4- Investigating the effect of different humidity levels on chemical and biological indicators using a BIER/CIER vessel in Neuss (Germany) (chapters 3).

Thermometric measurements as well as assessment of chemical and biological indicators suggest that not all handpiece types can successfully be sterilized in all non-vacuum benchtop sterilizers. Especially the surgical handpiece appears to be difficult to sterilize. All non-vacuum sterilizers in general dental practice failed to sterilize handpieces. The comparison of the cleaning efficacy of a washer-disinfector and a handpiece cleaner-lubricator showed that a washer-disinfector is more efficient in cleaning the outside of a handpiece. Handpiece lubrication oil appears to impair steam penetration into handpiece lumens. Preconditioning in high humidity (90% RH) causes chemical indicators to perform a colour change and indicate successful sterilization quicker than ones preconditioned in low humidity (14% RH), which suggests that it is moisture rather than saturated steam that causes chemical indicators to indicate pass conditions.

Non-vacuum sterilization benchtop sterilizers are not adequate for sterilizing dental handpieces. A vacuum process is highly recommended in the interest of patient and staff safety. Chemical and biological indicators are not necessarily reliable and results should be interpreted with care.

Table of contents

Abstrac	t	II
List of t	ables	VII
List of f	igures	. XI
Acknow	/ledgements	хіх
Author	's declaration	XXI
Abbrev	iations>	XII
Terms a	and definitionsX	xνι
Chapte	r 1 – Introduction	1
1.1	Aim	2
1.2	Literature search and evaluation	3
1.3	Principles of thermal inactivation of microbes	6
1.3	.1 Theories and models of microbial death by heat	8
1.4	Sterilization by heat	. 10
1.4		
1.4		
1.4		
1.5	Dental Handpieces	. 17
1.5	.1 History of dental handpieces	. 19
1.6	Background evidence for contamination of handpieces	. 23
1.6	5.1 Bacterial contamination	. 23
1.6	.2 Viral contamination	. 23
1.6	6.3 Other contaminants	. 24
1.7	Legislations, Standards, Guidance	. 25
1.7	7.1 The European Medical Devices Directive (MDD)	. 25
1.7	.2 Standards	. 25
1.7	7.3 Guidance	. 26
Chapte	r 2 - Materials & Method Validation	.27
2.1	Protein	
2.1	.1 Standard curves	. 28
2.1		. 31
2.1	3 G-Box	. 35
2.1	.4 Bacteria	. 38
2.1	.5 Growth curves	. 38
2.1	.6 Artificial saliva	. 41
2.1		
2.1	8 Standard test load for handpiece sterilization experiments with data loggers	. 42
-	r 3 - Influence of different humidity levels on the sensitivity of chemical and	
•	cal indicators for steam sterilization	
3.1	Introduction	. 45
3.2	Materials and methods	.47
3.2	.1 Preliminary experiment	. 47

3.2.2	,	
3.3 Re	esults	51
3.3.1	Preliminary experiment	51
3.3.2		
3.4 Di	iscussion	60
Chapter 4	- Investigating steam penetration into dental handpieces using bencht	ор
-	rilization processes in-vitro	-
4.1 In	troduction	63
4.2 M	laterial and Methods	65
4.2.1	Preliminary experiments	
4.2.2	Type T thermocouples (cross section 2 mm x 1 mm)	67
4.2.3	Thin type T thermocouples (D = 0.8 mm)	
4.2.4	Data loggers (Ellab, D=2 mm, Teflon)	
4.2.5		
4.2.6	Biological indicator study	
4.2.7	Handpiece test load experiments	
4.3 Ke	esults	
4.3.1	Preliminary experiments	
4.3.2	Type T thermocouples (2 mm x 1 mm)	
4.3.3	Thin type T thermocouples (D = 0.8 mm)	
4.3.4	Data loggers	
4.3.5 4.3.6	Chemical indicator study	
4.3.0	Biological indicator study Handpiece test load experiments	
4.5.7		
4.4 Di	iscussion	
4.4 Di	iscussion	
	iscussion - Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditi	125
Chapter 5		125 ions 128
Chapter 5 5.1 Int	- Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditi	125 ions 128 129
Chapter 5 5.1 Int	- Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditi troduction laterial and Methods	ions 125 129 132
Chapter 5 5.1 In 5.2 M 5.2.1	- Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditi troduction laterial and Methods	ions 125 ions 128 129 132 nd times
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at pla	- Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditi troduction laterial and Methods Monitoring steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters a	ions 125 ions 128 129 132 nd times
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at pla	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditing of the steam penetration into lumens under controlled condition. Interial and Methods Monitoring steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and steau temperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measuremer steau 132 	125 ions 128 129 132 nd times nts, Cl
Chapter 5 5.1 In 5.2 M 5.2.1 at pla and B 5.2.2	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditing of the second strong steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and the second steam temperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measuremer and 132 	125 ions 128 129 132 nd times nts, Cl 136
Chapter 5 5.1 In 5.2 M 5.2.1 at pla and B 5.2.2 5.3 Re	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditint introduction Interval and Methods Monitoring steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and inteau temperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measurements 132 Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores 	125 ions 128 129 132 nd times nts, Cl 136 143
Chapter 5 5.1 In 5.2 M 5.2.1 at pla and B 5.2.2	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditintroduction Introduction Interial and Methods Monitoring steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and the automatic temperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measurements 132 Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores 	125 ions 128 129 132 nd times nts, Cl 136 143
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at pla and B 5.2.2 5.3 Re 5.3.1	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditint introduction	ions 128 ions 128 129 132 Ind times Ints, Cl 136 143 143
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at pla and B 5.2.2 5.3 Re 5.3.1 5.3.2	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditint introduction	ions 128 ions 128 129 132 nd times nts, CI 136 143 143 144
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at pla and B 5.2.2 5.3 Re 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.4	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditint introduction Iaterial and Methods Monitoring steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and iteau temperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measuremer 132 Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores Plastic and silicone handpieces Helix process challenge device Sterilization at shortened plateau times 	125 129 132 132 132 136 143 143 143 144 149
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at pla and B 5.2.2 5.3 Re 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.4 5.3.4 5.4 Di	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditintroduction. Iaterial and Methods Monitoring steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and the temperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measuremer 132 Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores Plastic and silicone handpieces. Helix process challenge device. Sterilization at shortened plateau times Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores. 	125 128 129 132 132 135 143 143 143 143 143 144 144 149 155
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at plat and B 5.2.2 5.3 Re 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.4 5.4 Di Chapter 6	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditintroduction Iaterial and Methods Monitoring steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and the utemperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measuremer 132 Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores Plastic and silicone handpieces Helix process challenge device Sterilization at shortened plateau times Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores 	125 ions 128 129 132 ind times nts, Cl 136 143 143 143 144 149 155 ce159
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at plat and B 5.2.2 5.3 Re 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.4 5.4 Di Chapter 6	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditintroduction. Iaterial and Methods Monitoring steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and the temperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measuremer 132 Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores Plastic and silicone handpieces. Helix process challenge device. Sterilization at shortened plateau times Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores. 	125 ions 128 129 132 ind times nts, Cl 136 143 143 143 144 149 155 ce159
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at plat and B 5.2.2 5.3 Re 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.4 5.4 Di Chapter 6 6.1 Int	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditintroduction Iaterial and Methods Monitoring steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and the utemperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measuremer 132 Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores Plastic and silicone handpieces Helix process challenge device Sterilization at shortened plateau times Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores 	ions 128 ions 128 129 132 ind times nts, Cl 136 143 143 143 143 143 145 ce 159 160
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at plat and B 5.2.2 5.3 Re 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.4 5.4 Di Chapter 6 6.1 Int 6.2 M	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditination Investigating steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and the temperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measurements 132 Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores Plastic and silicone handpieces Helix process challenge device Sterilization at shortened plateau times Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores In vivo study investigating steam sterilization in general dental practication 	125 ions 128 ions 129 ind times nts, Cl 136 ind 143 ind 143 ind 143 ind 143 ind 143 ind 144 ind 149 ind 155 ce 159 ind 160 ind 162
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at plat and B 5.2.2 5.3 Re 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.4 5.4 Di Chapter 6 6.1 Int 6.2 M	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditient introduction Haterial and Methods Monitoring steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and inteau temperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measuremer 132 Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores Plastic and silicone handpieces Helix process challenge device Sterilization at shortened plateau times Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores Iscussion In vivo study investigating steam sterilization in general dental praction Indet of the study investigating steam sterilization in general dental praction 	ions 128 ions 128 129 132 ind times nts, Cl 136 143 143 143 143 143 145 ce159 160 162 165
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at plat and B 5.2.2 5.3 Re 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.4 5.4 Di Chapter 6 6.1 Int 6.2 M 6.3 Re	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditinatroduction	125 ions 128 129 132 nd times nts, Cl 136 143 143 143 143 145 ce159 160 165
Chapter 5 5.1 Int 5.2 M 5.2.1 at plat and B 5.2.2 5.3 Re 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.4 5.4 Di Chapter 6 6.1 Int 6.2 M 6.3 Re 6.3.1	 Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditient to duction Monitoring steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and the temperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measuremer 132 Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores Plastic and silicone handpieces Helix process challenge device Sterilization at shortened plateau times Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores Iscussion In vivo study investigating steam sterilization in general dental praction In vivo study investigating steam sterilization in general dental praction In vivo study investigating steam sterilization in general dental praction 	125 ions 128 129 132 ind times nts, Cl 136 143 143 143 143 144 149 155 ce159 160 165 165 182

Chapter 7 - Investigating the effect of cleaning on handpiece sterilization 7.1 Introduction	
7.2 Material and methods	195
7.2.1 Cleaning efficacy of dental handpiece cleaner - In-vitro7.2.2 Cleaning efficacy of dental handpiece cleaner - In-vivo	
7.2.3 Effect of cleaning on the sterilization of dental handpieces using a non-vacuum sterilization process7.3 Results	
7.3.1 Cleaning efficacy of dental handpiece cleaner - In-vitro	202
7.3.2 Cleaning efficacy of dental handpiece cleaner - In-vivo7.3.3 Effect of cleaning on the sterilization of dental handpieces using a non-vacuum	213
sterilization process	220
7.4 Discussion	222
Chapter 8 – Discussion	225
8.1 Overview	
8.2 Clinical implications	229
8.3 Future work	229
List of references	231

List of tables

Table 1-1 Keywords used for online literature search online and mhp Central
Services4
Table 1-1 Summary of milestones in the development of dental handpieces 21
Table 3-1 Summary of experiments performed/CIs and BIs used 50
Table 3-2a CI results for low humidity preconditioning (x =fail, \checkmark =pass) 53
Table 3-3 Results Attest 59
Table 3-4 Results Excelsior mini spore strips
Table 4-1 Summary of time differences of inside other handpiece models
compared to chamber temperature
Table 4-2 Result summary W&H N type sterilizer 1 small load; growth in 0/54, CI
fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)
Table 4-3 Result summary W&H N type sterilizer 1 full load; growth in 0/54, CI
fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)
Table 4-4 Result summary W&H N type sterilizer 2 small load; growth in 0/54, CI
fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)
Table 4-5 Result summary W&H N type sterilizer 2 full load; growth in 0/54, CI
fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)
Table 4-6 Result summary W&H N type sterilizer 3 small load; growth in 0/54, CI
fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)
Table 4-7 Result summary W&H N type sterilizer 3 full load; growth in 0/54, CI
fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)
Table 4-8 Result summary Prestige N type sterilizer 1 small load; growth in 2/72,
CI fail in 5/72, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail) 102
Table 4-9 Result summary Prestige N type sterilizer 1 full load; growth in 3/54,
CI fail in 1/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail) 103
Table 4-10 Result summary Prestige N type sterilizer 2 small load; growth in
0/54, CI fail in 1/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail) 104
Table 4-11 Result summary Prestige N type sterilizer 2 full load; growth in 1/54,
CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail) 105
Table 4-12 Result summary Prestige N type sterilizer 3 small load; growth in
1/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail) 106
Table 4-13 Result summary Prestige N type sterilizer 3 full load; growth in 0/54,
CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail) 107

Table 4-14 Result summary Newmed N type sterilizer 1 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)... 108 Table 4-15 Result summary Newmed N type sterilizer 1 full load; growth in 1/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, x = fail) 109 Table 4-16 Result summary Newmed N type sterilizer 2 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail)... 110 Table 4-17 Result summary Newmed N type sterilizer 2 full load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, x = fail) 111 Table 4-18 Result summary Newmed N type sterilizer 3 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)... 112 Table 4-19 Result summary Newmed N type sterilizer 3 full load; growth in 0/54, Table 4-20 Result summary Eschmann N type sterilizer 1 small load; growth in 4/54, CI fail in 2/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail)... 114 Table 4-21 Result summary Eschmann N type sterilizer 2 small load; growth in 3/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail)... 115 Table 4-22 Result summary Eschmann N type sterilizer 3 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, x = fail)... 116 Table 4-23 Result summary W&H B type sterilizer 1 small load; growth in 0/54, Table 4-24 Result summary W&H B type sterilizer 1 full load; growth in 0/54, CI Table 4-25 Result summary W&H B type sterilizer 2 small load; growth in 2/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, χ = fail) 119 Table 4-26 Result summary W&H B type sterilizer 2 full load; growth in 0/54, CI Table 4-27 Result summary W&H B type sterilizer 3 small load; growth in 0/54,

Table 5-1 CI result summary for helix experiments exposed to non-vacuum
process
Table 5-2 Summary of CI and BI results in different handpieces at shortened
plateau periods (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail)
Table 5-3a Results of handpiece experiments in non-vacuum cycle (Hp =
handpiece)
Table 5-4 Results of controls and recovery method validation 152
Table 5-5a Results of smooth token experiments in vacuum cycle 1 (Tk = token)
Table 6-1 Most commonly used benchtop steam sterilizers in UK dental practice
Table 6-2 Result summary N type sterilizer 1; growth in 7/54, CI fail in 6/54,
growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)
Table 6-3 Result summary N type sterilizer 2; growth in 11/54, CI fail in 7/54,
growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail)
Table 6-4 Result summary N type sterilizer 3; growth in 10/54, CI fail in 9/54,
growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)
Table 6-5 Result summary N type sterilizer 4; growth in 1/36, CI fail in 0/36,
growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)
Table 6-6 Result summary N type sterilizer 5; growth in 1/54, CI fail in 0/54,
growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)
Table 6-7 Result summary N type sterilizer 6; growth in 3/54, CI fail in 3/54,
growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail)
Table 6-8 Result summary N type sterilizer 7; growth in 1/54, CI fail in 0/54,
growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail)
Table 6-9 Summary of BI, CI and thermometric fails in non-vacuum sterilizers
tested in GDP 181
Table 6-10 Result summary B type sterilizer 1; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54,
growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \times = fail)
Table 6-11 Result summary B type sterilizer 2; growth in 2/54, CI fail in 0/54,
growth controls showed growth (\checkmark = pass, \checkmark = fail)
Table 6-12 Summary of BI, CI and thermometric fails in non-vacuum sterilizers
tested in GDP 187
Table 7-1a Residual protein detected on high-speed turbines, contaminated with
Edinburgh test soil, using OPA

Table 7-2 Calculated values of residual proteins on all tested instruments and
contaminants. One value was unreasonably high and therefore not included
in the results
Table 7-3 Residual protein on high-speed turbines after AWD, assessed using G-
box
Table 7-4a Residual protein detected on clinically contaminated high-speed
turbines using OPA 213
Table 7-5 Protein contamination on handpieces after clinical use and after
Prototype X, using OPA217
Table 7-6 BI results from inside soiled handpieces and handpieces cleaned using
Prototype X (<-pass, *=fail)

List of figures

Figure 1-1 Example for dental high-speed turbine (TA-98 C LED, W&H, Austria) 17
Figure 1-2 Example for slow-speed motor (WA-56, W&H, Austria)
Figure 1-3 Example for surgical handpiece (S11, W&H, Austria)
Figure 2-1 OPA standard curve BSA 29
Figure 2-2 OPA standard curves BSA 30
Figure 2-3 Recovery of mucin after 30 min drying at room temperature using 1%
SDS, moist and dry swab 32
Figure 2-4 Rcovery of mucin after 60 min drying at room temperature using 1%
SDS, moist and dry swab 33
Figure 2-5 Recovery of BSA after 30 min drying at room temperature using 1%
SDS, moist and dry swab 33
Figure 2-6 Recovery of BSA after 60 min drying at room temperature using 1%
SDS, moist and dry swab 34
Figure 2-7 Diagram for cleaning stainless steel and preparation of G-box
standards
Figure 2-8 Example of G-box standard curve with BSA, produced in Microsoft
Excel
Figure 2-9 24 h growth curve of Staphylococcus aureus 39
Figure 2-10 24 h growth curve Streptococcus mutans40
Figure 2-11 standard test load with 3x dental air turbine TA-98 C LED (W&H,
Austria), 3x straight surgical handpiece S11 (W&H, Austria), 3x slow speed
motor WA-56 (W&H, Austria), 1x helix PCD (Browne), 2x temperature data
logger inside dental air turbine (TA-98 C LED (W&H, Austria), 1x
temperature data logger "free space" and 1x pressure data logger (all data
loggers ellab), total weight 0.5 kg 43
Figure 3-1 Left: glass vial containing CIs and BIs; red arrow indicates rubber
platform; Right: glass vials in BIER vessel chamber
Figure 3-2 Temperature traces at 3 min exposure (δt = time difference between
chamber and glass vial reaching sterilization temperature)
Figure 3-3 Left bottle with water shows colour change; right bottle without
water does not show colour change; unused colour indicator strip in front of

Figure 3-4 Colour change of Sterigage (3M) CI against time, in different amounts	
of water, pre-conditioned in high humidity (top graph) and low humidity	
(bottom graph); results on or above the horizontal red line are passes,	
results below are fails 56)

Figure 4-4 Assessed positions in TA-98; A-behind the turbine blade; B-inside the air channel (metal, d=2.3 mm, l=80 mm); C-inside the air channel (plastic)

Figure 4-5 Schematic compositions of BDT and thermocouple positioning 68 Figure 4-6 Comparison of type T thermocouples; thin type T (D=0.8) left and

type T (2 mm x 1 mm) right 69

Figure 4-11 Standard test load with 3x dental air turbine TA-98 C LED (W&H, Austria), 3x straight surgical handpiece S11 (W&H, Austria), 3x slow speed motor WA-56 (W&H, Austria), 1x helix PCD (Browne), 2x temperature data

- Figure 4-18 Demonstrating thermocouple thin type T results of experiments assessing spray channels in the handpiece (magnification of plateau period) using a non-vacuum sterilization cycle (black=pressure, blue=free chamber

- Figure 4-26 Cycle profile of non-vacuum sterilizer Alpha (Prestige), total cycle time is 35 minutes with a plateau time of 3.5 min (black=pressure, blue=free chamber space, light green, dark green=inside handpiece), the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134-137°C 92

- Figure 5-11 Magnified graph of plateau period 0 min (blue=free chamber space, black=pressure, green, light green, orange=temperature inside the

handpieces) the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization range of 134-

137°C, x4 CI fails/x2 CI passes144
Figure 5-12 Magnified graph of the plateau period 0.5 min (blue=free chamber
space, black=pressure, green, light green, orange=temperature inside the
handpieces) the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization range of $134-137^\circ C$
x1 CI fails/x5 CI passes 145
Figure 5-13 Magnified graph of the plateau period 1 min (blue=free chamber
space, black=pressure, green, light green, dark green=temperature inside
the handpieces) the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization range of 134-
137°C, x0 CI fails/x6 CI passes145
Figure 5-14 Magnified graph of the plateau period 2 min (blue=free chamber
space, black=pressure, green, light green=temperature inside the
handpieces) the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization range of 134-
137°C, x0 CI fails/x6 CI passes146
Figure 5-15 Magnified graph of the plateau period 3 min (blue=free chamber
space, black=pressure, green, light green, dark green=temperature inside
the handpieces) the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization range of 134-
137°C, x0 CI fails/x6 CI passes146
Figure 5-16 Summary of TST CI in shortened plateau period experiments 148
Figure 6-1 "Standard test tray" with 3x dental air turbine TA-98 C LED (W&H,
Austria), 3x straight surgical handpiece S11 (W&H, Austria), 3x slow speed
motor WA-56 (W&H, Austria), 1x helix PCD (Browne), 2x temperature data
logger inside dental air turbine (TA-98 C LED (W&H, Austria), 1x
temperature data logger "free space" and 1x pressure data logger (all data
loggers ellab)
Figure 6-2 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 1 (A full cycle, B
magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in
chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2
(6/6 thermometric fails)166
Figure 6-3 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 2 (A full cycle, B
magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in
chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2
(6/6 thermometric fails) 168
Figure 6-4 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 3 (A full cycle, B

	chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2
	(6/6 thermometric fails) 170
Fi	gure 6-5 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 3 (magnification of holding
	time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green=
	dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2, which never reaches
	sterilization temperature
Fi	gure 6-6 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 4 (A full cycle, B
	magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in
	chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2
	(0/4 thermometric fails)
Fi	gure 6-7 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 5 (A full cycle, B
	magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in
	chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2
	(6/6 thermometric fails) 175
Fi	gure 6-8 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 6 (A full cycle, B
	magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in
	chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2
	$(///$ the sum equation for (e^{-1})
	(6/6 thermometric fails) 177
Fi	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B
Fi	
Fi	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B
Fi	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in
	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2
	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (1/6 thermometric fails)
	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (1/6 thermometric fails)
	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (1/6 thermometric fails)
Fi	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (1/6 thermometric fails)
Fi	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (1/6 thermometric fails)
Fi	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (1/6 thermometric fails)
Fi	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (1/6 thermometric fails)
Fi	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (1/6 thermometric fails)
Fi	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (1/6 thermometric fails)
Fi Fi	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (1/6 thermometric fails)
Fi Fi	gure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (1/6 thermometric fails)

Figure 7-2 Nine used handpieces from the GDH clinics (3 surgical handpieces
(S11, W&H Austria), 3 slow speed motors (WA-56, W&H, Austria) and 3 high
speed turbines (x2 synea, W&H, x1 NSK))200
Figure 7-3 Spore strips from dental handpieces with and without cleaning in 2 ml
TSB in 24 well plate (Costar) 201
Figure 7-4 Image a shows dental air turbine (TA-98 C LED, W&H, Austria)
contaminated with Edinburgh test soil; image B shows the dental air
turbines after processing through Prototype X
Figure 7-5 Dental air turbines after Prototype X process
Figure 7-6 Open turbine head after Prototype X process
Figure 7-7 G-Box 3D image of protein on dental air turbine contaminated with
Austrian test soil before Prototype X process
Figure 7-8 G-Box 3D image of protein contamination on dental air turbine after
Prototype X process
Figure 7-9 G-Box 3D image of protein contamination on dental air turbine wheel
after Prototype X process 208
after Prototype X process
Figure 7-10 Moist swab after wiping the pipe between chamber and waste tray
Figure 7-10 Moist swab after wiping the pipe between chamber and waste tray
Figure 7-10 Moist swab after wiping the pipe between chamber and waste tray 209 Figure 7-11 Visual assessment of residual test soil (Edinburgh test soil) after AWD
Figure 7-10 Moist swab after wiping the pipe between chamber and waste tray 209 Figure 7-11 Visual assessment of residual test soil (Edinburgh test soil) after AWD
Figure 7-10 Moist swab after wiping the pipe between chamber and waste tray 209 Figure 7-11 Visual assessment of residual test soil (Edinburgh test soil) after AWD 211 Figure 7-12 Residual protein on high-speed turbine after AWD, assessed using G-
Figure 7-10 Moist swab after wiping the pipe between chamber and waste tray 209 Figure 7-11 Visual assessment of residual test soil (Edinburgh test soil) after AWD 211 Figure 7-12 Residual protein on high-speed turbine after AWD, assessed using G- box
 Figure 7-10 Moist swab after wiping the pipe between chamber and waste tray 209 Figure 7-11 Visual assessment of residual test soil (Edinburgh test soil) after AWD 211 Figure 7-12 Residual protein on high-speed turbine after AWD, assessed using G-box 212 Figure 7-13 Dental high-speed turbine (W&H) after use; A shows 2D image of G-
 Figure 7-10 Moist swab after wiping the pipe between chamber and waste tray 209 Figure 7-11 Visual assessment of residual test soil (Edinburgh test soil) after AWD 211 Figure 7-12 Residual protein on high-speed turbine after AWD, assessed using G-box 212 Figure 7-13 Dental high-speed turbine (W&H) after use; A shows 2D image of G-BOX; B shows 3D image of G-BOX
 Figure 7-10 Moist swab after wiping the pipe between chamber and waste tray 209 Figure 7-11 Visual assessment of residual test soil (Edinburgh test soil) after AWD 211 Figure 7-12 Residual protein on high-speed turbine after AWD, assessed using G-box 212 Figure 7-13 Dental high-speed turbine (W&H) after use; A shows 2D image of G-BOX; B shows 3D image of G-BOX 218 Figure 7-14 Dental high-speed turbine (W&H) after Prototype X; A shows 2D

Acknowledgements

I owe my deepest gratitude to my supervisors Professor Andrew Smith and Dr. David Lappin for their indefinite patience and support in developing my career and scientific skills and Dr. Brian Kirk of 3M for his infinite technical knowledge and giving me the opportunity to travel to Germany and the US for internships in industry.

Special thanks go to Stefan Wimmer, Sonia Tracy and Charles Meadows of W&H for providing equipment to perform this project and their constant help.

It gives me pleasure to acknowledge Geoff Shaw of Ellab for providing equipment, which made completing this project a lot easier and for his efforts whenever technological problems. I also acknowledge Dolby Medical, Prestige Medical and Midmark for providing equipment for this project.

I would also like to thank the GDH level 9 academic staff including Prof. Jeremy Bagg, Prof. Gordon Ramage, Dr. Chris Nile, Dr. Marcello Riggio, Dr. Shauna Culshaw and my fellow students who always gave me a helping hand and advice if needed. I am grateful for the support of GDH DCDU staff including Jacqui McCormick and Mustapha Marah for their help with my project and useful discussions in our Decontamination Journal Club.

I am very blessed with my colleague George McDonagh for his inexhaustible help with the sterilizers and his ability to always cheer me up and make me laugh. I'd like to thank George's wife Jacqueline as well for her emotional support, I will treasure their friendship forever.

I'm indebted to my friends Conny Reiser, Mairi Young, Faith Hodgins and Mitana Purkayastha who were always there for me and always encouraged me, even in hard times. I will never forget that and hope to live up to their friendship.

Finally, and most importantly, I want to thank my beloved parents Robert and Inge Winter, who mean the world to me, for their eternal faith and unconditional love. I want to thank them for always supporting me throughout my life and for looking out for me and giving me strength. I couldn't have done this without them and will remember this every day.

Author's declaration

I declare that, except where explicit reference is made, that this thesis is the result of my own work and has not been submitted partly or in whole for any other degree at the University of Glasgow or any other institution.

Signature:....

Printed name:....

Abbreviations

The following abbreviations are used throughout this thesis:

μ g	microgram
μΜ	micromolar
μL	microliter
ACTC	American type culture collection
AWD	automated washer disinfector
BA	blood agar
BBV	blood borne virus
BDA	British Dental Association
BDT	Bowie & Dick test
BfArM	Bundesamt für Arzneimittel und Medizinprodukte
BIER	Biological Indicator Evaluator Resistometer
BS	British Standard
BSA	bovine serum albumin
bsi	British standards institution
CaCl ₂	Centers for Disease Control
CDU	central decontamination unit
CEN	European Committee for Standardization

CFU	colony forming units	
CIER	Chemical Indicator Evaluator Resistometer	
cm	centimeter	
DCDU	dental central decontamination unit	
Dhp	dental handpiece	
EN	European Norm	
FU	fluorescent units	
g	gram	
GDH	Glasgow Dental Hospital & School	
GDP	general dental practice	
h	hours	
H ₂ O	water	
HBV	hepatitis B	
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus	
НТМ	Health Technical Memorandum	
ISO	International Organization for Standardization	
kg	kilogram	
LDU	local decontamination unit	
Μ	molar	

MDD	Medical Devices Directive	
MFU	mean fluorescent units	
mg	milligram	
min	minutes	
ml	millilitre	
mm	millimeter	
NCG	non-condensable gasses	
NCTC	National Collection of Type Cultures	
nm	nanometer	
OD	optical density	
OPA	o-phthaldialedhyde	
Ρ	pressure	
PCD	process challenge device	
PBS	phosphate buffered saline	
RKI	Robert Koch-Institut	
RFU	relative fluorescent units	
rpm	revolutions per minures	
SD	stainless steel disc	
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate	

sec	seconds	
SHTM	Scottish Health Technical Memorandum	
SSD	sterile service department	
t	time	
temp	temperature	
type B	vacuum sterilization	
type N	non-vacuum sterilization	
type S	special sterilization	
UK	United Kingdom	
W	Watt	

Terms and definitions

Exposure time	time (min) of the load exposed to sterilization temperature		
Heat-up time	time (min) in a sterilization process required to reach sterilization temperature		
Holding time	time (min) of the load exposed to sterilization temperature		
Plateau time	time (min) of the load exposed to sterilization temperature		
Sterilization conditions	successful outcome of a sterilization process		
Sterilization cycle	total time (min) of the sterilizer required to complete sterilization		
Sterilization process	series of actions during a sterilization cycle		
Sterilization temperature	134 - 137°C		

Chapter 1 – Introduction

1.1 Aim

Dental handpieces are used for a variety of tasks, such as polishing teeth, drilling teeth, bone, and dental implants. Dental handpieces can become contaminated internally and externally with saliva and blood that contain a wide variety of microorganisms. In a study by Lewis et al., where a dye solution was used to simulate patient material, which following use of the handpiece was seen to spread throughout the instrument (Lewis and Boe, 1992). If microorganisms are spread in a similar way this presents a risk for transmission of infection in the dental work place. Therefore the cleaning, disinfection and sterilization of contaminated dental handpiece after every use are essential steps in reducing the risk of cross infection from blood borne viruses (Redd et al., 2007, Lewis et al., 1992, Radcliffe et al., 2013). Dental handpiece have multiple internal components, such as turbines, drive shafts and lumens, which constitute the air channels for driving the turbine and spray channels, which utilize water as a coolant. On the surface of dental handpiece there are grooves for gripping the device while handling, where the cleaning is more difficult than on plain surfaces (Cole et al., 1988, Weightman and Lines, 2004). Cleaning of such devices is difficult to validate because a wide range of factors must be considered that affect the efficacy of chemical disinfectants. These factors include the range and degree of bactericidal activity, as well as variations in pH and concentration of the reactive agent (15883-1:2009+A1:2014, BS EN ISO). The sterilization step is usually performed using steam sterilization (Smith et al., 2009b, 13060:2014, BS EN). However, steam sterilization can adversely affect material that is not thermo-stable, such as plastics or electrical components (13060:2014, BS EN). Many workers have described microbial contamination of dental turbines after use, both prior to sterilization and after sterilization (Andersen et al., 1999, Larsen et al., 1997).

The aim of this study is to investigate the critical factors influencing sterilization of dental handpieces, the effect of pre-sterilization cleaning and different air removal processes to allow steam penetration and factors influencing bacterial survival within the handpiece by means of reviewing the mechanism and kinetics of microbiocidal action during steam sterilization processes, using thermometric,

chemical and biological monitoring methods to identify, evaluate and verify the influencing factors.

1.2 Literature search and evaluation

For the introduction (chapter 1) a selection of books was used (Bacteriology, 1994, Block, 1991, Joan F. Gardner, 1991, Perkins, 1983, Russell, 1982, Russell, 2004, Sandle, 2013) and for section 1.5 and chapters 2-7 a keyword based literature search was conducted on NCBI Pubmed, Ovid MEDLINE, Web of Science and mhp Central Services, which is a journal focusing on decontamination of medical devices (Table 1-1). Central Services journal was additionally subscribed for and each edition was reviewed for relevant articles. Abstracts of search results after keyword search were reviewed and selected or rejected according to relevance for the study and discussed in meetings held twice each month to avoid bias die to selective inclusion (Page et al., 2014). Additionally, references found in books and selected publications were reviewed and relevant publications were obtained on either online or the Glasgow University Library. Decontamination specific standards, European Pharmacopoeia, Medical Devices Directive and guidelines, as well as relevant theses were obtained from the Glasgow University Library or provided by W&H, Austria. Literature written in languages other than English and German was not included.

The books used for the introduction provided a profound and extensive knowledge on the subject and background. References stated in the books, which were considered relevant and obtained dated back to the early 1900. Scientific work found using online keyword search and reference search on relevant publications, books and theses showed consistency across studies in terms of results, presentation and interpretation of data. Although, no published study showed high numbers, replicates and mixed methods compared to the present work, little variation in outcome of presented work was found.

Table 1-1 Keywords used for online literature search online and mhp Central Services				
Chapter	Characterization	Keywords used in various		
number	Chapter name	combinations for online		
		literature search		
1 (section 1.5)	Introduction	Dental, decontamination, contamination, sterilization, bacterial contamination, viral contamination, dental unit water lines, handpieces, contra-angles, medical devices, bioburden, infection risk, cross infection		
2	Materials & method Validation	Phtaldialdehyde, OPA, Proreveal, culturing bacteria, protein recovery, protein fluorescence methods, artificial saliva, composition saliva		
3	Influence of different humidity levels on the sensitivity of chemical and biological indicators for steam sterilization	Chemical indicators, biological indicators, steam sterilization, humidity, dental, handpieces, process challenge device, helix, spores, carrier		
4	Investigating steam penetration into dental handpieces using Benchtop sterilization processes in-vitro	Steam penetration, steam sterilization, dental handpieces, contra angles, lumen sterilization, hollow medical devices, sterility assurance level, d value, z value		
5	Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditions	Steam penetration, steam sterilization, dental handpieces, lumen sterilization, hollow medical devices, material, diameter, stainless steel, PTFE, handpiece lubrication, oil, spores, <i>Geobacillus</i> , sterility assurance level, d value, z value, F0 value		

Tabl ч ғ 446

6	In-vivo study investigating steam sterilization in general dental practice	Dental practice, decontamination, sterilization, steam, handpieces, benchtop sterilizer, survey, maintenance, bioburden, infection risk, cross infection, sterility assurance level, d value, z value, F0 value, integrated lethality
7	Investigating the effect of cleaning on handpiece sterilization	Cleaning, dental, handpiece, disinfection, sterilization, lubrication devices, bioburden, automated washer disinfector

1.3 Principles of thermal inactivation of microbes

Death of a microbial population, like growth, is exponential, or linear when plotted on a logarithmic scale. Inactivation of resistant strains takes longer due to a higher decimal reduction time (D value). The D value is a quantitative expression of the death rate and describes the time (min) required for a bacterial population to be reduced by a factor 10 or 1 log. The z value describes the change in temperature required to increase or decrease the D value by a factor of 10. The F value is used to calculate the integrated lethality of a process needed to kill a population of microorganisms, e.g. 121.1°C, in which case the F value is called F_0 and is the standard method to calculate integrated lethality in steam sterilization. The main areas of application of this theorem are the food industry, the drug industry and the sterilization of medical devices (Block, 1991, Joan F. Gardner, 1991, 17665-1:2006, BS EN ISO).

The equation used to calculate integrated lethality (F_0) is

 $F_0=t (10^{((T-121.1)/z)}),$

where t is the time interval of points of measurement; T is the temperature at the point of measurement; z is the z-value, assumed to be 10.

Further calculation of log reduction of the microbial population is performed by F_0/D_{121} (Pharmacopoeia, 2014).

The efficacy of an antimicrobial agent is influenced by several factors, such as population size, population composition (endospores, resistant strains, etc.), concentration of an antimicrobial agent, duration of exposure, temperature and local environment (pH, biofilms, etc.)(Block, 1991, Joanne Willey, 2007).

Gram-positive bacteria are more susceptible to antimicrobial treatment than Gram-negatives and spores have a higher heat resistance. There is a difference between viruses, fungi and mycobacteria, due to the variation in the complex cell physiology of these different microorganisms, which is unequal in terms of sensitivity to biocides. However, it is not only the variety of microorganisms that

has an impact on efficacy of biocides, environmental conditions also influence the kinetic process in inactivating microorganisms. One of the most important factors is the concentration of biocide. It is described as the concentration exponent η and is a measure of the effect of changes in concentration of biocide. Although it is easier for a biocide to be lethal when there are few microorganisms present.

Temperature is an influencing factor as well. Boiling and fire have been used for sterilization since the time of the Greeks (Russell, 1982). Environmental pH can have impact on the activity of the biocide in a variety of ways. For example, some substances, such as phenol, benzoic acid, sorbic acid and dehydroacetic acid are effective in an un-ionized stage. Glutaraldehyde is more stable at acid pH, but more effective at alkaline pH. Organic matter, such as serum, blood, food residues etc. can affect the efficacy of the biocide, because the biocide can interact with the organic matter such that less biocide will be left to inactivate microorganisms (Block, 1991, Russell, 2004). According to the Arrhenius equation, inactivation rates increase with increasing temperature. However, the dry heat destruction rate of microbial spores is a function of water content in the cell and the heating time, as it also is in steam. In a range between 100° and 135°C spores of intermediate moisture content are more resistant to the effects of heat (larger D values) than spores with greater or lesser moisture content. Relative humidity is a parameter that has a profound influence on the activity of gaseous disinfectants and steam. Moist heat kills viruses, bacteria and fungi by degrading nucleic acids, disrupting the cell membranes and denaturing enzymes and other essential proteins. Therefore the water content of microbial cells and their surrounding influences the development of heat resistance. Spores of G. stearothermophilus are extremely heat resistant. Even under moist heat conditions, their heat resistance is 50,000 times higher than the resistance of certain other spores (e.g. C. botulinum). Therefore moist heat sterilization must be carried out above 100°C. Moist heat is a specific condition where saturated steam/dry steam is used (dryness value of 1.0) (Russell, 2004).

7

1.3.1 Theories and models of microbial death by heat

Heat stress leads to microbial death by affecting the ability of the organisms to reproduce, either by the direct effect on the reproductive mechanisms or by disrupting cellular metabolic systems. An understanding of the mechanisms of microbial death has been derived from two areas of research: (1) research focusing on the molecular level of thermal destruction and (2) research looking at the death of microbial populations and different species under heat stress and different conditions. To develop an assay for microbial destruction a suspension of microorganisms is needed. The suspension can either be heterogeneous or homogenous. Heterogeneous samples contain a variety of different species that vary in their resistance to heat. A survival curve of such mixtures is generally semi logarithmic and shows the quantity of organisms with a lower resistance to heat as well as those with higher resistance. A homogeneous suspension contains a population of a single microbial species. To achieve a reliable result the lethal stress must be uniform, the recovery medium must be optimal for growth and additional environmental factors must be excluded. The data can be treated analytically to give information about the resistance to thermal stress and the rate-of-kill. For determining the effect of heat stress on a homogenous microbial population, aliquots of the suspension are exposed to heat for different periods of time. The number of surviving organisms for each heating time can be plotted as a function of the heating period. There are different ways to plot such data. When both, number of surviving organisms and heating period are plotted on an arithmetic scale, the result is an exponential decay curve, where the number of survivors approaches zero with increasing exposure to heat. However, the number of survivors never reaches zero. This is vital because it states sterility cannot be attained if this theoretical model is assumed. Therefore, a sterility assurance level (SAL) has been introduced. If the number of survivors is plotted on a logarithmic scale and the heating period on an arithmetic scale, the result is a linear decay curve (Bacteriology, 1994).

However, it is difficult to determine the assay parameters mentioned above due to the sensitivity of microorganisms, especially bacterial spores, which are used as a reference microorganism in biological indicators (BI) according to the standards (11138-1:2006, BS EN ISO) to heat as well as other factors, e.g., growth media, pH, incubation temperature, water content of spores, strain

differences, presence of lipids (Bacteriology, 1994, Brown and Gaze, 1988, Senhaji, 1977) (Smith et al., 1982, Guizelini et al., 2012, Kim and Naylor, 1966). Determination of spore resistance to steam is performed in absence of air, due to the fact that this is the most potent form of steam for killing spores. In practice, this is not always true, since steam-air mixtures decrease the germkilling power severely. Large amounts of residual air in steam prolonged the heat-up time of the sterilization process without necessarily reducing the temperature (Scruton, 1989). Rubner found that steam at 100°C with 0% air killed spores within 3 min, however for killing spores effectively in steam -air mixtures more time was required under the following conditions:

91.6% steam + 8.4% air3 minutes

80.0% steam + 20.0% air ...10 minutes

63.0% steam + 37% air30 minutes

Muntsch performed a study adding air to an autoclave. The test material utilized was soil with native spores. Overall it is shown that an increased volume of air results in not only more spores surviving, but quicker recovery after exposure (Konrich, 1938).

1.4 Sterilization by heat

1.4.1 History of sterilization

Many well-known scientists discovered the basics of infection, contamination and decontamination. Even centuries ago people heated, dried, smoked or salted food to preserve it without knowing the basis of infection, contamination and decontamination. Scientific studies from the 15th and 16th century describe ideas about disease transmission from one person to another (Girilamo Francastro). He thought that contagion was caused by either direct contact, by fomites, or through the air. The use of chemicals for disinfection was first reported in 1676 and the Dutch merchant Anton van Leeuwenhoek, who also manufactured microscopes, was the first person to describe bacteria. He called them "little animals", which could be killed by vinegar, salt, sugar, wine and other chemical compositions. In 1750, John Pringle found that eggs spoil faster when inoculated with a small amount of already spoiled egg. Harrington and Walker found ethanol solution to be effective against bacteria, but was not able to kill bacterial spores in 1903 (Block, 1991).

Sterilization by heat has its roots in ancient times (Russell, 1982). Fire was used to destroy clothes and corpses of diseased people. The Italian physiologist, Lazzaro Spallanzani, discovered in 1776 that some microorganisms were more heat resistant than others. So he suggested boiling liquids for 1 hour to kill them. This procedure was modified to boiling for 15 minutes and sealing the bottles afterwards, which was applied for preserving food in 1810 by Appert. In 1878, Joseph Lister recommended heating glassware to a temperature of 150°C for two hours to prevent contamination and three years later, Robert Koch reported the use of hot air and steam as sterilizing agents. At the same time, Pasteur discovered the sterilizing effectiveness of superheated steam. According to the findings of Pasteur and Papin, autoclaves for laboratory use were developed. They were named Chamberland's autoclaves (Block, 1991).
1.4.2 Defining instrument sterility

For a device to be labelled sterile it must go through a validated process. A medical device is sterile, if the theoretical probability of there being a viable microorganism present on or in the device is equal or less than 10^{-6} , i.e., less than < 1 in 10^{6} (556-1:2001, BS EN).

In order to achieve sterilization of a medical device it is important that several key parameters are fulfilled and validated. These parameters are temperature, cycle time and presence of moisture. Pressure and air removal are required to deliver steam to all parts of the load. If one of these parameters fails to work according to these requirements, the process cannot be claimed to be successful. Other factors influencing the choice of sterilization include the physical state of the medical device and the thermal and chemical stability of device materials (13060:2014, BS EN).

What the term "sterile" really means is the absence of all microorganisms. However, as described in section 1.2, the number of surviving microorganisms cannot be zero, in terms of sterilization of medical devices, the term "sterile" describes the probability that a microorganism has survived on a sterilized product and is expressed as the sterility assurance level (SAL) and is required to be 10^{-6} , i.e. a 12 log reduction of the initial population of microorganisms (Allison, 1999, 11138-1:2006, BS EN ISO). For terminal sterilization, the European Pharmacopoeia states that sterilization by saturated steam is the preferred method and has to achieve a SAL of 10^{-6} or better. The SAL can be calculated using the F₀ concept, as described in section 1.2 (Pharmacopoeia, 2014).

1.4.3 Steam sterilization

As described by Perkins (1983), a sterilization process consists of three main phases, the heat-up time, where all surfaces of the load are brought up to sterilization temperature. The heat up time after which the chamber has reached the required temperature is followed by the holding time, which is the time selected for the chamber to hold the sterilization temperature, followed by condensation and drying. In the case of vacuum sterilization, these phases follow active air removal, i.e. vacuum pulses (Perkins, 1983).

The three main steam sterilization processes are: non-vacuum processes for unwrapped solid instruments, vacuum processes for porous and hollow loads and processes especially designed for one particular type of medical device, such as the DAC for dental handpiece sterilization (Sirona) (17665-1:2006, BS EN ISO).

1.4.3.1 Background and historical aspects

This project focused on steam sterilization processes to demonstrate that air removal is important for sterilization to be achieved. Saturated steam can reach outer surfaces and accessible cavities, condensation causes release of energy (latent heat) on the surfaces and provides the biocidal action, therefore, the removal of air from the sterilizer chamber and sterilizer load is important to facilitate steam penetration (Perkins, 1983, Bowie et al., 1963).

The most common sterilization method in hospitals and dental practices is steam sterilization, saturated water vapour, at 134°C is added to or produced in the chamber of the sterilizer. A sterilizer must not be overloaded, in order to provide uniform steam distribution throughout the load (Bartels, 1931). Different methods of air removal are in use, depending on the type of sterilizer. The non-vacuum cycle is the simplest type; air is removed passively by gravity displacement or by the steam pushing the air out through a valve, and is used for un-wrapped solid items (556-1:2001, BS EN). A vacuum cycle removes air actively by using a vacuum pump. It is used for wrapped and non-wrapped solid items, hollow items and porous loads and has therefore the widest application range. A drying stage is included after the sterilization phase, which extends the total cycle time (556-1:2001, BS EN). A vacuum sterilizer is highly recommended

for sterilizing dental handpiece by manufacturers of dental handpiece (such as W&H) as well as manufacturers of sterilizers (W&H, Eschmann, Newmed, Prestige). Type-S-sterilizers, in which sterilization is carried out by steam at increased pressure, remove air in an active way also, but are only suitable for certain types of loads as specified by the sterilizer manufacturer, e.g., DAC (Sirona). This method can only be performed, if the load is thermo stable. This type of sterilization may damage materials such as plastics or electronics. Detailed technical descriptions of the design, construction and controls of modern steam sterilizers are contained in official standard regulations. Moist heat sterilization is defined by time, temperature and presence of moisture required to inactivate Geobacillus stearothermophilus (556-1:2001, BS EN). Saturated steam is delivered by pressure and air removal (17665-1:2006, BS EN ISO). If Geobacillus stearothermophilus can be successfully inactivated and a SAL of 10^{-6} is achieved, it is assumed, that all other microorganisms will be inactivated as well. For efficient sterilization the recommended parameters are 3 minutes at 134-137°C and 206 kPa pressure (Perkins, 1983, Walbum, 1931, MRC, 1959, 13060:2014, BS EN).

1.4.3.2 Producing steam

Sterilization by moist heat depends on the use of saturated steam above 100° C (121 - 134°C), which is only possible at an increased pressure level, so that the boiling point rises. While the time required for sterilization at 121°C is 15 min, at 134°C 3 min is the time required, where F₀ values are 15 and 40, respectively (Perkins, 1983). Saturated steam is water vapour, free of other gases (e.g., air), that is in equilibrium with water in liquid phase and the dryness of steam has a max value of 1.0. The microbiological efficiency of saturated steam is considered less potent in terms of microbial inactivation, due to the fact that swelling of protein of the microbes followed by coagulation, is what kills microbes exposed to steam. Superheated steam has greater energy than dry saturated steam. Therefore, it delivers a large amount of latent heat energy to the surface first. Once this is done, the steam condenses, releasing latent heat of evaporation, rather than condensation, which happens in

dry, saturated steam. Therefore, the load takes longer to heat up when exposed to superheated steam (Konrich, 1938).

Impurities in the steam, like non-condensable gasses (NCG) or air can cause air pockets in the load and can therefore result in a non-sterile load. It has been suggested that the percentage of NCG should not exceed 3.5% in order to ensure sterilization (Scruton, 1989, Spicher et al., 1999, 13060:2014, BS EN). Steam is either produced in an external steam generator, followed by steam injection into the sterilizer chamber or is generated in the sterilizer chamber (285:2006+A2:2009, BS EN, 13060:2014, BS EN). The chamber of a sterilizer is made of metal, mostly stainless steel, constructed to withstand the maximum pressure that is required to raise the temperature of steam to the level required for sterilization (Konrich, 1938).

1.4.3.3 Large steam sterilizers

Large sterilizers are commonly used in hospitals. The standards give requirements in terms of sterilization temperature and time, which are 121°C, 126°C, 134°C +3°C for 15, 10 and 3 min, respectively. The NCG percentage must not exceed 3.5% and water for steam generation should be of "potable" quality. Large sterilizers are required to pass a Bowie Dick test and an air detector function test (if an air detector is fitted) weekly (285:2006+A2:2009, BS EN). Large sterilizers have to undergo daily, weekly, and annual testing (SHTM, 2010).

1.4.3.4 Small steam sterilizers

A small steam sterilizer (benchtop) is built according to the standard BS EN13060, 2014 and is mainly used in dental practices. They have a chamber not exceeding 60 liters. The maximum load depends on the manufacturers' instructions. Parameters to consider are temperature, time and NCG and are the same as for large sterilizers (see section 1.3.3.3) (13060:2014, BS EN). In case of a vacuum model, a daily porous load (Bowie Dick) or hollow load (helix) test has to be passed and daily, weekly, quarterly and annual tests are required to be performed with success (SHTM, 2010).

1.4.3.5 Steam sterilization of lumens

Especially air driven high-speed turbines are prone to become contaminated internally, due to suction of saliva and patient material in the head of the handpiece when the turbine stops. Researchers found internal contamination throughout the air channels. In case of unsuccessful sterilization, this might pose a risk of cross infection (Checchi et al., 1998, Ojajarvi, 1996). Perkins (1956) established safe minimum standards for steam sterilization of 134°C for 2 minutes for non-vacuum and 1 min for vacuum processes, based on studies using garden soil containing heat resistant spores and bacteria, performed by Walbum (1931) and by Ecker (1937). Perkins (1956) referring to the earlier studies clearly stated that the exposure time for "needles, hollow, individually packed in glass tubes and moist lumens" should be 15 min in non-vacuum and 4 min in vacuum processes (Walbum, 1931, Ecker, 1937). The first Medical Research council (MRC) report (1959) added a one-minute safety margin to the 2 minutes established by Perkins (1956), in case the steam quality was not perfect for non-vacuum processes. Moreover, it is published that the exposure time for lumens in steam sterilizers consists of the time steam reached all surfaces and heats up to 134°C, the holding time (3 min) and the safety period (half the holding time for nonvacuum) (MRC, 1959). It is well known from the literature that steam penetration into lumens gets more and more difficult with decreasing diameter. A critical diameter to assure air displacement by gravity was found to be 0.4 cm. Using active air removal however, Kaiser et al., and de Borchers et al. suggest that wider lumens are harder to penetrate (Kaiser U., 1998, Borchers, 2004). Also the length of the lumen impacts on the sterilization outcome. As van Doornmalen et al. has shown, using infrared density measurements of steam in a dead-ended stainless steel tube (l=54 cm, d=0.5mm), even in a vacuum process the density of steam at the blind end of the tube was insufficient for steam sterilization. However, increasing the number of vacuum pulses increased steam penetration into lumens (J. P. C. M. van Doornmalen, 2013). It was also shown that a lumen in steam sterilization processes, which is open at both ends, behaves exactly like a lumen half the length, which is open at one and closed on the other end (Kaiser U., 1998).

1.4.3.6 Process challenge devices

A PCD is an "item designed to constitute a defined resistance to a sterilization process and used to assess performance of the process" (11139:2006, ISO/TS). The most common process challenge devices (PCD) for sterilization are the Bowie Dick test for testing steam penetration into porous loads and the helix test, to test steam penetration into hollow loads. Both accommodate a chemical indicator, which changes colour to indicate when sterilization parameters have been achieved (867-5:2001, BS EN). Superheated steam has also been shown to have an effect on chemical indicators. Therefore, an inappropriate colour change can indicate the presence of superheated steam during the sterilization process (Everall et al., 1978).

1.5 Dental Handpieces

There are three main types of handpieces used in dentistry and oral surgery. The high-speed air turbine, which is an air driven handpiece, connected to the dental unit and is mainly used for drilling teeth, the slow-speed handpiece, used for prophylaxis, restorative, orthodontic and endodontic procedures, is driven by a motor, which is connected to the dental unit. Finally the surgical handpiece is a straight, motor-driven handpiece used for oral surgery (www.wh.com). Details and figures below are examples for the handpieces used in this project.

Dental high-speed turbine: Air driven, weight=42 g, three internal lumens (x2 spray channels D=0.9 mm, x1 drive air channel D=2.3 mm), total length 115 mm, speed=360,000 revolutions per minute (rpm) (Figure 1-1).



Figure 1-1 Example for dental high-speed turbine (TA-98 C LED, W&H, Austria)

Dental slow-speed motor: Motor driven, weight=66.5 g, two internal lumens (x2 spray channels D=0.9 mm), total length 95 mm, speed=40,000 rpm (Figure 1-2).



Figure 1-2 Example for slow-speed motor (WA-56, W&H, Austria)

Surgical handpiece: Motor driven, weight=101 g, one external lumen (spray channel D=0.9 mm), total length 115 mm, speed=50,000 rpm, dismantlable (Figure 1-2).



Figure 1-3 Example for surgical handpiece (S11, W&H, Austria)

1.5.1 History of dental handpieces

The history of dental handpieces has been mentioned in several publications describing the history of their development. The first reported rotating engines for dental use were Harrington's clockwork drill and Soper's 'spring motor' in 1864 and 1866, respectively. However, the first water powered rotating engine for one-handed use in dentistry was produced by the S.S. White Company in 1881. Its maximum speed reached 700 rpm, as published in 1944. The problem of heat generation during rotary cutting has long been recognized according to Henschel inn (1946). A handpiece fitted with a system for cooling the cutting instrument by water was in commercial production by 1874. In 1941 John W. Iseman designed a turbine handpiece, supplied with compressed air that was claimed to rotate at 25,000 rpm. Only 8 years later, in 1949 E.J. Steward and his team realized the concept of Sir John Walsh's (American Dental Association) to produce a contra-angled turbine rotor handpiece, driven by compressed air, which achieved a free running speed of 60.000 rpm. The turbine rotor was placed in the turbine head. The successful use of this handpiece was reported in Walsh's Doctoral thesis, submitted in 1950 (University of Melbourne). The device was patented as 'the original dental contra-angle turbine handpiece' in January 1964. Three years later in 1953 Dr Robert Nelson, Pelander and Mr John Kumpula (National Bureau of Standards, Washington) reported and described the construction of a hydraulic turbine contra-angled handpiece with a small turbine rotor in the turbine head, which was driven by water. The water was delivered to the rotor via a flexible tube, which was itself driven by a pump. This experimental device achieved a speed of 60,000 to 70,000 rpm, when free running. The first commercial dental instrument based on the turbine principle was the 'Turbojet', which was fluid driven and reached approximately 75,000 rpm, while free running. Walsh surpassed this speed with his air turbine and it was used for cavity preparation on humans. In the year 1956, the Chayes handpiece was introduced and one year later the Borden handpiece. In 1960 a cord driven handpiece by Borden was introduced; the Borden Airotor. The development of the 'Alston Mini-Head' was reported in 1959. Its head had a diameter of 8.7 mm, a length of 9.7 mm and was cord driven, but it was not in commercial use until 1972. It was named 'Super-Torque'.

19

Over the decades two main types of air turbine handpieces were introduced; air bearing turbine handpieces and ball bearing turbine handpieces. Air bearing handpieces reach a higher speed, lower torque (tends to produce rotation), to reduce vibration, and need a higher air pressure to be driven. The principle and design were described first by Morrant, Powell and Hargreaves in 1962. These are up until now the basis for all modern air turbine handpieces. However, the ball bearing air turbine handpieces experienced significant development in 1991. Star Dental introduced the LubeFree handpiece, which makes use of ceramic bearings. In the 1980s, the first turbine handpieces with push-button chucks built according to the dimensions of the ISO International Standard were introduced, although this mechanism was first conceived in 1933 (W&H). Dental fibre optics has been in use since the early 1970s. The first illumination units were independent, attachable to mouth mirrors, oral evacuator and other dental instruments. The most significant developments in the history of dental handpieces are summarized in a timetable (Table 1) (Dyson and Darvell, 1993a, Dyson and Darvell, 1993c, Dyson and Darvell, 1993b, Stephens, 1987)

Year	Invention	Inventor/manufactu
		rer
1864	Clockwork drill	Harrington
1866	Spring motor	Soper
1881	First water driven rotating engine for one-handed used in dentistry	S.S. White Company
1874	Handpiece fitted with a system for cooling the cutting instrument in commercial production	Not specified
1941	Turbine handpiece, supplied with compressed air, 25,000 rpm rotation speed	John W. Iseman
1949	contraangled turbine rotor handpiece, driven by compressed air, free running speed of 60.000 rpm \rightarrow patent in 1964	E.J. Steward
1953	Hydraulic turbine contra-angled handpiece with a small turbine rotor in the turbine head, driven by water, 60,000 to 70.000 rpm running speed	Dr Robert Nelson, Pelander and Mr John Kumpula
1956	Cord driven handpiece	Chayes
1957	Cord driven handpiece	Borden
1959	'Alston Mini-Head'. Head diameter of 8.7 mm, length of 9.7 mm and cord driven, in commercial use in 1972, named 'Super-Torque'.	Alston
1960	Cord driven handpiece 'Airotor'	Borden
1933	First turbine handpieces with push-button chucks \rightarrow commercially produced since the 1980s.	W&H
1991	Lubrication free handpiece, use of ceramic bearings	Star Dental

Table 1-2 Summary of milestones in the development of dental handpieces

1.5.1.1 History of dental handpiece sterilization

Until the beginning of the 20th century, where the first sterilization methods were used, dental equipment was only cleaned, presumably. One of the earliest reports in sterilizing dental equipment appeared in 1902. Hot air at 200°C was used to sterilize dental equipment. Six years later, dental equipment was sterilized by heating in mineral machine oil to 120-150°C. In 1913 sterilization was performed by removal of the sleeve and by boiling in water. Two years later 0.25% NaOH was added to the hot water (80°C). The water was then removed by alcohol. Another two years later, the application of absolute alcohol with a cotton swab was the favored method, while in 1918 an additional autoclaving step was added. Wiping with a cloth (wet with alcohol) before the use of a dilute phenol solution or boiling in soap solution indicated a differentiation in cleaning and sterilization for the first time. Also immersing in 10% Lysol (disinfectant household cleaner) for 15 min was a common procedure. Boiling in 1% sodium bicarbonate before placing in a test tube with 95% alcohol was a procedure that occurred in 1919. In 1924, dental equipment was completely immersed in mineral oil at 185°C for 5 min and the oil was wiped off with sterile towel (Appleton, 1924). Since the 1950s, vacuum and non-vacuum steam sterilization are considered the most common procedure to sterilize medical devices, including handpieces (Perkins, 1983).

1.6 Background evidence for contamination of handpieces

The problem of dental handpieces becoming contaminated and that they are challenging to decontaminate has been well known since the 1970s, where Pelzner used a weight-load machine to determine contamination on six different high-speed turbines following cutting through tooth structure and after different disinfection or sterilization methods. The results show that dry cutting results in a lower amount of debris compared to wet cutting and that wiping with alcohol does not remove all of the debris and can therefore not be used as a single procedure to decontaminate handpieces (Pelzner et al., 1977). Especially high-speed turbines become contaminated internally, due to retraction of oral fluids when the turbine stops. Therefore, anti-retraction components were included in turbine design (Ozawa et al., 2010).

1.6.1 Bacterial contamination

There are several publications on bacterial contamination of dental handpieces. Dreyer and Hauman (2001) investigated internal contamination of high-speed turbines and found that water channels become more contaminated than air channels and found bacteria even after cleaning, disinfection and lubrication (Dreyer and Hauman, 2001). An in-vitro contamination involving *G*. *stearothermophilus* spores on slow-speed prophylaxis angles showed that the spores travelled all the way through the handpieces (Chin et al., 2006). Work performed by Herd et al. (2007) demonstrated that 75% of handpiece/prophylaxis angle systems used on patients were contaminated with bacteria (Herd et al., 2007).

1.6.2 Viral contamination

Herpes simplex in-vitro contamination of dental handpiece lumens was carried out with the result that even anti-retraction handpieces were contaminated internally and the necessity of thorough internal cleaning and disinfection was addressed (Epstein et al., 1993, Epstein et al., 1995). After invasive dental treatment on patients, Hepatitis B as well as HIV-DNA was identified on surgical devices, which addresses the risk of blood borne virus (BBV) cross infection

(Zhou et al., 2006). Hu et al. investigated the infection risk of Hepatitis B using anti-retraction turbines and discovered that such devices may reduce the risk but internal contamination is not eliminated (Hu et al., 2007).

1.6.3 Other contaminants

Dental unit waterlines pose a contamination problem as well. Viral contamination (Samaranayake, 1993) as well as a variety of bacteria were found in the water lines of the dental unit (Szymanska and Sitkowska, 2013). It was also mentioned in the literature that the use of an internally contaminated high-speed turbine can result in bacterial mixing with aerosols and contaminating surrounding equipment (Shpuntoff and Shpuntoff, 1993). A more recent study looked at protein contamination of high-speed turbines, slow-speed and surgical handpieces and found the surgical gear from inside the handpiece to be the most contaminated (Smith et al., 2014).

1.7 Legislations, Standards, Guidance

There are several legislations, standards and guidelines, which are relevant for this project.

1.7.1 The European Medical Devices Directive (MDD)

"Any medical device placed on the European market must comply with relevant legislation. Manufacturers' products meeting 'harmonized standards' have a presumption of conformity to the Directive. Products conforming to the Directive must have a CE mark applied. The core legal framework consists of three directives:

- Directive 90/385/EEC regarding active implantable medical devices (AIMD)
- Directive 93/42/EEC regarding medical devices (MDD)
- Directive 98/79/EC regarding in vitro diagnostic medical devices (IVDD)

All medical devices must fulfil the essential requirements set out in the abovementioned Directives. Where available, relevant standards may be used to demonstrate compliance with the essential requirements defined in the Directives list of harmonized standards."

(Source: www.medicaldevices.bsigroup.com)

1.7.2 Standards

A standard is a document providing requirements, specifications and procedures, such as test/validation methods for a process (e.g. sterilization), equipment (e.g. sterilizer) or accessories (e.g. packaging, PCD, etc.). Most standards are developed under a joint CEN/ISO banner with ISO usually taking the lead. This leads to parallel voting within ISO and CEN, which results in EN ISO standards. EN ISO's must be published by EU members as local standards e.g. BS EN ISO 17665. Many standards are still published by CEN which have no ISO equivalent e.g. EN 13060. If an EN is harmonized, it means it has an annex ZA, which clearly

identifies which essential requirements are met and therefore offer a presumption of conformity to the MDD (personal conversation with Brian Kirk, PhD, 3M, Loughborough, UK). National recommendations can be accepted by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) and may then be adapted as European standard (EN ISO) and following by a country (BS EN ISO) (Richard Bancroft, abhi conference for sterilization and microbiology standards, 2014).

1.7.3 Guidance

There are several guidelines for infection control in health care settings. The Robert Koch-Institute (RKI) in cooperation with the Bundesinstitut für Arzneimittel und Medizinprodukte (BfArM) gives recommendations on the level of protein residues acceptable after cleaning in dentistry (RKI, 2005). A document published by the Centers for disease control and prevention (CDC) "Guidelines for Infection Control in Dental Health-Care Settings" provides guidance on infection prevention in health care settings, such as hospitals or dental practice (CDC, 2003). Dental specific guidelines are given by the British Dental Association (BDA) and the Health Technical Memorandum (HTM) 01-05: "Decontamination in primary care dental practices" (BDA, 2013). In the Scottish Health Technical Memorandum (SHTM) 2010 part 3 recommendations for verification and validation of sterilization by means of daily, weekly, and annual testing are provided (SHTM, 2010).

These guidelines describe dental handpieces as "semi-critical" or "critical" medical devices, which have to undergo cleaning, disinfection and sterilization and go into detail regarding the level of residual protein tolerable after cleaning and periodic testing for benchtop sterilizers to be carried out in dental practices.

Chapter 2 - Materials & Method Validation

Laboratory methods and equipment used in this study comply with the relevant legislations, standards and guidelines, unless stated otherwise.

2.1 Protein

2.1.1 Standard curves

The o-phthaldialdehyde (OPA) assay is one of the recommended methods to assess efficacy of cleaning processes for medical devices (15883-1:2009+A1:2014, BS EN ISO). It is based on a chemical reaction of the OPA reagent with amino acids in proteins, in the presence of an alkaline solution and thiol compound such as mercaptoethanol (Roth, 1971). Excitation at 338 nm causes the product of the amino acid OPA reaction to fluoresce (Zhu, 2009), which is detected at an emission wavelength of 455 nm, measured in mean fluorescent units (mfu) and concentrations (μ g/ml) can be calculated from a standard curve. The OPA assay has successfully been used in previous studies to investigate residual protein on surgical instruments (Smith et al., 2005).

In order to validate the method, stocks of 0.25 g/ml of mucin (from porcine stomach, Sigma) and bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma) were prepared in sterilized RO water or 1% sodium dodecyl sulfonate (SDS). Standard concentrations of 25, 50, 100, 200, 300 and 4000 μ g/ml were prepared from these stocks.

For the preparation of the OPA reagent 40 mg Phtaldialdehyde (Sigma) were dissolved in 1 ml of methanol (Sigma) and 100 mg sodium 2mercaptoethanesulfonate were dissolved in 50 ml of 0.1 M sodium tetraborate (1.9 g sodium tetraborate (Sigma) in 50 ml sterilized RO water). The pH was adjusted to 9.2 and was checked using a pH meter (Hanna instruments).

20 µl of all standard concentrations were pipetted into wells of a 96 well solid black microtitre plates (Costar) in triplicate and 300 µl of OPA reagent were added to each occupied well. Following incubation for 3 minutes at ambient room temperature, the assays were read on a plate reader (Omega Fluostar plate reader, BMG Labtech) at an excitation wavelength of 355 nm and an emission wavelength of 460 nm (the closest filters available to the optimum

excitation and emission wavelengths). Raw data was exported to excel and standard curves were plotted in GraphPad Prism 5.01.

2.1.1.1 Bovine serum albumin (BSA)

The BSA standard curve (Fig 1) showed that the optimal range of measurement was between 1 and 100 μ g.



Figure 2-1 OPA standard curve BSA

2.1.1.2 Mucin

The mucin standard curve (Fig 2) reached a plateau at concentrations greater than 100 μ g, which suggests that measurements of the higher concentrations are likely to be inaccurate.



Figure 2-2 OPA standard curves BSA

2.1.2 O-phtaldialdehyde (OPA) method - Recovery of protein from stainless steel

In order to proceed to protein recovery from medical devices made of metal after their use on patients or artificial contamination of instruments in the laboratory, validation work was performed to determine protein recovery from stainless steel discs used as surrogates for the surgical instruments. This involved contaminating the discs with known amounts of protein and then drying at room temperature for 30 min or 60 min, see below. For this experiment, stainless steel discs were first cleaned in five steps:

- 1- Tap water rinse
- 2- Soaking in 1% Decon 90 solution for 1 h
- 3- Rinse with RO water three times
- 4- Wipe with methanol
- 5- Dry on a hot plate

After the discs had cooled down, amounts of 50, 100, 200, 300, 400, 500 µg of either BSA or mucin were both applied to six replicate sets of stainless steel discs (12 sets in total) and this was performed on three separate occasions. One half of each set was left for 30 min to dry at room temperature, while the other half was left to dry for 60 min. After the drying time, three different strategies to recover the protein were applied. Stainless steel discs from a single set with either BSA or mucin were submerged in 500 μ l of 1% SDS. The BSA or mucin on stainless steel discs of the second set was wiped off using a moist swab, by dipping a sterile swab into phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and perform 5 strokes across the stainless steel surface and submerging the swab in 500 μ l of 1% SDS. For the third set, the same strategy was used, except the PBS was left out and the swab remained dry. All samples were left in 1% SDS for 60 min, as suggested by the standards (15883-1:2009+A1:2014, BS EN ISO). Samples were taken and measured in triplicate along with a standard curve prepared in 1% SDS using the OPA assay as described in section 2.1.1. The equation calculated from the standard curve was used to calculate values for the recovered protein from each of the discs. As stated above this experiment was repeated three times. Raw data was analyzed in Microsoft Excel and GraphPad Prism 5.01 was used to plot mean values and standard error.

2.1.2.1 Mucin

Figure 2-3 shows a comparison of the three recovery methods described in 2.1.2 after application of mucin and a 30 min drying time. The results showed that submerging discs in 1% SDS was the most effective recovery strategy, this was followed by the moist swab and dry swab.



Figure 2-3 Recovery of mucin after 30 min drying at room temperature using 1% SDS, moist and dry swab

Figure 2-4 shows the same parameters, but after a 60 min drying time. Protein was only recovered from disc contaminated with the highest amount of protein and only submerging the discs or using a moist swab was successful at recovering the protein. The standard errors are high, which shows that the results from all three experiments showed a high degree of variance in the amount of protein recovered, but were consistent in determining the best method to use for this purpose.



Figure 2-4 Rcovery of mucin after 60 min drying at room temperature using 1% SDS, moist and dry swab

2.1.2.2 BSA

In figure 2-5, the three recovery methods are shown after application of BSA on stainless steel discs and 30 min drying. As shown with mucin in section 2.1.2.1, submerging the contaminated discs in 1% SDS was the most effective recovery method. Again followed by the moist and the dry swab.



Figure 2-5 Recovery of BSA after 30 min drying at room temperature using 1% SDS, moist and dry swab

As shown in figure 2-6, an increase to 60 min drying had an effect on consistency of the method used and was highly variable in terms of the amount of protein recovered by each method used.



Figure 2-6 Recovery of BSA after 60 min drying at room temperature using 1% SDS, moist and dry swab

Overall, it can be said that BSA is easier to recover than mucin from steel discs and submerging discs in 1% SDS appears to be more successful than swabbing methods. However, it has to be considered that submerging in 1% SDS has the potential to add a high dilution factor that may reduce protein in the solution to a concentration below the limit of detection.

2.1.3 G-Box

2.1.3.1 Standard preparation

The G-Box (Syngene, Cambridge) was invented by Prof. Perrett and uses fluorescence and the OPA method to detect protein on metal surfaces. It is a semi-quantitative method and provides a sensitivity of 50 ng BSA (www.syngene.com/g-box).

It is very difficult to prepare protein standards on stainless steel tags, because the chemistry of surfaces and liquids are different. For preparing standards, the tags must be clean and the difference of protein adherence on the surface has to be considered.

The stainless steel tags were cleaned in five steps:

- 6- Tap water rinse
- 7- Soaking in 1% Decon 90 solution for 1 h
- 8- Rinse with RO water three times
- 9- Wipe with methanol
- 10-Dry on a hot plate

For preparing the standards it is important to know the correct density and temperature at which the protein (BSA) should be applied onto the tags. If the density is too high, then protein layers may form, which would result in an inaccurate determination of the amount of protein. The temperature has to be high enough to fix protein on to the surface without burning it. The optimum temperature is 120° C for 30 minutes. Known amounts of 0.125, 0.25, 0.5, 1, 2, 4 and 8 µg of BSA were used to set the standards (Fig 2-7).



Figure 2-7 Diagram for cleaning stainless steel and preparation of G-box standards

2.1.3.2 Use of G-Box

Stainless steel standard tags were submerged in OPA reagent for 5 min and then placed into the G-Box onto black paper. The software imaged the tag using visible light and the protein using the suitable wavelength for OPA (425 nm). The image shows 'blobs' of protein. Relative fluorescence units (RFU) are shown in the 'results window'. A standard curve with an equation based on the best fit of the line obtained by plotting fluorescence intensity against known protein concentrations was then produced using Microsoft Excel (Fig 2-8).

Chapter 2



Figure 2-8 Example of G-box standard curve with BSA, produced in Microsoft Excel

According to this standard curve protein amounts from samples were converted from RFU to μ g. Protein amounts were also calculated into μ g/mm² or μ g/specimen. To calculate the residual protein on the whole specimen, the amount detected was multiplied by two to obtain the total amount of protein on the instrument, as the G-Box only looks at one side of the specimen.

2.1.4 Bacteria

2.1.4.1 Preparation of microbiological growth media

All microbiological growth media was prepared according to manufacturers' instructions.

In brief, tryptone soy agar plates (TSA, OXOID) 12 g powder was added to 400 ml of RO water (Purelab Prima, ELGA), autoclaved (Prestige Medical, Omega Media), 20 ml distributed into Petri dishes (10 cm, Sterilin) and left for drying at room temperature. Blood agar plates were prepared by putting 400 ml adding 5% vol/vol (20 ml) defibrinated horse blood (E & O Laboratories Limited) to autoclaved Columbia blood agar base (Sigma) once it had cooled to approximately 40°C. Tryptic soy broth (TSB, Sigma) was prepared by adding 16.8 g powder to 400 ml of RO water and autoclaving. Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) was prepared by dissolving 2 PBS tablets (Sigma) in 400 ml of RO water, followed by autoclaving.

2.1.4.2 Culture of microorganisms

Preparation of a bacterial suspension *Staphylococcus aureus* (ATCC 25923) was performed by picking up a single colony forming unit (cfu) from a Mannitol Salt Agar plate and inoculating into 20 ml TSB (Sigma), followed by 24 hour incubation at 37°C and 140 revolutions per minute (rpm) (KS 4000 i control, IKA).

A bacterial suspension of *Streptococcus mutans* was prepared (NCTC 10449) by picking up one colony forming unit (cfu) from blood agar plate and inoculating into 20 ml TSB (Sigma), followed by anaerobic incubation for 24 hours in an incubator (Hera cell, Heraeus) with (5% CO_2) at 37°C.

2.1.5 Growth curves

After transferring 1000 μ l of the culture into a cuvette (Fisherbrand, semi-micro, PS) and measuring turbidity at 550 nm in a spectrometer (Colorimeter model 24, Fisher Scientific) using TSB only as the reference, the suspension was diluted to an optical density (OD) of 0.5. Serial dilutions ranging from 1 in 10 up to 1 in a million (10⁻⁶) were produced and 20 μ l of every dilution were pipetted into the

wells of a 96 well microplate (Costar) in triplicate. TSB only was used as a blank control. The kinetics of the growth of the organisms was determined over a 24 h period by measuring the absorbance (OD) at 550 nm on a plate reader (Omega Fluostar plate reader, BMG, Labtech), where measurements were taken hourly. Averages were calculated in Microsoft Excel and a graph was produced using GraphPad Prism 5.01.

2.1.5.1 Staphylococcus aureus



Figure 2-9 24 h growth curve of Staphylococcus aureus

2.1.5.2 Streptococcus mutans



Figure 2-10 24 h growth curve Streptococcus mutans

2.1.6 Artificial saliva

For the preparation of 1 L artificial saliva the following ingredients were used. 2.5 g porcine stomach mucin (Sigma), 3.5 g Sodium Chloride (VWR), 0.2 g Potassium Chloride (Sigma), Calcium Chloride Dihydrate, 0.2 g CaCl₂.2H₂O (VWR), 2 g Yeast Extract (Oxoid), 1 g Lab Lemco Powder (Oxoid) and 5 g Proteose Peptone (Oxoid). 1 L sterilized RO H₂O (ELGA) was added and sterilized using a lab sterilizer (MP 24 Control, Rodwell Scientific Instruments). 40% Urea (Oxoid) were added (1.25 mL) to artificial saliva after sterilizing. Artificial saliva was stored at 4°C (Leung and Darvell, 1997).

2.1.7 Standard inoculum

An overnight suspension of bacteria was centrifuged for 10 min at 3000 rpm (C20, Awel centrifuges). The pellet was resuspended in PBS and optical density (OD) was measured using a plate reader (Omega Fluostar plate reader, BMG Labtech) at 550 nm. Bacterial suspension was diluted in PBS to an OD of 0.5. A 1 in 10 dilution series was performed to 10^{-7} and 100μ l were plated onto TSA plates for S. *aureus* and blood agar plates for S. *mutans* in triplicate. TSA plates were incubated at 37° C for 24 h and blood agar plates were incubates at 37° C with 5% CO₂ for 24 h. The following day a colony forming units (cfu) count was determined by summing the number of colonies on the higher dilution plates. Each experiment was performed in triplicate and averages were taken to calculate a standard inoculum for OD=0.5 (Koch, 1970, Sutton, 2011).

The average colony count for S. *aureus* at OD=0.5 was 2.7×10^8 cfu/ml, while the average colony count for S. *mutans* at OD=0.5 was 8.4×10^8 cfu/ml

2.1.8 Standard test load for handpiece sterilization experiments with data loggers

For each cycle, a standard test tray consisting of 3 different types of handpieces were used: a dental air turbine TA-98 C LED (W&H, Austria), a straight surgical handpiece S11 (W&H, Austria), a slow speed motor WA-56 (W&H, Austria)) and a helix process challenge device (PCD) was used as a control (Fig 2-11). Three handpieces of each type were inoculated with chemical indicators (CI), which indicate a successful sterilization process by a colour change from yellow to blue and biological indicators (BI), which require incubation and indicate a successful sterilization process by the absence of microbial growth. CI (class 2, Browne) were placed in three positions in the turbine (turbine head, drive air channel, spray channels), in two positions in the surgical handpiece (chuck lever, handpiece back) and in one position in the slow speed (inside sleeve). BI (mini spore strips, Excelsior, D_{121} = 1.8 - 2.5 min) were placed in three positions in the turbine (turbine head, drive air channel center, drive air channel back), in two positions in the surgical handpiece (chuck lever, handpiece back) and in one position in the slow speed (inside sleeve). Handpieces for vacuum sterilization were places in sealable sterilization pouches (Steris) before sterilization.





Chapter 3 - Influence of different humidity levels on the sensitivity of chemical and biological indicators for steam sterilization

3.1 Introduction

Exposure times to achieve a SAL of 10^{-6} using steam sterilization were first reported in 1956 by Perkins to be 1 minute plus an additional minute for safety at 134°C (Perkins, 1983). In the 1st Medical Research Council (MRC) report, published in 1959, another minute was added to ensure further safety, which resulted in a recommendation of 3 min at 134°C at a chamber pressure of 2.2 bar to achieve the sterilization conditions for the production of a sterile and safe to use medical device (556-1:2001, BS EN, MRC, 1959). In order to monitor steam sterilization processes, biological indicators (BI) (11138-1:2006, BS EN ISO) and chemical indicators (CI) (11140-3:2007, BS EN ISO) are commonly used in large as well as small steam sterilizers. Chemical indicators are also used in process challenge devices (PCD), such as the Bowie Dick Test (BDT) or in the Helix test device (867-5:2001, BS EN) to simulate porous and hollow loads, respectively. Previous workers such as van Doornmalen et al. (2012) showed that only one out of six different CI (class 6 - emulating indicators) tested, achieved their claimed properties (according to the manufacturer) in terms of sensitivity to time, temperature and presence of saturated steam in a vacuum sterilization cycle with 3 min, 3.5 min or 4 min at 134°C (J.P.C.M. van Doornmalen, 2012). Two different helix devices tested did not reliably represent a hollow medical device in a small or a large vacuum sterilizer at pre vacuum depths ranging between 300 and 400 mbar (S. Esen, 2012b).

Indicators for steam sterilization are manufactured to comply with International standards (867-5:2001, BS EN, 11138-1:2006, BS EN ISO, 11140-3:2007, BS EN ISO) and are designed to react to the presence of saturated steam after a specified time and temperature exposure. However, little is published about the potential influence that different humidity levels have in the indicators' environment and or storage conditions on the chemistry of chemical indicators and/or the spores of *Geobacillus stearothermophilus* in biological indicators. According to one of the manufacturers, the critical humidity for chemical indicators rehydrate when in contact with steam and cause an exothermic reaction during the sterilization cycle. The requirement for a class 6 CI is that a pass is shown

when exposed to it's stated values and a fail when exposed to 1°C lower and 6% less time (11140-1:2009, BS EN ISO).

The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of humidity on the reaction of CI and BI to the presence of heat delivered by steam in order to be able to interpret CI results from further experiments in this study correctly.
3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Preliminary experiment

Small screw top glass bottles (Schott) were used for this experiment. The volume of the glass bottle was 130 ml. Chemical indicator strips (class 2, Browne) were placed into four glass bottles. Water deionized by reverse osmosis (RO H_2O) was added into two of them; 20 ml (15.4%) in the first experiment, 1 ml (0.8%) in the second, 0.5 ml (0.4%) in the third and 0.25 ml (0.2%) in the fourth experiment. After sealing the bottles they were sterilized in a non-vacuum sterilizer (Little Sister 3, Eschmann). The colour change of the chemical indicators was examined after sterilization.

3.2.2 Main Study

Technical equipment comprised of thermocouples (type T), a BIER/CIER vessel (Resistometer Typ 219, Lautenschläger) and a hygrometer (rotronic). Three different chemical indicators were used in each experiment. A class 4 CI (3M 1250), a class 5 CI (3M 1243 Comply SteriGage) and a class 2 CI (Browne chemical indicator (helix PCD)). Also included in each experiment were biological indicators (3M 1262 Attest, D_{121} =1.5 - 3.0 min) and Excelsior mini spore strips (2 mm x 10 mm, population 2.5 x 10⁵ spores per strip, D_{121} =2.3 min) were included in one set of experiments (5 min and 6 min).

The BIER vessel with a pre-heated chamber ($80-100^{\circ}C$) was programed to run replicate cycles at a pressure of 45 mbar (pre-vacuum) with exposure times of 2, 3, 4, 5 or 6 min and a temperature set to at $134^{\circ}C$.

Solutions of Glycerol (Sigma) in combination with and silica gel (Sigma), Potassium carbonate (Sigma), Magnesium nitrate hexahydrate (Sigma) and Potassium nitrate (Sigma) in water were used to achieve different levels of humidity (17%, 43%, 60% and 90% RH, respectively) in sealed plastic boxes (ASDA) (Elshatshat, 2009). Chemical and biological indicators were placed inside the boxes and left to equilibrate overnight at room temperature.

Initial experiments focused on two extreme humidity conditions: Low (14 - 17% RH) and high (85 - 90% RH). Two sets of five glass vials, with 17% RH in set 1,

90% RH in set 2, were inoculated with 0, 1, 10, 50, 100 and 500 μ L of water and a rubber bung placed in each tube to act as a platform (Fig 3-1). Within each vial were placed 3 different pre-conditioned CI and one pre-conditioned BI. In the BIER vessel the sealed vials were exposed to 134°C. A thermocouple (T type) was inserted inside a sealed vial through a hole in the cap (sealed with silicone (3M)). The temperature traces from inside the glass vials when compared to the chamber showed that the temperature took on average 32.8 sec longer to reach 134°C in the sealed glass containers than in the chamber (Fig 3-2), which had to be taken into consideration when analysing the results. The first two sets of experiments consisted of 2, 3, 4, 5 or 6 min exposure at 134°C, which equated to 1.5, 2.5, 3.5, 4.5 or 5.5 min actual exposure of the items in the glass vials to 134°C including the indicators. The second set of experiments consisted of 4 min exposure (Table 3-1). Experiments were performed in triplicate.

CIs were visually assessed while Attest BIs were incubated in the 3M Attest incubator for steam at 56°C for 24 to 48 h, followed by visual assessment. A colour change from purple to yellow indicates growth and therefore a fail. Excelsior mini spore strips were transferred into 2 ml TSB (tryptic soy broth, Sigma) and incubated for up to 8 days at 56°C and checked for growth every 24 h. Presence of growth indicated a fail.

For further analysis, colour changes of Sterigage (3M) and Helix CI (Browne) were measured using a ruler. Length values for Sterigage were divided by half of the total length of the indicator (15 mm), which indicates the pass line on the indicator, while values from Helix CI were divided by the full length of the indicator (18 mm), in order to achieve values where 1 is the pass line, as previously described by van Doornmalen (J.P.C.M. van Doornmalen, 2012). For acquiring values for class 4 (3M) indicators, a densitometer (X Rite 400 reflection densitometer) was used to achieve OD values. Values from 0.75 were considered a pass. Mean values and standard error were plotted using GraphPad Prism 5.01.



Figure 3-1 Left: glass vial containing CIs and BIs; red arrow indicates rubber platform; Right: glass vials in BIER vessel chamber



Figure 3-2 Temperature traces at 3 min exposure (δt = time difference between chamber and glass vial reaching sterilization temperature)

Table 3-1 Summary of experiments performed/CIs and BIs used

Water volume in vial (µL)	Set up 1 perfo	rmed in trip	Set up 2 performed in technical triplicates for exposure time of 4 min						
~ /	Chamber contr	ol	Precondition Low (14 - 17% RH)		Precondition High (85 - 90%	RH)	Low (14 - 17% RH)		
	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI	BI	BI	
0	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	3x Excelsior mini spore strips	3x Excelsior mini spore strips	
	1x 3M class 4		1x 3M class 4		1x 3M class 4				
	1x Browne helix CI		1x Browne helix CI		1x Browne helix CI				
10	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	3x Excelsior mini spore strips	3x Excelsior mini spore strips	
	1x 3M class 4		1x 3M class 4		1x 3M class 4				
	1x Browne helix CI		1x Browne helix CI		1x Browne helix CI				
50	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	3x Excelsior mini spore strips	3x Excelsior mini spore strips	
	1x 3M class 4		1x 3M class 4		1x 3M class 4				
	1x Browne helix CI		1x Browne helix CI		1x Browne helix CI				
100	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	3x Excelsior mini spore strips	3x Excelsior mini spore strips	
	1x 3M class 4		1x 3M class 4		1x 3M class 4		spore scrips	spore scrips	
	1x Browne helix CI		1x Browne helix CI		1x Browne helix CI				
500	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	1x 3M SteriGage	3M Attest	3x Excelsior mini spore strips	3x Excelsior mini spore strips	
	1x 3M class 4		1x 3M class 4		1x 3M class 4				
	1x Browne helix CI		1x Browne helix CI		1x Browne helix CI				

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Preliminary experiment

Water contents as low as 0.25 ml (0.2%) in a sealed vessel (total volume 130 ml) caused the chemical indicators to give a pass result. The chemical indicators in the bottles that did not contain water did not show a colour change and thus failed.

Not only temperature but also humidity (water content in vessel, wet steam saturated steam) is required to change the chemical indicator. Even the smallest amount of moisture results in a colour change (Figure 3-3).



Figure 3-3 Left bottle with water shows colour change; right bottle without water does not show colour change; unused colour indicator strip in front of the bottles for comparison

3.3.2 Main study

Results of the low RH pre-conditioned CI showed that 3M SteriGage indicators gave passes at a water content of 10 μ L with an exposure time of 6 min, while 3M class 4 and Browne helix CI started indicated pass results with a water content of 50 μ L and 5 minutes exposure time (Table 3-2a). In all samples, it was observed that the higher the water content in the vial, the lower the exposure time required to achieve a CI and BI pass. Results of the high RH pre-conditioned CI showed that 3M SteriGage indicators passed when the water content was 0 μ L with an exposure time of 5 min, while 3M class 4 and Browne helix CI indicating pass results with water content of 50 μ L or greater after 4 min and 6 min exposure time. No passes were detected in all samples exposure for 2 min (Table 3-2b). There was a trend for CIs to perform passes as the amounts of water in vials and exposure time were increased. However, no clear difference was found between high and low humidity preconditioning. The chamber controls indicated passes at exposure times of 2 min (Table 3-2c).

Additional analysis measuring colour change confirms that Sterigage (3M) graphs show little difference between high and low humidity pre-conditioning (Figure 3-4). Class 4 CI (3M) showed sensitivity towards water amounts in vials as well as pre-conditioning. More samples that were pre-conditioned in high humidity showed a stronger colour change at earlier exposure times than samples preconditioned in low humidity (Figure 3-5). Looking at the graphs of helix CI (Browne) in figure 3-6, it appears that CI responded to time and the amount of water present in the glass vials, but not to the pre-conditioning. However, standard errors show a wide variation in colour change.

Biological indicators (Attest, 3M): only the chamber controls given an exposure of 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 min were killed. All other tested indicators showed growth, as shown in table 3-3. Biological indicator strips (Excelsior) were used in one experiment (exposure 4.0 min) due to time limitations. Growth was detected in samples with preconditioning in the dry environment, while Spore strips preconditioned in the humid environment were inactivated in vials with water amounts of 0, 10, 100 and 500 μ L. Paradoxically, growth was detected in vials with 50 μ L of water (Table 3-4).

Table 3-2a CI results for low humidity preconditioning (X=fail, <=pass)

Low	Low preconditioning (14 - 17% RH)														
3M S	teriGag	je			3M (class 4				Browne helix Cl					
Exposure time (min at 134°C)					Exposure time (min at 134°C)				Exposure time (min at 134°C)						
2	3	4	5	6	2	3	4	5	6	2	3	4	5	6	
× ×	**	× ×	***	***	× ×	× ×	× ×	***	***	× ×	× ×	× ×	***	× × ×	
× ×	**	× ×	***	××.	× ×	× ×	**	***	***	× ×	× ×	**	***	× × ×	
× ×	**	× ×	××.	***	× ×	× ×	× ×	× ✓ ✓	× / /	× ×	× ×	× ×	×× ✓	××.	
× ×	**	× ✓	××.	× √ √	× ×	× ⁄	× ⁄	× ✓ ✓	× / /	× ×	× ×	× ⁄	× ✓ ✓	× / /	
× ×	× ×	× √	× ✓ ✓	111	×	11	11	<i>JJJ</i>	<i>JJJ</i>	× ×	×	11		555	
	3M S Expo 2 ×× ×× ××	3M SteriGag Exposure til 2 3 ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ××	3M SteriGage Exposure time (minimal 2 3 4 ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ××	3M SteriGage Exposure time (min at 13) 2 3 4 5 XX XX XX XXX XX XX XX XXX	3M SteriGage Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 XX XX XX XXX XXX XX XX XX XXX XXX	3M SteriGage 3M G Exposure time (min at 134°C) Expo 2 3 4 5 6 2 XX XX XX XXX XX XX XX XX XX XXX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX	3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure to 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX	3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure time (n 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ××	3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x ×x	3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx	3M SteriGage3M class 4BrowExposure time (min at 134°C)Exposure time (min at 134°C)134°C)134°C23456234562 xx	3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Browne here Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure time (min at 134°C) 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 XX XX <td< td=""><td>3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Browne helix CI Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 XX XX</td></td<> <td>3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Browne helix CI Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 XX <t< td=""></t<></td>	3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Browne helix CI Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 XX XX	3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Browne helix CI Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 XX XX <t< td=""></t<>	

Table 3-2b CI results for high humidity preconditioning (**x**=fail, **v**=pass)

Water volume High humidity preconditioning (85 - 90% RH														
3M S	teriGag	je			3M (class 4			Browne helix Cl					
Exposure time (min at 134°C)					Exposure time (min at 134°C)				Exposure time (min at 134°C)					
2	3	4	5	6	2	3	4	5	6	2	3	4	5	6
**	* *	× ×	××.	× / /	× ×	× ×	× ×	***	***	× ×	**	× ×	× × ×	***
× ×	× ×	× √	× × ×	× / /	× ×	× ×	× ×	***	***	× ×	**	**	***	× × ×
XX	**	× ×	× × ×	× / /	× ×	× ×	× ✓	× √ √	× / /	× ×	× ×	× ×	× × ×	××.
× ×	* *	×✓	***	××.	× ×	× ⁄	11	<i>JJJ</i>	× / /	× ×	× ×	× ⁄	× ✓ ✓	× / /
× ×	××	× √	× ✓ ✓	555	× ×	11	11	J J J J	<i>JJJ</i>	× ×	× √	11	J J J J	111
	3M S Expo 2 XX XX XX XX	3M SteriGag Exposure til 2 3 XX XX XX XX XX XX XX	3M SteriGage Exposure time (minimation) 2 3 4 4 5 5 5	3M SteriGage Exposure time (min at 13) 2 3 4 5 XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XXX XX XX XX XXX XX XX XX XXX XX XX XX XXX XX XX XX XXX	3M SteriGage Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 XX XX XX XXX XXX XX XX XX XXX XXX	3M SteriGage 3M G Exposure time (min at 134°C) Expo 2 3 4 5 6 2 XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX	3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure to 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 XX XX XX XXX XXX XX XX XX XX XX XX XXX XXX XX XX XX XX XX XX XXX XXX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XXX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX	3M SteriGage3M class 4Exposure time (min at 134°C)Exposure time (min at 134°C)23456234XX	3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ×× ××	3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2xx XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX	3M SteriGage3M class 4BrowExposure time (min at 134°C)Exposure time (min at 134°C)134°C23456234562 xx x	3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Browne here Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure time (min at 134°C) 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx	3M SteriGage 3M class 4 Browne helix CI Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 ×× <td>3M SteriGage Browne helix CI Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 XX XX</td>	3M SteriGage Browne helix CI Exposure time (min at 134°C) Exposure time (min at 134°C) 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 XX XX

Table 3-2c CI results for unsealed chamber controls (X=fail, <>=pass)

Char	nber c	ontrol	(unsea	aled)													
3M S	iteriGa	ge			3M c	lass 4				Browne helix CI							
Ехро 134°	osure t °C)	ime (n	nin at		Exposure time (min at 134°C)					Expo 134		ime (n	nin at				
2	3	4	5	6	2	3	4	5	6	2	3	4	5	6			
×	~	<i>√ √</i>	<i>√ √</i>	555	11	1	~~	11	J J J	<i>✓ ✓</i>	1	55	<i>√ √</i>	<i>\$\$\$</i>			



3M Sterigage CI high humidity pre-conditioning





Figure 3-4 Colour change of Sterigage (3M) CI against time, in different amounts of water, pre-conditioned in high humidity (top graph) and low humidity (bottom graph); results on or above the horizontal red line are passes, results below are fails



3M class 4 CI high humidity pre-conditioning

3M class 4 CI low humidity pre-conditioning



Figure 3-5 Colour change of class 4 (3M) CI against time, in different amounts of water, preconditioned in high humidity (top graph) and low humidity (bottom graph); results on or above the horizontal red line are passes, results below are fails



Browne helix CI high humidity pre-conditioning

Browne helix CI low humidity pre-conditioning



Figure 3-6 Colour change of helix (Browne) CI against time, in different amounts of water, pre-conditioned in high humidity (top graph) and low humidity (bottom graph); results on or above the horizontal red line are passes, results below are fails

	Table 5-5 Results Allest															
Water	Set ı	Set up 1 BI results for exposure times of 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 min														
volume	le Low (14 - 17% RH) High (85 - 90% RH)									Chamber control						
in vial (μL)	Exposure time (min) N=3						Exposure time (min) N=3					Exposure time (min) N=3				
	2	3	4	5	6	2	3	4	5	6	2	3	4	5	6	
0	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	
10	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	
50	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	
100	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	
500	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	3/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	0/3	

Table 3-3 Results Attest

Table 3-4 Results Excelsior mini spore strips

Water volume in	Set up 2 performed in technical triplicates for exposure time of 4 min										
vial (µL)	Low (14 - 17% RH)	High (85 - 90% RH)									
	BI (growth)	BI (growth)									
0	1/3	0/3									
10	3/3	0/3									
50	3/3	3/3									
100	3/3	0/3									
500	-	0/3									

3.4 Discussion

The present study suggests that different humidity levels affect how chemical indicators react to saturated steam and that pre-conditioning, sampled in different humidity levels, allows the matrix of the indicator to absorb certain amounts of moisture, so that during sterilization auto generation of steam can take place. In both, high and low RH pre-conditioned CI it was determined that 3M class 4 CI were more susceptible to humidity than 3M Sterigage and Browne helix CI, which behaved similarly. 3M Sterigage were less susceptible to the amounts of water in the glass vials, while Browne helix CI were more sensitive to the amounts of water added than to pre-conditioning. However, all CI tested indicated passes under sub-optimal conditions during exposure to 134°C indicating the achievement of false positive sterilization conditions. Glass vials were sealed, which suggested that the pressure inside the glass vials would be different. The BI results for the 3M Attest show no growth in any of the glass vials, but were inactivated in the chamber control at 2 min, which suggests that the BI used, which are self-contained, represent PCDs. It takes time for the internal space, in which the BI is housed, to equilibrate with the environment. However, the Excelsior mini spore strip results suggest that moisture in terms of wet steam seems to be sufficient to inactivate spores. This inconsistency may be due to differences in spore manufacturing conditions or spore recovery methods.

Previous workers such as Rutala et al. (1996) tested four *G. stearothermophilus* BI Attest, Assert, and Biosign and Proof Plus as well as five chemical indicators (Comply, Propper, Chemdi, Sterigage and Thermalog S) and found that some chemical indicators failed to indicate adequate sterilization (Rutala et al., 1996). Van Doornlamen et al. (2012) also found that CI are unreliable and can provide false results when six commercially available CI (class 6) were tested (J.P.C.M. van Doornmalen, 2012). Both studies (Rutala et al., 1996 and J.P.C.M. van Doornmalen, 2012) agree well with the results of the current study, as we also demonstrate that BIs and CIs can indicate pass conditions at exposure times of less than 3 min at 134°C. This may be due to the presence of wet steam in sealed glass vials, or superheated steam, where a sufficient quantity of water molecules was present. However, care should be taken in the interpretation of

these results from the context of sterility assurance. While the use of glass vials provided a suitable environment in which to assess the impact of different humidity levels on the reaction of CI's and BI's to the environmental, time and temperature challenges the aim was not to determine the suitability of CI's and BI's for monitoring sterilization conditions in glass vials.

Little work has been published on this topic, but our findings are consistent with others that suggest that not all CI's and BI's of the same class behave similarly to the same time and temperature exposures. Under some conditions the CI's and BI's can indicate false positives and care should be taken in their use, exposure and interpretation.

Chapter 4 - Investigating steam penetration into dental handpieces using benchtop steam sterilization processes in-vitro

4.1 Introduction

Dental handpieces become contaminated externally and internally during patient treatment (Herd et al., 2007, Chin et al., 2006, Dreyer and Hauman, 2001, Epstein et al., 1993, Epstein et al., 1995, Kellett and Holbrook, 1980, Shpuntoff and Shpuntoff, 1993, Zhou et al., 2006). Clinical evidence for cross infection risk is difficult to assign to a particular incident due to the fact that infections are difficult to trace back to a dental treatment (Hu et al., 2007), but there are reports of incidents involving HIV risk (Nottingham 2014) and Hepatitis B (Radcliffe et al., 2013). Technical evidence for the necessity for air removal from lumens has been provided by many studies investigating (J P C M van Doornmalen, 2013, Kaiser U., 1998, S. Esen, 2012a). Manufacturers of both sterilizers and dental handpieces recommend that this equipment be sterilized using a vacuum process, due to their complex construction and internal lumens (instructions for use by W&H and Eschmann).

There are 3 different benchtop steam sterilization processes described in standard BS EN ISO 13060. Type N, which is a non-vacuum and passive air displacement process, type B and S, which achieve air removal using a vacuum pump and special cycles, respectively. While the special cycle is specifically designed for a particular instrument the type S, type B sterilization uses a vacuum pump for active air removal and is recommended to be used for porous or hollow load (13060:2014, BS EN). However, there is no legislation that makes type B sterilization mandatory for dentists, even though dental handpieces are hollow devices. In UK dental practices non-vacuum sterilizers are still commonly used (Smith et al., 2009c).

Steam penetration into lumens can be measured using thermocouples (TC) to measure temperature (13060:2014, BS EN), which is the main method used to commission and validate a steam sterilizer (SHTM, 2010). Besides acquiring details from sterilizer print outs, biological and chemical indicators are used for monitoring the efficacy of the steam sterilization process by the operator, whereby chemical indicators are placed in process challenge devices (PCD), such as the helix or the Bowie Dick test pack, which simulate hollow or porous loads, respectively (867-4:2001, BS EN, 867-5:2001, BS EN, 11138-1:2006, BS EN ISO).

The following chapter describes the use of all three methods in order to investigate steam penetration into PCD and dental handpieces during nonvacuum and vacuum steam sterilization processes by using chemical and biological indicators to indicate sterilization conditions.

4.2 Material and Methods

In this investigation the non-vacuum and vacuum processes (Figures 4-1 and 4-2) were monitored by recording temperature and pressure measurements and determination of the time difference between the chamber and the inside of the handpieces reaching sterilization temperature, as shown in Figure 4-3.



Figure 4-1 Example of a non-vacuum sterilization cycle



Figure 4-2 Example of a vacuum sterilization cycle with 3 pre-vacuum pulses and one post-vacuum pulse



Figure 4-3 Example of measurement target: time difference between the chamber and the inside of the handpieces reaching sterilization temperature

4.2.1 Preliminary experiments

Preliminary experiments were performed in triplicate to determine whether there was a difference in temperature detectable in the handpieces (TA-98 C LED, W&H, Austria) as well as in the chamber of a Little Sister 3 non-vacuum sterilizer (Eschmann) using a warm up cycle before sterilization.

4.2.2 Type T thermocouples (cross section 2 mm x 1 mm)

Every ten cycles thermocouples (TC: Type T, Class 1 IEC, Flat Twin) were calibrated using a hot block (Ametek) and the pressure sensor was calibrated using a pressure calibrator (Druck). Both instruments have been validated by the United Kingdom Accreditation Service (UKAS). A data logger (Anville 825) and EaziVal SE software (Anville) were used to record and analyse the acquired data. New TC ends were made every three cycles and recordings were saved as pdf files.

Three dental turbines (TA-98 C LED, W&H) were dismantled and type T TC were carefully placed in different positions (A, B and C) along the drive air channel (Figure 4-4). After reassembling, handpieces were put through a non-vacuum sterilization cycle (Little sister 3, Eschmann). Small loads and full loads, where the small load was 0.5 kg and the full load was set up as per manufacturers' instructions (5 kg), were compared by using dental instruments, such as probes, mirrors and forceps. Experiments were performed in triplicate.



Figure 4-4 Assessed positions in TA-98; A-behind the turbine blade; B-inside the air channel (metal, d=2.3 mm, I=80 mm); C-inside the air channel (plastic)

The Bowie and Dick test pack (BDT) and the helix process challenge device (Browne Ltd.) were used as controls. The BDT was carefully opened using a scalpel and TC were placed in three positions (top, centre and bottom with 100 paper sheets between locations, as shown in figure 4-5. The test pack was resealed again using autoclave tape (3M). A non-vacuum sterilization cycle was performed.



Figure 4-5 Schematic compositions of BDT and thermocouple positioning

4.2.3 Thin type T thermocouples (D = 0.8 mm)

Experiments described in section 4.2.2 were repeated using thinner TCs in order to record temperature in the air channel (D=2.3 mm). Additionally, three handpieces were used to measure temperature in location C of the spray channels (D=0.9). A comparison of the different TC and channels inside the turbines used are shown in figure 4-6 and 4-7. Calibration, recording and analysis were performed using the equipment listed in section 4.2.2.



Figure 4-6 Comparison of type T thermocouples; thin type T (D=0.8) left and type T (2 mm x 1 mm) right



Figure 4-7 Inside of dental handpiece with channel dimensions

As controls the BDT and helix PCD were used, as well as a type T TC (described in section 4.2.2) for comparison of the differents TC. Experiments were performed in triplicate.

4.2.4 Data loggers (Ellab, D=2 mm, Teflon)

4.2.4.1 Dental air turbine

Experiments described in sections 4.2.2 and 4.2.3 were repeated using wireless data loggers (Ellab), shown in figure 4-8, which were validated annually at Ellab in Denmark. The data loggers were used to monitor temperature and pressure in different locations of the turbine (drive air channel) in a vacuum sterilization process (Lisa 517, W&H, Austria) as a comparison to the non-vacuum process. Ellab's ValSuit Basic software was used for analysing the recorded data. Reports were saved as pdf files. As a control the BDT was used and experiments were performed in triplicate.



Figure 4-8 Ellab Tracksense Pro data loggers in docking station Teflon and metal temperature sensors top row, pressure sensor bottom row

4.2.4.2 Other handpieces

Two different types of turbines (CROMA Bien Air, W&H Alegra) and two motors (KaVo Powertorque, W&H toplight) each in sets of three were used to investigate steam penetration into lumens as determined by thermometric measurements (ellab data loggers) using non-vacuum sterilization (Little Sister3, Eschmann).

4.2.5 Chemical indicator study

Three different types of dental handpieces were used

- Air turbines (TA-98 C LED, W&H, Austria)
- Slow speed motors (WA-56, W&H, Austria)
- Surgical handpieces (S11, W&H, Austria)

Chemical indicator strips (Browne, class 2), usually used for detection of time/temperature/presence of steam in the Browne helix PCD were cut into small pieces (l= 22 mm), as shown in figure 4-9, and placed into 3 different locations inside the different handpieces. Handpieces were reassembled and placed in a type N sterilizer (LittleSister3, Eschmann). As a control, the helix PCD (Browne) was placed in the chamber of the sterilizer. These CI are designed to change colour from yellow to dark blue in the presence of saturated steam at 134°C for 3 min (867-4:2001, BS EN).



Figure 4-9 Chemical indicator strips in high-speed turbine head (TA-98) (A), back of high-speed turbine (TA-98) (B), slow-speed motor WA-56 (C) and gear of S11 surgical handpiece (D)

Additionally, CI strips were cut into small strips (dimensions can be found in figure 4-10) and placed inside the channels and the head of 12 air turbines. After a non-vacuum sterilization cycle (Little Sister 3, Eschmann), CI were removed from the handpieces and visually assessed for colour change.

Drive air channel 50 mm x 2 mm	EN 867-5
Spray channel 50 mm x 0.8 mm	EN 867-5
Turbine head 5 mm x 1.5 mm	

Figure 4-10 Chemical indicator strips with dimensions for channels and turbine head

4.2.6 Biological indicator study

4.2.6.1 Vegetative bacteria

In a separate set of experiments *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Streptococcus mutans* and saliva were used as biological indicators due to the fact that researchers found these contaminants on dental handpieces in *in-vivo* investigations after patient treatment (Dreyer and Hauman, 2001, Smith et al., 2014).

4.2.6.1.1 Dental air turbine

Circular filter paper discs (Whatman filter paper) were cut (D=0.5 cm) and submerged into bacterial suspensions of S. aureus (ATCC 25923) and S. mutans (NCTC 10449) in tryptone soy broth (TSB, Sigma), which were prepared as per chapter 2, section 2.1.4.2, dried for 30 minutes and placed into the back cap of the turbines. 14 TA-98 turbines were contaminated with 10^2 cfu/ml of S. *aureus*. 20 handpieces were contaminated with 10⁶ cfu/ml of S. aureus and 24 handpieces were contaminated with 10⁶ cfu/ml S. *mutans*. Concentrations of bacteria in broth were prepared by serial diluting 24 h cultures and plating them onto TSA (tryptone soy agar, Oxoid) and blood agar (Prestige Medical, Omega Media) in order to get initial cfu counts. The turbines were reassembled and placed in a Little Sister 3 (Eschmann). All handpieces were processed using a non-vacuum sterilization cycle. While 28 handpieces subjected to the sterilization process accompanied with a drying step, where the sterilizer door was kept locked for an additional 10 min, 32 handpieces were processed using the same cycle without drying. After the sterilization process, the filter paper discs were transferred into 1 ml TS broth (tryptone soy broth, Sigma) and incubated for 24 h at 37°C. The samples containing S. *aureus* were incubated in air, the samples with S. *mutans* in 5% CO₂.

24 high-speed TA-98 turbines were contaminated with 10^7 cfu/ml of S. *mutans* by pipetting 100 µl of the bacterial suspension directly into the back caps of the turbines; caps were left for drying for 60 minutes at room temperature. After reassembling the handpieces were processed using a type non-vacuum sterilization cycle (LittleSister3, Eschmann). One half of the handpieces were processed with drying conditions, the other half without drying. Once the

sterilization process was finished, the back caps of the turbines were transferred into 1 ml TS broth (tryptone soy broth, Sigma) and incubated over night at 37° C in 5% CO₂.

100 µl of suspension (10⁸ cfu/ml) were injected into each spray channel of 24 high-speed air turbines (TA-98 C LED, W&H, Austria). 12 turbines were processed using a type N sterilization process with drying, 12 turbines were processed without drying (LittleSister3, Eschmann). Once the sterilization process was finished, the spray channels were flushed with 1 ml TSB each and incubated for 24 h at 37°C. As a recovery control, the spray channels of three handpieces were contaminated and flushed with TSB. Flushing the spray channels of three uncontaminated handpieces represented a negative control.

Filter paper strips (Whatman) were cut (1 x 0.5 cm) and submerged into 1 ml unstimulated saliva (collected from laboratory staff, 7 x 10^7 cfu/ml) and placed into the metal part of the drive air channel (front part of handpiece) and in the plastic part (back part of handpiece) of 9 high-speed air turbines (TA-98 C LED, W&H, Austria). 100 µl of saliva were pipetted around the turbine blade and injected into every spray channel. The handpieces were reassembled and processed using a non-vacuum sterilization cycle without drying (LittleSister3, Eschmann). After attempts at sterilization, all filter paper strips and turbine blades were transferred into 1 ml TSB and incubated at 37° C, 5% CO₂. Spray channels were flushed with 1 ml TSB (22 times the volume of channels).

4.2.6.1.2 Process challenge device

Circular filter paper discs (Whatman) were cut (D=0.5 cm) and submerged into bacterial suspensions of S. *mutans* and S. *aureus*, dried for 30 minutes and placed into the capsule of a helix PCD (Browne). One helix PCD was contaminated with 10^2 cfu/ml of S. *aureus*; a process challenge device was contaminated with 10^6 cfu/ml of S. *mutans* (repeated 6 times) and 10^6 cfu/ml of S. *aureus* (repeated 4 times). The helix was placed in a non-vacuum sterilizer (LittleSister3, Eschmann). Six cycles with drying and 5 cycles without drying were used. After the sterilization process, the filter paper discs were transferred

into 1 ml TS broth (tryptone soy broth, Sigma) and incubated aerobically for 24 h at 37° C (S. *aureus*) and 5% CO₂ for 24 h (S. *mutans*).

4.2.6.1.3 Influence of handpiece oil on bacterial inactivation

The turbine blades of 16 high-speed air turbines were contaminated with 10^5 cfu/ml of S. *mutans* and the turbine blades of 72 turbines were contaminated with 10^7 cfu/ml of S. *mutans* by submerging them into the bacterial suspensions; turbine blades were left for drying for 60 minutes. After drying the blades of 36 air turbines were submerged in 5 ml f1 handpiece oil (W&H, Austria). After reassembling, 12 handpieces with and 12 without oil were placed in a hot air oven at 80°C for 10 minutes. 16 handpieces contaminated with 10^5 cfu/ml, 24 handpieces contaminated with 10^7 cfu/ml and covered in oil were processed in a non-vacuum sterilizer (LittleSister3, Eschmann). One half of the handpieces were processed with drying, the other half without drying. Once the sterilization process was finished, the turbine blades were transferred into 1 ml TS broth (tryptone soy broth, Sigma) and incubated over night at 37°C with 5% CO₂.

4.2.6.2 Geobacillus stearothermophilus spores

Biological indicator strips (Excelsior), with approx. 2.5×10^6 spores of *G*. *stearothermophilus* per strip (2 mm x 10 mm, D₁₂₁=2.2 min), were placed inside the turbine head, the metal and the plastic part of the drive air channel of four dental air turbines (TA-98 C LED, W&H, Austria). Processing in a non-vacuum sterilizer (Little Sister 3, Eschmann) followed. As a control, biological indicator strips were placed in the Browne helix PCD as well as two sealed glass bottles (Schott), which were processed in the same way. As a positive control, a biological indicator strip was placed in 10 ml TSB without being processed for sterilization, incubated at 56°C for 8 days.

After attempts at sterilization, handpieces were dismantled and the indicator strips were transferred into 2 ml TSB and incubated at 56°C. Growth was checked every 24 h for 8 days. Controls underwent the same procedure. The experiment was repeated three times.

4.2.7 Handpiece test load experiments

For this investigation four different non-vacuum sterilizers (3x MS22 (W&H), 3x Alpha (Prestige) and 3x Kronos (Newmed) and 3x Little Sister 3 (Eschmann)) were tested and compared to a vacuum sterilizer (3x Lisa, W&H).

For each sterilization cycle a standard test load, as shown in figure 4-11, was used (refer to chapter 2, section 2.1.8). For each sterilizer a BDT was used as a control.



Figure 4-11 Standard test load with 3x dental air turbine TA-98 C LED (W&H, Austria), 3x straight surgical handpiece S11 (W&H, Austria), 3x slow speed motor WA-56 (W&H, Austria), 1x helix PCD (Browne), 2x temperature data logger inside dental air turbine (TA-98 C LED (W&H, Austria), 1x temperature data logger "free space" and 1x pressure data logger (all data loggers Ellab), total weight 0.5 kg

Small loads and full loads (as per manufacturer's instructions) were compared and experiments were performed in triplicate at least. Data analysis from data loggers was performed as described in section 4.2.4.1. According to Perkins the heat up time should bring all of the load up to sterilization temperature (Perkins, 1983). In the standard for small steam sterilizers a tolerable time

difference between the chamber and the load is 15 sec (13060:2014, BS EN), while the Scottish Health Technical Memorandum established a temperature lag of 2°C from the point where the chamber reaches 134°C compared to the load as tolerable (SHTM, 2010).

In order to take all three theories into account, time delays of 3 sec (based on results from vacuum cycle testing), 15 sec and a temperature lag of 2°C were established as thermometric fails and compared.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Preliminary experiments

No differences were observed between temperature recordings inside the handpieces and the chamber when comparing a cold or pre-heated sterilizer chamber, as shown in figures 4-12 and 4-13, respectively.



Figure 4-12 Example of non-vacuum sterilization cycle from cold chamber (orange=pressure, red=free chamber space, black, green, blue=inside handpiece) the horizontal blue and red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134 - 137°C





Figure 4-13 Example of non-vacuum sterilization cycle from pre-heated chamber (orange=pressure, red=free chamber space, black, green, blue=inside handpiece) the horizontal blue and red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134 - 137°C

4.3.2 Type T thermocouples (2 mm x 1 mm)

Results of temperature traces at different positions using non-vacuum and vacuum sterilization cycles are shown in close up charts of the time at plateau temperature (Fig 4-14 - 4-16). The results show that it takes longer to achieve sterilizing temperature (134-137°C) in handpieces . Position A shows a temperature lag of -4 - 24 sec compared to the chamber temperature, while sterilizing temperature in positions B and C was delayed by -1 - 14 and -1 - 150 sec, respectively. However, the temperature at all positions in the handpieces reached 134°C before the display on the sterilizer announced "S", indicating that the "sterilizing" period was under way, which lasted 3 min and 15 sec after equilibration (time to ensure temperature above 134°C) in this model of sterilizer. In contrast, the Bowie and Dick test pack (positions "Bottom BDT" and "Centre BDT") did not reach sterilizing temperature during plateau time at 134°C (Figure 4-17) in the non-vacuum sterilization cycle. Full loads were not

investigated in the Little Sister 3, because each cycle with a load of 5 kg failed before sterilization temperature was achieved.



Figure 4-14 Demonstrating thermocouple type T results of experiments assessing position A in the handpiece (magnification of plateau period) using a non-vacuum sterilization cycle (orange=pressure, red=free chamber space, black, green, blue=inside handpiece) the horizontal blue and red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134 - 137°C





Figure 4-15 Demonstrating thermocouple type T results of experiments assessing position B in the handpiece (magnification of plateau period) using a non-vacuum sterilization cycle (orange=pressure, red=free chamber space, black, green, blue=inside handpiece) the horizontal blue and red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134 - 137°C




Figure 4-16 Demonstrating thermocouple type T results of experiments assessing position C in the handpiece (magnification of plateau period) using a non-vacuum sterilization cycle (orange=pressure, red=free chamber space, black, green, blue=inside handpiece) the horizontal blue and red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134 - 137°C





Figure 4-17 Demonstrating thermocouple type T results of experiments assessing BDT (magnification of plateau period) using a non-vacuum sterilization cycle (orange=pressure, red=free chamber space, black=top BDT, blue=bottom BDT, green=centre BDT) the horizontal blue and red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134 - 137°C

4.3.3 Thin type T thermocouples (D = 0.8 mm)

Recordings using the thin type T TC in different locations of the handpieces showed similar results to those described in section 4.5.1.2, where the temperature lag inside the handpiece ranged from -7 - 66 sec. Temperature traces from inside the spray channels showed a temperature lag of -1 - 74 sec compared to the chamber shown in figure 4-18. Type T and thin type T TC were in line with each other. The BDT traces showed that the centre of the test pack did not reach sterilization temperature.





Figure 4-18 Demonstrating thermocouple thin type T results of experiments assessing spray channels in the handpiece (magnification of plateau period) using a non-vacuum sterilization cycle (black=pressure, blue=free chamber space, red, magenta, green=inside spray channels) the horizontal blue and red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134 - 137°C

4.3.4 Data loggers

4.3.4.1 Air turbine TA-98 C LED (W&H, Austria)

Thermometric results using data loggers did not differ from the results acquired with thermocouples in the non-vacuum sterilization cycle. Handpieces showed a 15 - 100 sec delay in reaching the same temperature as the chamber. Using a vacuum cycle (Lisa, W&H) thermometric measurements showed a time difference of -1 - 3 sec between the inside of handpieces compared to the chamber of the sterilizer. No differences were observed between locations A, B and C (Fig 4-19 - 4-21). The temperature traces from within the BDT shows that all positions achieved sterilization temperature (Fig 4-22).

Chapter 4



Figure 4-19 Demonstrating data logger results of experiments assessing position A in the handpiece (magnification of plateau period) using a vacuum sterilization cycle (black=pressure, blue=free chamber space, light green, green, dark green=inside handpiece), the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134 - 137°C



Figure 4-20 Demonstrating data logger results of experiments assessing position B in the handpiece (magnification of plateau period) using a vacuum sterilization cycle (black=pressure, blue=free chamber space, light green, green, dark green=inside handpiece), the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134 - 137°C

Chapter 4



Figure 4-21 Demonstrating data logger results of experiments assessing position C in the handpiece (magnification of plateau period) using a vacuum sterilization cycle (black=pressure, blue=free chamber space, light green, green, dark green=inside handpiece), the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134 - 137°C



Figure 4-22 Demonstrating data logger results of experiments assessing BDT (magnification of plateau period) using a vacuum sterilization cycle (black=pressure, blue=free chamber space, light green=top BDT, green=bottom BDT, dark green=centre of BDT), the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134 - 137°C

4.3.4.2 Other handpieces

Measuring temperature in different handpiece models resulted in a time difference of -1 to 147 sec between the chamber and the inside of the handpiece. Details are shown in table 4-1.

 Table 4-1 Summary of time differences of inside other handpiece models compared to chamber temperature

Non-vacuum	Croma Bien	W&H Alegra	Kavo	W&H
sterilization	Air high	high speed	Powertorque	Toplight
cycle	speed turbine	turbine (N=9)	motor (N=9)	898
(plateau time	(N=9)			motor
6.5 min)				(N=9)
Time				
difference				
between	22 80 222	19 147	12 29 222	1 9
chamber and	23 - 80 sec	18 - 147 sec	13 - 38 sec	-1 - 8 sec
handpiece to				
reach 134°C				

Chapter 4

4.3.5 Chemical indicator study

Chemical indicators changed colour and indicated pass conditions in all tested locations and handpieces, as shown in figures 4-23 and 4-24, but failed in the helix PCD.



Figure 4-23 Indicator strips in a high-speed turbine (TA-98), B slow speed motor (WA-56) and C surgical handpiece (S11) show a pass, D (control helix PCD) shows a fail



Figure 4-24 Indicator strips in drive air channel, spray channels and turbine head of TA-98 show passes

4.3.6 Biological indicator study

4.3.6.1 Vegetative bacteria

All negative control handpieces (TA-98 C LED, W&H, Austria; N=38) were sterilized in a type B sterilizer (Lisa, W&H, Austria). No growth was detectable on any of the 38 contaminated handpieces. Positive controls showed growth. The recovery control showed that 16×10^6 cfu were recovered after contamination of stainless steel spray channels with 10^8 cfu S. *mutans*.

Non-vacuum sterilization processes (with and without drying) indicated no growth on all tested instruments, locations and concentrations of contamination, while the positive controls showed growth. Handpiece oil had no effect on the lethality of the sterilization process.

In contrast, use of 80°C hot air oven for 10 min: S. *mutans* showed growth in both cases (with and without oil), after transferring the filter paper into TSB and incubating at 37°C for 24 h, as well as controls.

4.3.6.2 Spores

No viable spores were recovered, as there was no growth of bacteria from strips taken from the instruments subjected to the non-vacuum cycle, while positive controls as well as the helix PCD showed growth of the test organisms.

4.3.7 Handpiece test load experiments

Three non-vacuum sterilizers MS22 (W&H, Austria) were used in this series of tests. Pressure traces show that the cycle performed 8 positive pressure pulses at 1.6 bar. The overall cycle time was 40 minutes with a plateau time of 4 min at 134°C (Figure 4-25). No BI fails and no CI fails were found in any of the 324 test samples (Tables 4-2 - 4-7). No differences were observed between the small load (0.5 kg) and the manufacturer's recommended full load (2 kg). Time difference between handpieces and chamber reaching sterilization temperature ranged from -1 - 3 sec. Therefore, all 36 handpieces tested performed

thermometric passes, using three different analysis methods, while CIs in the BDT passed and failed in the helix PCD.



Figure 4-25 Cycle profile of non-vacuum sterilizer MS22 (W&H), total cycle time is 40 minutes with a plateau time of 4 min (black=pressure, blue=free chamber space, light green, dark green=inside handpiece), the horizontal orange line indicates sterilization temperature 134°C

Chapter 4

Three non-vacuum Alpha (Prestige) were tested. The cycle profile did not show pressure pulses and the overall cycle time was 35 minutes with a plateau time of 3.5 min at 134°C (Figure 4-26). Out of 342 samples tested there were five BI fails and six CI fails (Tables 4-8 - 4-13). No differences were observed between small load (0.5 kg) and full load (6 kg as per manufacturer's instructions). Time difference between handpieces and chamber (N= 38) reaching the optimum (range = 25 - 40 sec) resulted in thermometric fails in addition the CI in the BDT and helix PCD failed.



Figure 4-26 Cycle profile of non-vacuum sterilizer Alpha (Prestige), total cycle time is 35 minutes with a plateau time of 3.5 min (black=pressure, blue=free chamber space, light green, dark green=inside handpiece), the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134-137°C

Chapter 4

Three non-vacuum Kronos (Newmed) were tested. Pressure traces show steam injection (3 positive pressure pulses at 2 bar). The overall cycle time was 30 minutes with a plateau time of 6.5 min at 134°C (Figure 4-27). One BI failed but no CI fails were found in any of the 324 samples tested (Tables 4-14 - 4-19).

No differences were observed between the small load (0.5 kg) and the manufacturer's recommended 4 kg full load. Time difference between the 36 handpieces tested and chamber ranged from 25 - 39 sec. There were 36 thermometric fails and both the BDT and the helix PCD failed.



Figure 4-27 Cycle profile of non-vacuum sterilizer Kronos (Newmed), total cycle time is 30 minutes with a plateau time of 6.5 min (black=pressure, blue=free chamber space, light green, dark green=inside handpiece), the horizontal red line indicates sterilization temperature 134°C

Three non-vacuum Little Sister 3 (Eschmann) were tested. Pressure traces show no pressure pulses .The overall cycle time was 17 - 20 minutes with a plateau time of 3.5 - 6.5 min at 134°C (Figure 4-28). Seven BI fails and two CI fails were found in 162 samples (Tables 4-20 - 4-22). A full load of 5 kg (as per manufacturer's instructions) was not tested because the sterilizers failed the cycle with full loads. The time difference between 18 handpieces and chamber ranged from 15 - 100 sec and resulted in 18 thermometric fails according to Perkins and BS EN 13060:2014 and 16 fails according to SHTM 2010. Furthermore BDT and helix PCD also failed.



Figure 4-28 Cycle profile of non-vacuum sterilizer Little Sister 3 (Eschmann), total cycle time is 17-20 minutes with a plateau time ranges from 3.5 – 6.5 min (black=pressure, blue=free chamber space, light green, dark green=inside handpiece), the horizontal orange line indicates sterilization temperature 134°C

Chapter 4

Three vacuum Lisa (W&H, Austria) were tested. Pressure traces show three vacuum pulses at 0.2 bar and the overall cycle time was 30 - 45 minutes with a plateau time of 4 min and 10 sec at 134°C (Figure 4-29). No BI fails and two CI fails were found in 342 samples (Tables 4-23 - 4-28). Small loads (0.5 kg) and recommended full load (4.5 kg) did not show differences. Time difference between handpieces and chamber ranged from 0 - 3 sec. All 36 tested handpieces constituted thermometric passes and BDT and helix PCD passed.



Figure 4-29 Cycle profile of non-vacuum sterilizer Lisa (W&H), total cycle time is 30-45 minutes with a plateau time of 4.5 min (black=pressure, blue=free chamber space, light green, dark green=inside handpiece), the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization temperature range of 134-137°C

Summaries of results are shown in tables 4-29 and 4-30.

Sterilizer W&H	Cycle Number (small load/tray only)					
Model: MS22	00333		00334	00334		
SN: 113512	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
Head	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
WA-56	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1
	 Image: A second s	1	1	✓	1	1
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×

Table 4-2 Result summary W&H N type sterilizer 1 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer W&H	Cycle I	Cycle Number (full load/2 kg)						
Model: MS22	00336		00337		00338			
SN: 113512	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Head	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
S11	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
S11	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 4-3 Result summary W&H N type sterilizer 1 full load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer W&H	Cycle N	Cycle Number (small load/tray only)						
Model: MS22	00010		00011	00011				
SN: 122223	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
Head	1	1	1	✓	1	1		
	1	1	1	✓	1	1		
TA-98	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
Air Channel	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	✓	1	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1		
S11	1	1	1	✓	1	1		
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	✓	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
S11	1	1	1	✓	1	1		
Back	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	✓	1	1		
WA-56	1	✓	1	1	1	✓		
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	✓	1	1	1	1		
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 4-4 Result summary W&H N type sterilizer 2 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer W&H	Cycle I	Cycle Number (full load/2 kg)						
Model: MS22	00013		00014		00015			
SN: 122223	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1		
Head	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Air Channel	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
CI: Spray Channels	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
S11	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
Chuck Lever	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1		
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 4-5 Result summary W&H N type sterilizer 2 full load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer W&H	Cycle Number (small load/tray only)						
Model: MS22	00009		00010	00010			
SN: 122224	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI	
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Head	1	1	1	1	1	1	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1	
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1	
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1	
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	1	1	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1	
	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Inside	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×	

Table 4-6 Result summary W&H N type sterilizer 3 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer W&H	Cycle I	Cycle Number (full load/2 kg)						
Model: MS22	00012		00013		00014			
SN: 122224	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	 Image: A second s	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
Head	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	 Image: A second s	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Air Channel	 Image: A second s	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
CI: Spray Channels	 Image: A second s	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1		
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Chuck Lever	 Image: A second s	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Back	 Image: A second s	1	1	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
WA-56	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
Inside	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 4-7 Result summary W&H N type sterilizer 3 full load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer Prestige	Cycle Number (small load/tray only)							
Model: Alpha	0004		0005		0006		0007	
SN: 14070405	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI
TA-98	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1	1
Head	1	1	✓	1	1	✓	✓	1
	1	1	✓	1	1	✓	✓	1
TA-98	1	1	X	1	1	✓	✓	1
Air Channel	1	1	✓	1	1	✓	1	1
	1	1	✓	1	1	✓	✓	1
TA-98	1	1	✓	1	1	✓	✓	×
CI: Spray Channels	×	1	✓	1	1	✓	1	1
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	~	~	1	1	1	1
S11	1	1	✓	1	1	✓	1	1
Chuck Lever	1	1	✓	1	1	✓	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	×	1	×	×	×	✓	1	1
Back	1	1	✓	1	1	✓	✓	1
	1	1	✓	1	1	✓	✓	1
WA-56	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1	1
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	✓	1	1	1	1	1	1
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×

Table 4-8 Result summary Prestige N type sterilizer 1 small load; growth in 2/72, CI fail in 5/72, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer Prestige	Cycle N	Cycle Number (full load/6 kg)						
Model: Alpha	0008	0008		0009				
SN: 14070405	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	 Image: A second s	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
Head	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
TA-98	 Image: A second s	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
Air Channel	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
	1	 Image: A second s	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
CI: Spray Channels	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
S11	1	1	1	1	✓	×		
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
S11	1	1	1	×	✓	×		
Back	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
WA-56	1	 Image: A second s	1	 ✓ 	1	×		
Inside	1	 Image: A second s	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
	1	 Image: A second s	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 4-9 Result summary Prestige N type sterilizer 1 full load; growth in 3/54, CI fail in 1/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer Prestige	Cycle N	Cycle Number (small load/tray only)						
Model: Alpha	0004		0005		0006			
SN: 14082608	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
Head	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1		
S11	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
S11	X	1	1	1	✓	1		
Back	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	✓	✓	1		
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 4-10 Result summary Prestige N type sterilizer 2 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 1/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer Prestige	Cycle N	Cycle Number (full load/6 kg)						
Model: Alpha	0007	0007		0008				
SN: 14082608	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Head	1	1	1	✓	✓	 ✓ 		
	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	✓	✓	 ✓ 		
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Chuck Lever	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	✓	✓	×		
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Back	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1	1		
	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1	1		
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Inside	1	1	1	✓	✓	 ✓ 		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 4-11 Result summary Prestige N type sterilizer 2 full load; growth in 1/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (<= pass, ×= fail)

Sterilizer Prestige	Cycle N	Cycle Number (small load/tray only)						
Model: Alpha	0004		0005	0005				
SN: 14082609	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
Head	 Image: A second s	✓	1	1	✓	1		
	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Air Channel	1	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1		
	1	 Image: A second s	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
TA-98	1	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1		
CI: Spray Channels	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	 Image: A second s	✓	1	1	✓	1		
S11	 Image: A second s	✓	1	1	✓	1		
Chuck Lever	 Image: A second s	✓	1	1	✓	1		
	1	1	1	×	✓	1		
S11	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
Back	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
	 Image: A second s	✓	1	1	✓	1		
WA-56	 Image: A second s	✓	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
Inside	 Image: A second s	✓	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
	 Image: A second s	✓	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 4-12 Result summary Prestige N type sterilizer 3 small load; growth in 1/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer Prestige	Cycle I	Cycle Number (full load/6 kg)							
Model: Alpha	0007		0008	0008					
SN: 14082609	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Head	1	1	✓	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	✓	1	1	1			
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	~	1			
S11	1	1	1	1	~	1			
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1			
	1	1	1	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1			
S11	1	1	1	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1			
Back	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1			
	1	✓	1	1	~	1			
WA-56	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1			
Inside	1	1	1	✓	1	1			
	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1			
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×			

Table 4-13 Result summary Prestige N type sterilizer 3 full load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer Newmed	Cycle Ni	Cycle Number (small load/tray only)							
Model: Kronos N18	80000		00009	00009					
SN: UKN18D0450	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Head	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1			
	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1			
TA-98	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1			
Air Channel	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1			
	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1			
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1			
S11	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1			
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1			
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1			
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×			

Table 4-14 Result summary Newmed N type sterilizer 1 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer Newmed	Cycle I	Cycle Number (full load/4 kg)							
Model: Kronos N18	00011	00011		00012					
SN: UKN18D0450	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
Head	1	✓	1	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
S11	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
S11	1	×	1	1	✓	1			
Back	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×			

Table 4-15 Result summary Newmed N type sterilizer 1 full load; growth in 1/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (🗸 = pass, 🗴 = fail)

Sterilizer Newmed	Cycle N	Cycle Number (small load/tray only)							
Model: Kronos N18	00017		00018	00018					
SN: UKN18D1604	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI			
TA-98	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
Head	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Air Channel	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	✓	1	1	1	1	1			
CI: Spray Channels	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
BI: Air Channel plastic	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
S11	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
Chuck Lever	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
S11	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
Back	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
WA-56	✓	1	1	1	1	1			
Inside	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×			

Table 4-16 Result summary Newmed N type sterilizer 2 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (- = pass, - = fail)

Sterilizer Newmed	Cycle I	Cycle Number (full load/4 kg)							
Model: Kronos N18	00020		00021	00021					
SN: UKN18D1604	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Head	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1			
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	✓	1	1	1	1			
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Inside	1	✓	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×			

Table 4-17 Result summary Newmed N type sterilizer 2 full load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (🗸 = pass, 🗴 = fail)

Sterilizer Newmed	Cycle N	Cycle Number (small load/tray only)							
Model: Kronos N18	00015		00017	00017					
SN: UKN18D1605	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI			
TA-98	✓	1	1	1	1	1			
Head	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1	1			
	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Air Channel	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
CI: Spray Channels	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1	1			
BI: Air Channel plastic	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
S11	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
Chuck Lever	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1	1			
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
S11	✓	1	1	1	1	1			
Back	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1	1			
	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1			
WA-56	✓	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1			
Inside	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1			
	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1			
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×			

Table 4-18 Result summary Newmed N type sterilizer 3 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (- = pass, - = fail)

Sterilizer Newmed	Cycle N	Cycle Number (full load/4 kg)							
Model: Kronos N18	00019		00020	00020					
SN: UKN18D1605	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Head	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1			
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	✓	1	1			
S11	1	1	1	✓	1	1			
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	✓	1	1			
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×			

Table 4-19 Result summary Newmed N type sterilizer 3 full load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (🗸 = pass, 🗴 = fail)

Sterilizer Eschmann	Cycle Ni	umber (sma	ll load/tr	l load/tray only)				
Model: Little Sister 3	00188		00189		00190			
SN LCC6B1520	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Head	1	✓	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	✓	1	1	1	1		
Air Channel	1	✓	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	✓	1	1	1	1		
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	✓	1	1	1	1		
S11	X	×	1	×	1	1		
Chuck Lever	1	×	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
S11	1	✓	1	1	1	1		
Back	1	✓	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
WA-56	1	<i>✓</i>	1	1	1	1		
Inside	X	×	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 4-20 Result summary Eschmann N type sterilizer 1 small load; growth in 4/54, CI fail in 2/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, < = fail)

Sterilizer Eschmann	Cycle N	lumber (sm	all load/t	load/tray only)				
Model: Little Sister 3	06191		06192	06192				
SN LSK0E3582	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Head	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Chuck Lever	1	X	1	1	1	1		
	1	×	1	1	✓	1		
S11	1	1	1	1	1	×		
Back	1	1	1	1	✓	1		
	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	✓	1		
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1		
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 4-21 Result summary Eschmann N type sterilizer 2 small load; growth in 3/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, < = fail)

Sterilizer Eschmann	Cycle N	lumber (sm				
Model: Little Sister 3	W4242		W424	W4243		1
SN LCB8D1031	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
Head	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	✓	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	✓	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	1	1	1	1	✓	1
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	✓	1
S11	1	1	1	1	✓	1
Back	1	1	1	1	✓	1
	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1	1
WA-56	✓	1	1	1	1	1
Inside	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×

Table 4-22 Result summary Eschmann N type sterilizer 3 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, < = fail)

Sterilizer W&H	Cycle N	Cycle Number (small load/tray only)							
Model: Lisa 517	00338		00339		00340				
SN 09-0602	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI			
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Head	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	✓	1			
TA-98	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	✓	1			
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
	1	1	1	 ✓ 	✓	1			
TA-98	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	✓	1			
CI: Spray Channels	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	✓	1			
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1			
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1			
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
S11	1	1	1	1	✓	1			
Back	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	✓	1			
	1	1	1	 ✓ 	1	1			
WA-56	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1			
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	 ✓ 	1	1			
Helix (Browne)	1	1	1	1	1	✓			

Table 4-23 Result summary W&H B type sterilizer 1 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer W&H	Cycle N	Cycle Number (full load/4.5 kg)							
Model: Lisa 517	00342		00343	00343					
SN 09-0602	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI			
TA-98	1	✓	1	1	1	1			
Head	1	✓	1	1	1	1			
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
Air Channel	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
TA-98	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
CI: Spray Channels	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	✓	1	1	1	1			
S11	1	✓	1	1	1	1			
Chuck Lever	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	✓	1	1	1	1			
S11	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
Back	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
	1	1	1	1	1	1			
WA-56	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
Inside	 Image: A second s	1	1	✓	1	1			
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1			
Helix (Browne)	1	1	1	1	1	1			

Table 4-24 Result summary W&H B type sterilizer 1 full load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)
Sterilizer W&H	Cycle Nu	umber (sm	all load/t	ray only)		
Model: Lisa 517	00422		00423		00424	
SN 07-1079	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI
TA-98	✓	1	1	1	X	1
Head	 Image: A second s	1	×	1	1	 ✓
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	✓	1	1	1	1	1
Air Channel	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
CI: Spray Channels	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
BI: Air Channel plastic	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	 ✓
S11	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
Chuck Lever	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	 ✓
S11	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
Back	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
	 Image: A second s	✓	1	1	1	 ✓
WA-56	✓	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1
Inside	 Image: A second s	✓	1	1	1	1
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
Helix (Browne)	1	1	1	1	1	1

Table 4-25 Result summary W&H B type sterilizer 2 small load; growth in 2/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer W&H	Cycle N	lumber (fu	Ill load/4.	5 kg)		
Model: Lisa 517	00425		00426		00427	
SN 07-1079	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI
TA-98	1	1	1	1	✓	1
Head	1	1	1	1	✓	1
	1	1	1	1	✓	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	✓	1
	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	✓	1
S11	1	1	1	1	✓	1
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	✓	1
	1	1	1	1	✓	1
S11	1	1	1	1	✓	1
Back	1	1	1	1	✓	1
	1	1	1	1	✓	1
WA-56	 Image: A second s	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1
	 Image: A second s	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1
Helix (Browne)	1	1	1	1	1	1

Table 4-26 Result summary W&H B type sterilizer 2 full load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer W&H	Cycle Nu	ımber (sma	ll load/tra	y only)		
Model: Lisa 517	00007		00008		00009	
SN 121316	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI
TA-98	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
Head	1	1	1	1	1	1
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
Air Channel	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
	✓	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	✓	1	1	1	1	1
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
Chuck Lever	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
Back	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
WA-56	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
Inside	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
Helix (Browne)	1	1	1	1	1	✓

Table 4-27 Result summary W&H B type sterilizer 3 small load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Sterilizer W&H	Cycle N	lumber (fu	Ill load/4.	5 kg)		
Model: Lisa 517	00010		00011		00012	
SN 121316	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
Head	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	 ✓ 	1	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	 ✓ 	1	1
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	 ✓ 	1	1
WA-56	1	1	1	 ✓ 	1	1
Inside	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	1
Helix (Browne)	1	1	1	1	1	✓

Table 4-28 Result summary W&H B type sterilizer 3 full load; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

full loads) Sterilizer	BI fails	CI fails	Thermometric	Thermometric	Thermometric
			fails	fails	fails
N=3					
11-5			(>3 sec)*	(>15 sec)*	(>2°C)*
			(*5 360)	(*15 300)	(20)
Newmed	1/324	0/324	36/36	36/36	9/36
Kronos					
Prestige	7 (2 (2	7 (2 (2	20 (20	20/20	24/20
Alpha	7/342	7/342	38/38	38/38	26/38
W&H MS22	0/324	0/324	0/36	0/36	0/36
Eschmann					
Little	7/162	2/162	18/18	18/18	16/18
	77102	2/102	10/10	10/10	10/10
Sister3					
Total	15/1152	9/1152	92/128	92/128	51/128
Total fails	1	1	72	72	40
(%)			12	12	40
*D (/					

Table 4-29 Summary of BI, CI and thermometric fails in non-vacuum sterilizers (small and full loads)

*Refer to section 4.2.7

Sterilizer	BI	CI	Thermometric	Thermometric	Thermometric
			fails	fails	fails
N=3	fails	fails			
			(>3 sec)*	(>15 sec)*	(>2°C)*
W&H Lisa	0/324	2/324	0/36	0/36	0/36
Total fails	0		0		
(%)	0	1	0	0	0

Table 4-30 Summary of BI, CI and thermometric fails in vacuum sterilizers (small and full	
loads)	

*Refer to section 4.2.7

4.4 Discussion

These investigations of steam penetration into lumens clearly showed that saturated steam penetrates lumens more successfully in vacuum cycles (J P C M van Doornmalen, 2013, Kaiser U., 1998) and that non-vacuum processes are unreliable (non-vacuum processes showed 15/1152 BI fails, 9/1152 CI fails and 51-92/128 thermometric fails, while vacuum processes showed 0/324 BI fails, 2/324 CI fails and 0/36 thermometric fails). Preliminary experiments recording temperature traces from inside the handpieces determined that it made little difference whether chambers were preheated or not to the delay for handpieces to reach the same temperature as the chamber interior. Thermometric measurements showed that the plateau time for the Little Sister 3 (Eschmann), which was used for most non-vacuum cycles, lasted over 6 min because the chamber did not start 'sterilizing' phase until the chamber reached 135.5°C (personal conversation Dave Whiteford, Eschmann). Both types of thermocouples as well as data loggers showed that the time lag is greatest in position C (50-100 sec), which is located in the plastic component of the handpiece. This suggests that heat conductivity may play a role in this particular case. The fact that data loggers and thermocouples show identical readings provided an independent method of validation for each device. Measurements from inside the spray channels showed a lag of up to 74 sec. This suggested, that all lumens inside a high-speed turbine pose a challenge for steam penetration. Two additional highspeed turbines and two slow-speed motors were assessed, which showed a time difference compared to the chamber ranging from -8 - 147 sec. As a control, temperature was recorded in three locations within the BDT, which is designed to challenge air removal. Temperatures recorded in the centre and the bottom of the pack indicated that they did not achieve sterilization parameters in a nonvacuum sterilization process. Experiments with the manufacturers recommended 5 kg full load, for Little Sister 3 (Eschmann) were unsuccessful, due to the fact that the cycle failed to reach the appropriate temperature and the process was aborted while the maximum recommended weight was still in the chamber. Recordings taken at different locations in the handpieces and the BDT using the non-vacuum cycle were compared to a vacuum sterilization process, which showed time differences of -1 - 3 sec in the handpieces compared to the chamber in all tested locations. The time difference observed in the non-vacuum

cycle may indicate that residual air inside the handpieces delayed the increase in temperature. This result indicates that it is inadvisable to process handpieces in a non-vacuum sterilizer. Measuring temperature and pressure only in order to investigate presence of saturated steam was found to be insufficient (J.P.C.M. van Doornmalen, 2014).

In order to determine a more suitable method to investigate what happens inside a handpiece during sterilization processes, CI and BI were used inside different handpieces. Using a non-vacuum sterilization cycle, all CI within the different handpieces performed a colour change indicating pass conditions, while CI in PCD (helix) failed to change colour, indicating unsuccessful sterilization conditions. These results suggest successful steam penetration into handpieces, however, results reported in chapter 3 on the response and sensitivity of chemical indicators showed that these findings should be interpreted with care, i.e. occurrence of false positives. No literature on the use of CI in dental handpieces has been found.

Vegetative bacteria were identified in dental instruments after patient treatment Dreyer and Hauman, 2001, Kellett and Holbrook, 1980 and Larsen et al., 1997 found that bacteria and endospores survived in dental air turbines after type N sterilization processes (Dreyer and Hauman, 2001, Kellett and Holbrook, 1980, Larsen et al., 1997). For these reasons human saliva, S. aureus and S. mutans were used as contaminants in high-speed turbines in-vitro. The nonvacuum cycle resulted in inactivation of these contaminants. The fact that the non-vacuum process used inactivated BI in turbines but not in the PCD (helix, BDT) suggests that the lumens of dental handpieces were successfully sterilized. The BI results indicate only a $10^4 - 10^5$ reduction of spores. Therefore, a sterility assurance level (SAL) is not achieved. However, CI and BI results did not agree with thermometric measurements. Therefore, four different non-vacuum sterilizers were tested using a test set up including different handpiece types with CI, BI, and data loggers and these tests were repeated in vacuum process for comparison purposes. BI and CI fails were found in three out of four nonvacuum sterilizers. One type of non-vacuum sterilizer was capable of inactivation of spores in all tests and showed pass conditions in all CI. However, three out of four non-vacuum models resulted in thermometric fails for all handpieces tested. The different non-vacuum cycles used showed a variation in

time at plateau temperature at 134°C, ranging from 3.5 to 6.5 min, which may impact on microbial inactivation. While a single non-vacuum sterilizer passed the BDT and showed no thermometric fails, the CI and BI that had been placed in helix PCDs failed in all four non-vacuum models. The vacuum sterilization cycle used as a control successfully inactivated all BI and passed all, except two CI (incl. helix PCD). This agrees with findings by Andersen et al., who found that different small non-vacuum sterilizers show different results (Andersen et al., 1999). It was also shown that a vacuum cycle inactivates spores of *G*. *stearothermophilus* (Skaug and Kalager, 1986).

The wide range of time required for the inside of different handpieces to reach sterilization temperature is probably caused by differences in construction of different handpiece models. The evidence shows not all handpieces can be sterilized successfully in all non-vacuum cycles and that vacuum cycles should be used in order to achieve a SAL of 10⁻⁶ (556-1:2001, BS EN, 13060:2014, BS EN). In addition, the advantage observed by using data loggers to record temperature inside handpieces is that the sensing ends are insulated to make sure that the metal end does not have contact with metal surfaces, which may interfere with the recording. The use of data loggers is more efficient in terms of time, due to the fact that the use of thermocouples requires breaking seals of sterilizers and sensing ends of thermocouples are more prone to breakage, which requires recalibration. Therefore, data loggers were considered more practical for further in-vitro investigations such as those performed in General dental practice (GDP) and described in chapter 6.

Chapter 5 - Investigating steam penetration into lumens under controlled conditions

5.1 Introduction

Dental handpieces have been classed as medical devices by the Medical Devices Directive (MDD, 1993). Several standards detail conditions for sterilizing medical devices (556-1:2001, BS EN), design and requirements for large and small steam sterilizers (285:2006+A2:2009, BS EN, 13060:2014, BS EN), chemical indicators (11140-1:2009, BS EN ISO), biological indicators (11138-1:2006, BS EN ISO) and process challenge devices (867-4:2001, BS EN, 867-5:2001, BS EN). Recommendations for the requirements to reprocess medical devices, published in 2012 by the Robert Koch-Institut (RKI, 2005) in cooperation with the Bundesinstitut für Arzneimittel und Medizinprodukte (BfArM), dental handpieces were described as "semicritical/critical A" (assessment, treatment) or "semicritical/critical B" (invasive treatment, operation, endoscopy). The Centers for Disease Control and prevention (CDC) published "Guidelines for Infection Control in Dental Health-Care Settings" in 2003 (CDC, 2003), where dental handpieces were classed as "semi-critical", which is defined as a medical device, which touches the mucus membrane but does not penetrate soft tissue and therefore poses a lower risk of transmitting diseases than "critical" items. These documents, as well as requirements by the British Dental Association (BDA) and guidelines in the Health Technical Memorandum "Decontamination in primary care dental practices" address the requirement for dental handpieces to be decontaminated and maintained in order to avoid cross infections and provide health and safety of patients and staff in dental practice (BDA, 2013, SHTM, 2010). However, cleaning as well as steam sterilization of dental handpieces is challenging, due to their multiple internal components and lumens, which are difficult to be accessed by steam. Critical parameters for steam sterilization are 134°C for 3 minutes (based on Perkins, 1956 and the 1st MRC report, published in 1959) at a chamber pressure of 2.2 bar, as described in BS EN 556-1:2001 "Sterilization of medical devices - Requirements for medical devices to be designed "sterile"" (Perkins, 1983, MRC, 1959, 556-1:2001, BS EN).

As stated above, several researchers have shown in their investigations that steam penetration of lumens is difficult to achieve. They have used infrared spectroscopic measurements (van Doornmalen and Kopinga, 2009, J P C M van Doornmalen, 2013) and have used PCD with metal lumens using CI

(J P C M van Doornmalen, 2013, J.P.C.M. van Doornmalen, 2013, J.P.C.M. van Doornmalen, 2012). Most studies were performed with lumens with one open and one blind end. However, dental handpieces have two open ends. Kaiser et al. 1998 compared blind ended lumens to lumens with two open ends in steam sterilization processes and found that a blind ended lumen behaves like a lumen with two open ends double the length (Kaiser U., 1998), while others established that current PCD for hollow loads are not a realistic challenge in terms of length and diameter (S. Esen, 2012a).

In addition to the challenge of sterilizing hollow devices, little is known about the effect of handpiece maintenance oil on the D value of microorganisms and therefore the efficacy of the steam sterilization process. However, Halleck et al. found that oil (Mobil DTE 25, Mobile Oil Corp., New York, NY) increases the D value of *Geobacillus stearothermophilus* from 2.5 to 5.6 at a temperature of 250°F (121°C) and from 0.2 to 0.7 at 270°F (132°C) (Halleck et al., 1979). The choice of BI carrier has great impact on their performance as well. The carrier of the BI should not affect or be affected by the sterilization process, which means that if the carrier itself reacts to the process, it might change conditions for the BI. Filter paper is not an ideal choice, due to the tendency of celluloses to overheat when exposed to steam, which changes conditions for the BI. Even the smallest overheating of the carrier can alter the BI performance. Therefore, glass fibre fleece is a more promising carrier.

In terms of reaction of different spores to the parameters it can be said that *Bacillus stearothermophilus* showed a lower sensitivity to the choice of carrier and level of saturation of steam than *Bacillus subtilis*. However, using a BI with a lower sensitivity towards levels of saturation of steam might result in an "oversight" of a problem. An ideal BI should have the heat resistance of *Bacillus stearothermophilus* and possess the sensitivity to different conditions of *Bacillus subtilis* (Spicher et al., 1999).

Maintenance of dental handpieces includes, according to the manufacturers' instructions, internal lubrication prior sterilization. An example of the protective effect of oils on microorganisms has been published by Senhaji and Loncin in "The protective effect of fat on the heat resistance of bacteria" in 1977, where

they describe that heat resistance of Bacillus subtilis is greatest in the presence of oil and the absence of water (Senhaji, 1977).

Although there are several legislations, standards, guidelines and recommendations (134°C, 3 min, 2.2 bar), many different cycle profiles for steam sterilization processes exist. Rutala et al., 2008 reported steam sterilization at 134°C for 4 minutes using a vacuum sterilization process (vacuum depth not specified) to be effective for sterilizing surgical instruments lubricated with refined mineral oil (98%) (Rutala et al., 2008), while Hegna et al., 1978 reported a sterilization process at 134°C for 8 min in a large vacuum sterilizer (vacuum depth not specified) to be sufficient to sterilize lubricated and non-lubricated dental handpieces. Intraspray (Kavo) was used to lubricate the handpieces (Hegna et al., 1978).

Halleck et al., 1979 recommended vacuum sterilization processes for lumen devices. However, most dental practices still use a non-vacuum sterilization process (Smith et al., 2009a), which raised the research question of whether handpiece oil influences steam sterilization using non-vacuum sterilization.

The aim of this study was to investigate the influence of handpiece lubricating oil on *G. stearothermophilus* spore inactivation on stainless steel surfaces and in dental handpieces during steam sterilization processes. In order to investigate different sterilization cycle profiles, a biological indicator evaluation resistometer (BIER vessel) was used, to individually program exposure time, number and depth of vacuum pulses. Furthermore, steam penetration into lumens of different material, length and diameter using non-vacuum sterilization cycles with different times at plateau temperature was investigated by using CI, BI and performing temperature measurements.

5.2 Material and Methods

5.2.1 Monitoring steam penetration into lumens - different materials, diameters and times at plateau temperature in non-vacuum sterilization using thermometric measurements, CI and BI

This section attempts to answer the research question whether material, diameter and length of lumens influence internal temperature during sterilization process in a non-vacuum sterilizer. This question was addressed by several approaches. Silicone and plastic models of handpieces with a different mass and thermal conductivity were compared to handpieces during a nonvacuum sterilization cycle. Tubes of common process challenge device (Helix) were cut into different lengths and used for investigating temperature measurements and CI assessment. Three different handpiece types were used in non-vacuum sterilization cycles with different plateau periods in order to assess CI and BI behaviour in different locations within the different handpiece types.

5.2.1.1 Plastic and silicone handpieces

Type T thermocouples (for calibration and general details see chapter 4, section 4.2.2) were inserted into the centre of the lumens (d = 2.3 mm) of two different silicone handpiece models (18g) (Figure 5-1), one open on one end (green) and one open on both ends (yellow), made from a vinylpolysiloxane type 3 low consistency light-body impression material (Kerr Extrude), and a dental handpiece (TA-98 C LED, W&H, Austria) (42 g). Non-vacuum sterilization using a Little Sister 3 (Eschmann) followed and temperature traces were compared to chamber temperature.



Figure 5-1 Silicone handpiece A open on one end and B open on both ends, back of silicone handpiece showing one air channel (D=2.3 mm) and two spray channels (D=0.9 mm)

The same experimental setup was performed with two 3D printed plastic models of handpieces (Figure 5-2) with the same thermal conductivity as a handpiece (provided by W&H, Austria), which have the same mass as the handpiece (42 g). Again the temperature traces were compared to a TA-98 C LED and chamber temperature.



Figure 5-2 3D printed plastic handpiece x2 open on one end channel diameter of 0.9 mm

5.2.1.2 Helix process challenge device

Common PCDs for small steam sterilizers (867-5:2001, BS EN) were used for these experiments. The helix PCD (Albert Browne Ltd., UK) consists of a PTFE

tube (l=1500 mm, d=2 mm) and a capsule on one end (Figure 5-3), which accommodates a chemical indicator strip.



Figure 5-3 Helix pcd with tube cut down to 94 mm

Thermocouples were inserted 30 cm into the tubes of two helix PCDs (Browne). This PCD complies with the standard in terms of dimensions (867-5:2001, BS EN):

- Wall thickness: (0,5 ± 0,025) mm;
- Internal diameter: (2,0 ± 0,1) mm
- Length: (1 500 ± 15) mm
- Capsule mass: (10,0 ± 0,1) g
- Free capsule volume: (6 \pm 1) % of the total internal volume minus the capsule volume
- Material of construction: Polytetrafluorethylene (PTFE).

21 non-vacuum cycles were performed in a Little Sister 3 (Eschmann, UK). After six cycles the tubes of both PCDs were cut from 1500 mm to a length of 750 mm. Four cycles in the N type sterilizer were performed before cutting the tubes down to 375 mm. After three runs the tubes were cut to a length of 188 mm and nine cycles followed. At a length of 94 mm, which equals the length of a handpiece, another three cycles were performed. After each cycle, chemical indicators from inside the PCD's capsules were visually assessed. Temperature traces were recorded and compared to the chamber temperature. The reason for the inconsistency in the number of cycles is that the thermocouples and/or ports of the logger broke. In order to obtain thermocouple readings however, experiments had to be repeated. The chemical indicators were assessed, with and without the temperature traces.

5.2.1.3 Sterilization at shortened plateau times

The standard test load for handpiece sterilization was used for these experiments (for details refer to chapter 2, section 2.1.8). Chamber controls of BI (mini spore strips, D_{121} =2.2 min, Excelsior) and CI (helix CI, Browne) as well as two Browne TST CI for non-vacuum sterilization cycles (reacting to presence of steam, temperature and time, according to the manufacturer) were included in each cycle. Non-vacuum cycles with plateau times of 0, 0.5, 1, 2 and 3 min were performed using a Little Sister 3, (Eschmann). As soon as the display on the sterilizer indicated 134°C, a stopwatch was started and after 0, 0.5, 1, 2 or 3 min the cycle was aborted. Experiments were performed in triplicate.

5.2.2 Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores

In this section, the following questions were investigated in order to determine the influence of handpiece oil on spore inactivation using different steam sterilization cycles in a BIER/CIER vessel:

What effects do different steam sterilization cycle profiles have on the survival of *Geobacillus stearothermophilus* spores, which had been dried on stainless steel wires then inserted into spray channels of dental high-speed turbines and covered in f1 service oil?

What effect does an exposure time of 3 min at 134°C have on the survival of *Geobacillus stearothermophilus* spores dried and covered in f1 service oil on stainless steel tokens with different surface finishes?

5.2.2.1 Preparation

Cleaning of stainless steel wires (stainless steel 316, d=0.2 mm, l=122 cm, Cadence Science, Baltimore, MD, USA): The wires were soaked in enzymatic soap solution (Metrizyme, Metrex, CA, USA) for at least 1 min at room temperature (RT), wiped clean using a cotton cloth until no residues were visible on the cloth. This was followed by a hot water rinse and three rinses using distilled water. Wires were left to dry for 30 - 60 min in a laminar flow hood.

Cleaning of stainless steel tokens: Tokens were soaked in enzymatic soap (Metrizyme, Metrex, CA, USA) solution for at least 1 min, sonicated for 20 min (Branson 2200, CA, USA), followed by a hot water rinse and three rinses using distilled water. Tokens were left to dry for 30 - 60 min in a laminar flow hood.

Preparation of spore solution: Tenfold dilutions of spore solution in water (spore crop ID "S718", 3M, St. Paul, MN, USA) harvested from cultures on agar, provided by 3M, St. Paul, MN, USA) with a D-value of D_{121} = 2.2 min, were performed and plated onto TSA (tryptic soy agar, Remel, Lenexa, KS, USA) plates in duplicate and incubated at 66°C for up to 24 h (Mechanical Convection Incubator, Precision). Plates with colonies between 30 and 300 colony forming units (cfu) were counted and the stock solution was calculated to have a spore

population of 2.3 x 10^8 spores/ml. However, according to the standard (EN ISO 11138-1:2006), the spore population can range from 50% to 300% from the spore count, due to potential aggregation of the spores. Therefore the range of the stock spore solution was determined to be between $1.15 \times 10^8 - 6.9 \times 10^8$ spores/ml. The stock solution was diluted in 20% Ethanol in Millipore H₂O solution, to a range of $5.8 \times 10^7 - 3.5 \times 10^8$ spores/ml, in order to dry on stainless steel wires over night. The standard inoculum was $10 \ \mu$ L of spore solution (range: $5.8 \times 10^5 - 3.5 \times 10^6$ spores).

5.2.2.2 Effect of steam on spores inoculated into dental handpiece lumens and coated with oil

10 μ L of *G. stearothermophilus* spores (range: $5.8 \times 10^5 - 3.5 \times 10^6$ spores) was inoculated, using gel loading pipette tips, onto stainless steel wires (d=0.2 mm), tightly screwed to a metal rack, and dried over night at room temperature (Figure 5-4). Stainless steel wires were cut to a length of 82 mm each and inserted into spray channels (d=0.9 mm, l=80 mm, V=50.8 mm³) of three handpieces (Figure 5-5), followed by inoculation of 10 μ L handpiece oil (synthetic hydrocarbon oil ester oil, f1 service oil, W&H, Austria) directly into each spray channel using a pipette and 200 μ L tips. A negative control comprising one handpiece with a wire in each spray channel without spores and a positive control comprising inoculated wire without sterilization were included and repeated three times.



Figure 5-4 Wires on rack inoculated with spores



Figure 5-5 Dental turbine spray channels inoculated with spore impregnated wires

Three different sterilization cycles were programmed using a BIER vessel (3M) and compared (Figures 5-6 to 5-8). The following equation was used to used to calculate integrated lethality (F_0)

 $F_0=t (10^{((T-121.1)/z)}),$

where t is the time interval of points of measurement; T is the temperature at the point of measurement; z is the z-value, assumed to be 10.

Further calculation of log reduction of the microbial population is performed by F_0/D_{121} (Pharmacopoeia, 2014).

Cycle 1: Non-vacuum cycle, no pre-vacuum, 3 min at 134° C, no post-vacuum, $F_0=114$ (52 log reduction)



Figure 5-6 Non-vacuum cycle resistometer (H&W) (total cycle time shown 12 min 3 sec)

Cycle 2: Vacuum cycle 1, one 45 mbar pre-vacuum pulse, 3 min at 134° C, one 65 mbar post-vacuum pulse, F₀=60 (27 log reduction)





Figure 5-7 Vacuum cycle 1 with 1 pre-vacuum pulse (total cycle time shown 5 min 8 sec)

Cycle 3: Vacuum cycle 2, ten 900 mbar pre-vacuum pulses, 3 min at 134° C, one 65 mbar post-vacuum pulse, F₀=60 (27 log reduction)



Figure 5-8 Vacuum cycle 2 resistometer 10 x 900 mbar pre-vacuum pulses (total cycle time shown 5 min 11 sec)

Cycles with an empty chamber were performed to investigate whether the load influenced the heat up time. Recovery of *G. stearothermophilus* was performed by transferring both wires into centrifuge tubes containing 50 ml of phosphate buffer saline (PBS) + 0.1% Tween 80), followed by 20 min sonication (Branson 2200, CA, USA), filtration (Micro Funnel filter unit, GN-6 membrane 0.45 μ m, Pall Life Science, USA) with two wash steps, using 50 ml of buffer, and placing the filter paper onto tryptic soy agar (TSA; Remel, Lenexa, KS, USA). Incubation was performed at 66°C for up to 48 h (Mechanical Convection Incubator, Precision), followed by counting colony forming units (cfu). Experiments were performed in triplicate and included negative controls (two cleaned wires and two cleaned spray channels (flushing with 2 ml of PBS + 0.1% Tween 80)) and positive controls (six contaminated wires, no sterilization). The sterilization processes were simulated using a biological indicator evaluation resistometer (H&W) at 3M (St. Paul, Minnesota, USA).

5.2.2.3 Effect of steam on spores inoculated onto tokens and coated with oil

Examination of the thermal death characteristics of *G. stearothermophilus* spores covered in a thin film of f1 service oil (W&H, Austria) was undertaken by applying 10 μ l of spores (range 5.8 x 10⁵ to 3.5 x 10⁶) to each stainless steel token with four different surface finishes: mirror, intermediate, rough and indented (Figures 5-9 and 5-10). After drying over night at 37°C (Mechanical Convection Incubator, Precision), 10 µl of f1 service oil were applied using a pipette with 200 µl tips. A typical resistometer steam sterilization cycle was performed (3 min exposure at 134°C, one 45 mbar pre-vacuum pulse, 3 min at 134° C, one 65 mbar post-vacuum pulse, F₀=61 (28 log reduction)). Recovery of G. stearothermophilus spores was performed by transferring each token into 50 ml PBS + 0.1% Tween 80, and sonicating for 20 min (Branson 2200, CA, USA), the eluate was then filtered (Micro Funnel filter unit, GN-6 membrane 0.45 µm, Pall Life Science, USA) and filtrate washed twice using 50 ml PBS. Filter papers were transferred onto TSA (tryptic soy agar, Remel, Lenexa, KS, USA) and incubation was performed at 66°C for up to 48 h (Mechanical Convection Incubator, Precision). Plates with between 30 and 300 colonies were counted for analysis.

Each cycle included three tokens of each type inoculated with spores and oil, one token of each type inoculated with spores only. As positive controls, three contaminated tokens of each type without oil and two contaminated tokens of each type with oil were assessed without sterilization. As negative controls: two cleaned tokens of each type were assessed. Experiments were performed in triplicate. The sterilization process was programmed using a resistometer (H&W) at 3M (St. Paul, Minnesota, USA).



Figure 5-9 Four different stainless steel tokens; RA1 = mirror finish, RA2 = intermediate roughness surface finish, RA3 = rough surface finish, RA4 = indented surface



Figure 5-10 Stainless steel tokens inoculated with spores; row A = mirror finish; row B = intermediate finish; row C = rough finish; row D indented

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Plastic and silicone handpieces

Compared to the chamber the time difference for in all tested silicon handpieces to reach the sterilization temperature ranged from -2 - 10 sec, while all tested plastic handpiece showed a time difference of 0 - 7 sec.

5.3.2 Helix process challenge device

The time difference between the chamber and the PCD over the entire length (1500 mm) of the tube was 9 sec - n/a (the temperature never reached 134°C) and all other lengths of helix tubes (table 5-1) ranged from -1 - 203 sec, while all the handpieces tested showed a time difference of -2 - 150 sec compared to the chamber. Table 5-1 shows CI results of helix experiments. No trend or significant difference was observed between the individual lengths of helix tube.

Length of tube	Number of cycles	Passes/assessed	Fails/assessed
(helix)	performed (two	helix Cl	helix Cl
	helixes per cycle)		
1500 mm	6	8/12 (66%)	4/12
750 mm	4	6/8 (75%)	2/8
375 mm	3	3/6 (50%)	3/6
188 mm	9	7/18 (38%)	11/18
94 mm	3	4/6 (66%)	2/6

Table 5-1 CI result summary for helix experiments exposed to non-vacuum process

5.3.3 Sterilization at shortened plateau times

Graphs for cycles with plateau times of 0-3 min for a non-vacuum process are shown in figures 5-11 to 5-15 and CI and BI results can be found in table 5-2. Both, CI and BI tend to pass at lower times at plateau temperature in high-speed turbines compared to surgical handpieces or slow-speed motors. BI chamber controls started to pass (i.e. sterilization conditions met) after 0.5 min at the sterilization temperature 134°C, while CI chamber controls passed after 1 min. Positive BI controls, which were not included in the sterilization process showed growth. TST CI for non-vacuum sterilization processes showed constant passes at 1 min and longer at 134°C (Figure 5-16).



Figure 5-11 Magnified graph of plateau period 0 min (blue=free chamber space, black=pressure, green, light green, orange=temperature inside the handpieces) the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization range of 134-137°C, x4 CI fails/x2 CI passes



Figure 5-12 Magnified graph of the plateau period 0.5 min (blue=free chamber space, black=pressure, green, light green, orange=temperature inside the handpieces) the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization range of 134-137°C x1 CI fails/x5 CI passes



Figure 5-13 Magnified graph of the plateau period 1 min (blue=free chamber space, black=pressure, green, light green, dark green=temperature inside the handpieces) the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization range of 134-137°C, x0 Cl fails/x6 Cl passes



Figure 5-14 Magnified graph of the plateau period 2 min (blue=free chamber space, black=pressure, green, light green=temperature inside the handpieces) the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization range of 134-137°C, x0 Cl fails/x6 Cl passes



Figure 5-15 Magnified graph of the plateau period 3 min (blue=free chamber space, black=pressure, green, light green, dark green=temperature inside the handpieces) the horizontal red lines indicate sterilization range of 134-137°C, x0 Cl fails/x6 Cl passes

LS3 TS1	Holdin	g Time [r	nin]							
SN LCC6B15020	0		0.5		1		2		3	
	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI
TA-98	✓ X X	XXX	XXX	XVV	111	111	111	111	111	XVV
Head	✓ X X	XXX	✓ X X	111	/ / X	111	111	111	111	XVV
	✓ X X	✓ X X	✓ X X	111	111	111	111	111	111	111
TA-98	✓ X X	XXX	XXX	XXX	111	111	111	111	111	111
Air Channel	✓ X X	XXX	✓ X X	✓ X X	<i>」 」 」 」</i>	111	111	111	111	111
	✓ X X	✓ X X	✓ X X	✓ X X	111	111	111	111	111	111
TA-98	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	111	XXX	111	/ / X	111
CI: Spray Channels	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	111	××.	111	✓ X X	111
BI: Air Channel plastic	XXX	X X	XXX	X X	XXX	111	××✓	111	×✓✓	111
S11	XXX	XXX	X X	XXX	✓ <mark>X</mark> ✓	X X	/ / X	XJJ	111	11×
Chuck Lever	XXX	XXX	XX.	XXX	√ √ X	X / X	111	111	111	✓ <mark>×</mark> ✓
	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	V / X	XXX	111	√ √ X	111	V / X
S11	XXX	111	XXX	111	✓ X X	11 X	111	111	111	111
Back	XXX	111	XXX	111	××.	✓ <mark>X</mark> ✓	111	111	111	111
	XXX	111	XXX	111	✓ X X	111	111	111	111	111
WA-56	XXX	✓ X X	XXX	XXX	XXX	✓ X X	✓ X X	√ √ <mark>X</mark>	111	111
Inside	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	××✓	/ / X	✓ <mark>X</mark> ✓	111	111
	XXX	××✓	XXX	XXX	XXX	√ √ <mark>×</mark>	X X	111	111	111
Helix (Browne)	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX	XXX
Chamber co	√ X X	111	✓ X X	111	111	111	111	111	111	111
+ co (BI)	Growth	1	Growth	<u>.</u>	Growt	h	Growt	h	Growt	h
TST Chamber	x 2 xx	/	x 2 🗸	/	x 2 🗸		x 2 🗸	1	x 2 🗸	1

Table 5-2 Summary of CI and BI results in different handpieces at shortened plateau periods (/ = pass, X = fail)

Chapter 5



Figure 5-16 Summary of TST CI in shortened plateau period experiments

5.3.4 Effect of handpiece oil on inactivation of spores

5.3.4.1 Effect of steam on spores inoculated into dental handpiece lumens and coated with oil

A total number of nine cycles were performed, comprising four handpieces inoculated with spores on stainless steel wires in spray channels. Spray channels in three handpieces were also inoculated with 10 μ L handpiece oil. In total 80 wires were assessed. No growth was detected in the negative controls (clean spray channels x2 and cleaned wires 2x). The mean recovery range of contaminated wires without oil (N=6) was 3.4 x 10⁶ - 2.5 x 10⁷. Using the nonvacuum cycle, the mean time to reach sterilization temperature was 9 min 14 sec in an empty chamber and 11 min 47 sec in a chamber with experimental load. The same comparison for empty chamber and chamber with load was performed for vacuum cycle 1, which resulted in 2 min 4 sec and 1 min 50 sec, respectively to reach sterilization temperature. For vacuum cycle 2 the heat up time was 2 min 58 sec empty and 4 min 56 sec with load. Spores could only be recovered from processed handpieces in vacuum cycle 1 with pre-vacuum (1 oil control, 3 samples) (Tables 5-3a to 5-3c).

Table 5-3a Results of handpiece experiments in non-vacuum cycle (Hp = handpiece)

Growth of G. stearothermophilus spores on wires from handpieces in non-vacuum cycle (cfu/number of wires)

Run 1 (t	Run 1 (total cycle time 12 min 44 sec)			Run 2 (to	tal cycle ti	me 12 min	7 sec)	Run 3 (total cycle time 27 min 11 sec)			
Hp 1 +oil	Hp 2 +oil	Hp 3 +oil	Hp -oil	Hp 1 +oil	Hp 2 +oil	Hp 3 +oil	Hp -oil	Hp 1 +oil	Hp 2 +oil	Hp 3 +oil	Hp -oil
0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2

Table 5-3b Results of handpiece experiments in vacuum cycle 1 (Hp = handpiece)

Run 1 (1	total cycle	time 6 mir	n 28 sec)	Run 2 (1	Run 2 (total cycle time 6 min 44 sec)				Run 3 (total cycle time 6 min 11 sec)			
Hp 1 +oil	Hp 2 +oil	Hp 3 +oil	Hp -oil	Hp 1 +oil	Hp 2 +oil	Hp 3 +oil	Hp -oil	Hp 1 +oil	Hp 2 +oil	Hp 3 +oil	Hp -oil	
2/2	0/2	0/2	1/2	0/2	3/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	2/2	0/2	

150

Table 5-3c Results of handpiece experiments in vacuum cycle 2 (Hp = handpiece)

Run 1 (total cycle time 5 min 44 sec)				Run 2 (1	Run 2 (total cycle time 5 min 9 sec)				Run 3 (total cycle time 6 min 57 sec)			
Hp 1 +oil	Hp 2 +oil	Hp 3 +oil	Hp -oil	Hp 1 +oil	Hp 2 +oil	Hp 3 +oil	Hp -oil	Hp 1 +oil	Hp 2 +oil	Hp 3 +oil	Hp -oi	
0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	

5.3.4.2 Effect of steam on spores inoculated onto tokens and coated with oil

Three cycles were performed and 55 tokens were assessed. The recovery method did not influence the recovery of survivors, however, the recovery method was less efficient in removing spores from indented tokens than from all other surfaces (Table 5-4).

Items		Recovery range (mean)					
Smooth surface	- Oil (N=3)	1.8 x 10 ⁶ - 1.1 x 10 ⁷					
	+ Oil (N=2)	3.4 x 10 ⁶ - 2 x 10 ⁷					
Intermediate surface	- Oil (N=3)	2.2 x 10 ⁶ - 1.3 x 10 ⁷					
	+ Oil (N=2)	1.8 x 10 ⁶ - 1.1 x 10 ⁷					
Rough surface	- Oil (N=3)	3.1 x 10 ⁶ - 1.8 x 10 ⁷					
	+ Oil (N=2)	2 x 10 ⁶ - 1.2 x 10 ⁷					
Indented surface	- Oil (N=3)	1.1 x 10 ⁶ - 6.5 x 10 ⁶					
	+ Oil (N=2)	3 x 10 ⁵ - 1.8 x 10 ⁶					

Table 5-4 Results of controls and recovery method validation

The mean heat up time for vacuum cycle 1 was 1 min 52 sec. Spores were recovered from three indented tokens with oil and one indented token without oil, as well as from one rough token without oil and one smooth token without oil (Tables 5-5a to 5-5d), however, the spore on the smooth token might have been transferred from an indented token during transport in the tray.

Growth	of G. stea	rothermop	hilus spores	on smootl	n tokens ir	n vacuum c	ycle 1 (cfu)			
Run 1 (total cycle time 5 min 6 sec)				Run 2 (total cycle time 6 min 2 sec)				Run 3 (total cycle time 5 min 18 sec)			
Tk 1 +oil	Tk 2 +oil	Tk 3 +oil	Tk -oil	Tk 1 +oil	Tk 2 +oil	Tk 3 +oil	Tk -oil	Tk 1 +oil	Tk 2 +oil	Tk 3 +oil	Tk -oil
0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 5-5a Results of smooth token experiments in vacuum cycle 1 (Tk = token)

Table 5-5b Results of intermediate token experiments in vacuum cycle 1 (Tk = token)

Run 1 (total cycle time 5 min 6 sec)				Run 2 (total cycle time 6 min 2 sec)				Run 3 (total cycle time 5 min 18 sec)			
Tk 1 +oil	Tk 2 +oil	Tk 3 +oil	Tk -oil	Tk 1 +oil	Tk 2 +oil	Tk 3 +oil	Tk -oil	Tk 1 +oil	Tk 2 +oil	Tk 3 +oil	Tk -oil
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Run 1 (total cycle time 5 min 6 sec)			Run 2 (total cycle time 6 min 2 sec)				Run 3 (total cycle time 5 min 18 sec)				
Tk 1 +oil	Tk 2 +oil	Tk 3 +oil	Tk -oil	Tk 1 +oil	Tk 2 +oil	Tk 3 +oil	Tk -oil	Tk 1 +oil	Tk 2 +oil	Tk 3 +oil	Tk -oil
0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 5-5c Results of rough token experiments in vacuum cycle 1 (Tk = token) Growth of *G. stearothermophilus* spores on rough tokens in vacuum cycle 1 (cfu)

Table 5-5d Results of indented token experiments in vacuum cycle 1 (Tk = token) Growth of G. stearothermophilus spores on indented tokens in vacuum cycle 1 (cfu) Run 1 (total cycle time 5 min 6 sec) Run 2 (total cycle time 6 min 2 sec) Run 3 (total cycle time 5 min 18 sec) Tk 1 Tk -oil Tk 1 Tk 2 Tk 3 Tk -oil Tk 1 Tk 2 Tk 3 Tk -oil Tk 2 Tk 3 +oil +oil +oil +oil +oil +oil +oil +oil +oil 9 0 0 0 0 1 8 0 0 0 3 0
5.4 Discussion

The results presented in this chapter demonstrate that, contrary to expectations, temperature measurements in silicone and plastic handpieces did not show significant differences to measurements recorded from inside highspeed turbines, which suggests that the lumens were free draining. However, condensate can accumulate in the lumen if it is in a horizontal position and water logging can take place, resulting in blockage, as described by van Doornmalen et al. (van Doornmalen, 2015). PCD results did not show a trend towards better steam penetration into shorter lumens. The fact that CI in the 1500 mm tube did not indicate a pass in the absence of the thermocouples, but did pass when thermocouples were present, which suggests that the thermocouple facilitated the steam penetration of the tube. The inconsistent results reported using CI raises the question of whether CI are an adequate indicator for steam sterilization/steam penetration or the results are a method effect. The TC were introduced through the tube, rather than through the body of the capsule. Other researchers came to a similar conclusion, stating that current PCD for hollow loads are not valid steam penetration tests (S. Esen, 2012b). According to the ISO 11140-1:2005 standard, chemical indicators should be comparable to biological indicators. These results show that this is not the case. Biological indicators were inactivated after 1 min at plateau temperature 134-137°C at all tested locations, while chemical indicators still failed when located inside spray channels at 3 min at the plateau temperature. TST CI for non-vacuum processes however started performing colour changes from 0 - 0.5 min at 134-137°C, even though they claim to indicate pass conditions at 134°C after 3 min, which suggests that CI results do not necessarily prove that the load has been exposed to 134°C for 3 min and should be therefore interpreted with care. However, a trend was found in CI and BI results, indicating that surgical handpieces and slow-speed motors are more difficult to sterilize than high-speed handpieces due to either their mass (high-speed handpieces are the lightest in weight) or the construction, which would mean that the outcome of non-vacuum sterilization processes differs between all types and models of handpieces. Both, Rutala (1996) and van Doornmalen (2012) found CI to provide inconsistent results and may be too sensitive and give false positive

results (Rutala et al., 1996, J.P.C.M. van Doornmalen, 2012). BI show more consistent results, however, BI spore strips exposed to non-vacuum cycles with shortened controlled plateau periods were inactivated at 0-0.5 min and failed in handpieces even after 3 min in some locations, which suggests that BI might be dependent on the challenge/device they are located in. BI testing by Rutala et al. (1996) showed more consistent results compared to CI testing, which agrees with the results from this study (Rutala et al., 1996). Moreover, the results in this study suggest that investigating steam penetration using CI may depend on the location of the CI within the lumen. Taking the CI results from chapter 3 into account, where it was shown that CI do not only react to dry saturated steam, but to the quantity of water molecules in the environment as well, the possibility that pass conditions of CI in dental handpieces may not prove successful penetration of steam into lumens must be considered.

In complex devices, such as dental handpieces, oil in lumens may block steam penetration. Another possibility is that coating the surfaces and the spores with oil prevent steam from penetrating through the layer of oil. Thus dry heat conditions exist, which makes time a critical factor for effective sterilization. The results show that, whilst survivors were recovered when oil was present, considerable log reduction occurred. Dry heat processes are carried out at higher temperatures and for longer times than moist heat e.g. 160°C for 2 hours (Russell, 1982). It would have been useful to determine the D value of the spores when suspended in oil. The mean heat up time in the non-vacuum cycles was 11 min 47 sec and 4 min 56 sec in the vacuum cycle 2 with ten small vacuum pulses. During this time, some of the spores will be inactivated even before exposure time (3 min) at 134°C, which adds up to a greater lethality than the vacuum cycle 1 (heat up time 1 min 50 sec), where surviving spores were found in 4 out of 12 handpieces. No surviving spores were found in the other cycles tested. Hegna et al. (1978) used a sterilization process with gravity air displacement and an exposure time of 8 min at 134°C to assess G. stearothermophilus inactivation in dental handpieces after lubrication. Eight minutes is more than required according to the first MRC report (1959), which is based on Perkins (1956) and delivers a higher thermal energy. No growth was found (Hegna et al., 1978).

These results correspond to the findings in the present study, although, only eight instruments were tested in the study by Hegna et al.

Edwardsson et al. (1983) tested handpiece lubrication with and without an antimicrobial agent and compared the results to handpieces that were sterilized without lubrication after contaminating the handpieces with a saliva suspension containing *G. stearothermophilus*. Sterilization processes used were 120 - 124°C for 20 min and 134 - 138°C for 10 min. Some *G. stearothermophilus* survived in handpieces without lubrication and lubrication without antimicrobial agent. Therefore the authors concluded that oil without antimicrobial agent impeded access for steam and the gravity cycles used failed to sterilize the lumens. Multiple experiments on 10 handpieces were performed (Edwardsson et al., 1983).

In 1999, Andersen et al. investigated the efficacy of four non-vacuum sterilizers and one vacuum benchtop sterilizer, working at 121°C for 20 minutes. 12 dental air turbines were cleaned before contamination with *G. stearothermophilus*. Growth was observed in all non-vacuum processes. The vacuum process resulted in no growth (Andersen et al., 1999). However, no lubrication was used. The presence of handpiece oil might block steam from accessing the channels of handpieces even in vacuum processes.

The majority of spores recovered originated from indented tokens, with and without oil. This suggests that oil in thin layers might not prevent spore inactivation on surfaces with different surface finishes if access for steam is provided. The more critical parameter appears to be the thickness of the layer of spores. The results show that a protective effect occurs to spores located at the bottom of the layer, which are therefore more resistant than spores located on top of the layer. This raises the question whether the same effect occurs in debris on instruments after patient treatment.

The investigations undertaken in this section did not look at a great variety of different diameters in lumens, which is reported to have an impact on steam penetration. Young, 1993 described that smaller blind-ended lumens (d=0.4 mm) are more dependent on position within a non-vacuum sterilizer and *Geobacillus*

stearothermophilus spore population recovered was ten times higher than in larger blind-ended tubes (d=1.7 mm) of the same length (9.4 cm), which suggests that especially for small diameter lumens, vacuum sterilization is required (Young, 1993). Additionally, Young et al. discovered that vertically positioned lumens show a "draining" effect and facilitate better steam penetration (Young, 1995).

Chapter 6 - In vivo study investigating steam sterilization in general dental practice

6.1 Introduction

General dental practices in the UK commonly use non-vacuum benchtop sterilizers (Smith et al., 2009c) for sterilizing instruments, including dental handpieces, after patient treatment, even though the European standard recommends vacuum sterilizers for lumen devices (13060:2014, BS EN). A survey, carried out in the US in 1996, that involved 1355 dental practices showed that 7% of dental practices did not sterilize their handpieces in steam sterilizers, and 49% of dental practices did not use BI as recommended. The overall conclusion of this survey was that the risk of cross infections of blood born viruses in dental practice should not be ignored, especially if handpieces are inadequately reprocessed and/or the sterilizer is not maintained and validated (Gurevich et al., 1996). Howie discussed the importance of a profound understanding of the sterilization process and education of staff in decontamination facilities in order to operate the sterilizer correctly and recognize and avoid problems, which could potentially lead to cross-infections (Howie, 1961). Some dental handpieces manufacturers specifically describe the requirement to use a vacuum or S type sterilization process (W&H, Sirona) and for packaging handpieces prior to vacuum sterilization where required. Such packaging is only performed in vacuum sterilizers (KaVo). NSK however does not specify the type of steam sterilization process. The most commonly used benchtop sterilizers for dental practices in the UK are shown in Table 1 (data provided by W&H, UK). Furthermore, a lack of training of dental staff and the necessity of quality management in local decontamination units (LDU) in dental practice has been reported (Smith et al., 2009b). An observational study, assessing 179 dental practices in Scotland, showed that poor record keeping of periodic testing for sterilizers according to the Scottish Health Technical Memorandum (SHTM) can be a quality control issue (SHTM, 2010, Smith et al., 2007).

N type sterilizers	
Model	Manufacturer
SES 2010 (11 L chamber)	Eschmann
Alpha N (16 L chamber	Prestige
MS	W&H
B type sterilizers	
Model	Manufacturer
SES 3000B	Eschmann
SES 225B	Eschmann
Optima B (16 L chamber)	Prestige
Advanced B (16 L chamber)	Prestige
Vacuklav 41B	Melag
Vacuklav 31B	Melag
Lisa	W&H

Table 6-1 Most commonly used benchtop steam sterilizers in UK dental practiceN type sterilizers

The aims of this chapter were to test non-vacuum and vacuum sterilizers in a general dental practice environment using CI, BI and dataloggers to monitor temperature and pressure during the sterilization cycles.

6.2 Methods

The sources of sterilizers were five different GDPs in Scotland, where we were invited to perform tests. In Scotland sterilizers undergo periodic testing according to the SHTM 2010. However, validation documentation was not inspected.

Non-vacuum and vacuum sterilization processes were compared. Three cycles were performed in each sterilizer using CI, BI and data loggers. For each cycle a "standard test tray", consisting of three of each of three different types of handpiece: Dental air turbine TA-98 C LED (W&H, Austria), straight surgical handpiece S11 (W&H, Austria), slow speed motor WA-56 (W&H, Austria) and a helix PCD (Browne) used as control (Figure 6-1). Three handpieces of each type were inoculated with CI and BI. Chemical indicators (class 2, Browne) were placed in three positions in the turbine (turbine head, drive air channel, spray channels), in two positions in the surgical handpiece (chuck lever, handpiece back) and in one position in the slow speed (inside sleeve). Biological indicators (mini spore strips, Excelsior, D_{121} = 1.8 - 2.5 min) were placed in three positions in the turbine (turbine head, drive air channel center, drive air channel back), in two positions in the surgical handpiece (chuck lever, handpiece back) and in one position in the slow speed (inside sleeve) (for handpiece test load details, see chapter 2, section 2.1.8). Handpieces for vacuum sterilization were placed in sealable sterilization pouches (Steris) before sterilization.



Figure 6-1 "Standard test tray" with 3x dental air turbine TA-98 C LED (W&H, Austria), 3x straight surgical handpiece S11 (W&H, Austria), 3x slow speed motor WA-56 (W&H, Austria), 1x helix PCD (Browne), 2x temperature data logger inside dental air turbine (TA-98 C LED (W&H, Austria), 1x temperature data logger "free space" and 1x pressure data logger (all data loggers ellab)

As controls a helix PCD (Browne) was inoculated with a chemical indicator and a spore strip (Excelsior) and two turbines were inoculated with data loggers (ellab, accuracy 0.05°C) to trace temperature during the sterilization process. Additionally, a pressure sensor (ellab, accuracy 0.25%) and a temperature sensor were used to trace the sterilization cycle within the chamber. Humidity and room temperature in the LDU were recorded during the visits using a humidity/temperature sensor (ellab).

After the sterilization process chemical indicators were visually assessed for color change, while biological indicators were transferred into 2 ml TSB (Sigma) and incubated up to 8 days at 56°C.

According to Perkins the heat up time should bring all of the load up to sterilization temperature (Perkins, 1983). In the standard for small steam sterilizers a tolerable time difference between the chamber and the load is 15 sec (13060:2014, BS EN), while the Scottish Health Technical Memorandum

established a temperature lag of 2°C from the point where the chamber reaches 134°C compared to the load as tolerable (SHTM, 2010).

In order to take all three theories into account, time delays of 3 sec (based on results from vacuum cycle testing), 15 sec and a temperature lag of 2°C were established as thermometric fails and compared.

Additionally, the "worst case" in thermometric measurements was used to calculate integrated lethality (F_0) and log reduction of the process (chamber compared to handpiece inside. Non-vacuum process 3 (N3) was selected. The following equation was used to used to calculate integrated lethality (F_0)

 $F_0=t (10^{((T-121.1)/z)}),$

where t is the time interval of points of measurement; T is the temperature at the point of measurement; z is the z-value, assumed to be 10.

Further calculation of log reduction of the microbial population is performed by F_0/D_{121} (Pharmacopoeia, 2014).

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Non-vacuum processes

Seven non-vacuum sterilizers were tested in GDP. A total of 34 BI fails and 25 CI fails were detected out of a total of 360 tests. Most fails of CI and BI were located in the chuck lever (S11, W&H) or the inside of the slow speed motors (WA56, W&H), while all but one CI and one BI located in turbines (TA98, W&H) passed. Sterilization cycle times ranged from 16 - 25 min, with plateau periods of 3.5 - 4.5 min at 134°C. The period over which temperature differences between the sterilizer chamber and the inside of the handpieces occurred ranged from 0 sec - N/A, which meant that some handpieces did not achieve sterilization temperature during the whole cycle. There were 31 thermometric fails out of in the 40 handpieces tested. Only one non-vacuum sterilizer indicated no thermometric or BI fails but did have one CI fail in a surgical handpiece. In every cycle a helix PCD (Browne) was included as a control, where all CI and BI indicated failed sterilization conditions. BI and CI fails are displayed in tables 6-1 to 6-7 and cycle profiles including magnifications of charts of the plateau period are shown in figures 6-2 to 6-9. A summary of all CI, BI and thermometric results of non-vacuum sterilizers tested in GDP is shown in table 6-9. Thermometric traces of non-vacuum sterilizer 3, shown in figure 6-5, were used to calculate integrated lethality and log reduction (chamber compared to dental turbine 2).

Chamber; $F_0=102.11$, log red=51

Dental turbine 2; F₀=71.36, log red=36



Figure 6-2 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 1 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (6/6 thermometric fails)

Sterilizer (N1) SN LCC-7L-1154	Cycle							
Model: Eschmann Little	1		2		3			
Sister SES2010	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	1	✓	1	1	1	1		
Head	1	✓	✓	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Air Channel	1	✓	1	1	1	1		
	1	✓	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	✓	1	1	1	1		
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1		
S11	×	×	1	1	1	1		
Chuck Lever	1	1	×	×	✓	1		
	1	1	×	×	×	×		
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Back	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
	1	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1		
WA-56	1	1	×	×	1	1		
Inside	1	1	×	×	1	1		
	1	1	1	 Image: A second s	1	×		
Helix (Browne)	X	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 6-2 Result summary N type sterilizer 1; growth in 7/54, CI fail in 6/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)



Figure 6-3 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 2 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (6/6 thermometric fails)

Sterilizer (N2) SN SCB-5C-9084	Cycle	Number				
Model: Eschmann SES	1		2		3	
2000	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI
TA-98	~	1	1	~	1	<i>✓</i>
Head	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	×	1	1	1	1	1
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	×	1	1	1
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	×	×	×	×	×	×
Chuck Lever	×	×	×	1	1	×
	1	×	1	1	1	1
S11	1	×	1	1	1	×
Back	1	1	1	1	1	×
	1	1	1	1	1	1
WA-56	1	×	1	1	1	1
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	×
	1	1	1	1	1	1
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×

Table 6-3 Result summary N type sterilizer 2; growth in 11/54, CI fail in 7/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)



Figure 6-4 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 3 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (6/6 thermometric fails)

Sterilizer (N3) SN SCB-4J-8437	Cycle							
Model: Eschmann SES	1		2		3			
2000	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	~	1	1	1	1	1		
Head	 Image: A set of the set of the	1	1	✓	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	×	1	1	1		
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	×	1	1	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	✓	1	1	1	1	1		
S11	 Image: A second s	×	1	×	1	×		
Chuck Lever	 Image: A start of the start of	×	1	×	1	×		
	 Image: A second s	×	✓	✓	1	×		
S11	 Image: A second s	✓	×	✓	×	1		
Back	×	1	1	1	×	1		
	×	1	1	1	1	1		
WA-56	 Image: A second s	×	1	×	×	1		
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	✓	1	1	1	×	1		
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 6-4 Result summary N type sterilizer 3; growth in 10/54, CI fail in 9/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)



Figure 6-5 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 3 (magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2, which never reaches sterilization temperature



Figure 6-6 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 4 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (0/4 thermometric fails)

Sterilizer (N4) SN 107957	Cycle						
Model: W&H MS 22	1	1			3 - FAIL (excluded)		
	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI	
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Head	1	1	1	1	1	1	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1	
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1	
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1	
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	X	1	1	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Helix (Browne)	×	×	X	×	1	1	

Table 6-5 Result summary N type sterilizer 4; growth in 1/36, CI fail in 0/36, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)



Figure 6-7 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 5 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (6/6 thermometric fails)

Sterilizer (N5)* SN SCB-5G-9684	Cycle					
Model: Eschmann	1		2		3	
SES 2000	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
Head	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	×	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×

Table 6-6 Result summary N type sterilizer 5; growth in 1/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

*Positive pressure pulses are regarded as "active air removal" (personal conversation with Brian Kirk, PhD, 3M, Loughborough, UK)



Figure 6-8 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 6 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (6/6 thermometric fails)

Sterilizer (N6) SN LCB-3E-3706	Cycle					
Model: Eschmann	1		2		3	
Little Sister 3	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI
TA-98	1	1	X	1	1	1
Head	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	X	1	1	1
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	X	1
S11	1	×	1	X	1	1
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	×	1	1	1	1
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×

Table 6-7 Result summary N type sterilizer 6; growth in 3/54, CI fail in 3/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)



Figure 6-9 Temperature traces of N type sterilizer 7 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (1/6 thermometric fails)

Sterilizer (N7) SN 113512	Cycle							
Model: W&H	1		2		3			
MS22	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Head	1	1	1	1	1	✓		
	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Air Channel	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1		
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1		
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1		
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	×		
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Helix (Browne)	×	×	×	×	×	×		

Table 6-8 Result summary N type sterilizer 7; growth in 1/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

Table 6-9 Summary	y of BI, CI and thermometric fails in non-vacuum sterilizers tested in GDP

Sterilizer	BI fails	CI fails	Thermometric	Thermometric	Thermometric
			fails	fails	fails
			(>3 sec)*	(>15 sec)*	(>2°C)*
N1	7/54	6/54	6/6	6/6	4/6
N2	11/54	7/54	6/6	6/6	6/6
N3	10/54	9/54	6/6	6/6	6/6
N4	1/54	0/54	0/6	0/6	0/6
N5	1/54	0/54	6/6	6/6	6/6
N6	3/54	3/54	6/6	6/6	6/6
N7	1/54	0/54	1/6	0/6	0/6
Total	34/378	25/378	31/42	30/42	28/42
Total fails (%)	9	7	74	71	67

*Refer to section 6.2

6.3.2 Vacuum processes

Growth was detected in one out of 108 BI used in the handpieces processed in two vacuum sterilizers. There were also no fails in 108 CI placed in these devices (Tables 6-10 and 6-11). Cycle times were 60 - 70 min, with a holding time of 4 - 4.5 min at 134°C (Figures 6-10 and Figures 6-11) and a temperature difference between the sterilization chamber and the inside of the handpieces of 0 - 1 sec. No thermometric fails and no CI fails of control helix PCD were seen, however, one BI fail in a helix was detected in vacuum sterilizer 2. A summary of all CI, BI and thermometric fails is shown in table 6-12.



Figure 6-10 Temperature traces of B type sterilizer 1 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (0/6 thermometric fails)

Sterilizer (B1) SN L2DH3D 1997	Cycle					
Model: Eschmann Little	1		2		3	
Sister SES225B vacuum	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI
TA-98	1	1	1	✓	1	✓
Head	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	✓
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	1
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
S11	1	1	1	1	1	1
Back	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	1
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
Helix (Browne)	✓	1	1	1	1	1

Table 6-10 Result summary B type sterilizer 1; growth in 0/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)



Figure 6-11 Temperature traces of B type sterilizer 2 (A full cycle, B magnification of holding time) where black=pressure, blue=free space in chamber, light green= dental air turbine 1, dark green= dental air turbine 2 (0/6 thermometric fails)

Sterilizer (B2)	Cycle							
SN unknown								
Model: W&H	00041		00042	(fast)	00043	(fast)*		
Lisa 517	CI	BI	CI	BI	CI	BI		
TA-98	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1		
Head	 Image: A second s	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	✓		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	✓		
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	✓		
	1	1	1	1	1	✓		
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	✓		
CI: Spray Channels	1	1	1	1	1	✓		
BI: Air Channel plastic	1	1	1	1	1	<i>✓</i>		
S11	1	1	1	1	1	<i>✓</i>		
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	1	1	×		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
S11	1	1	1	1	1	✓		
Back	1	1	1	1	1	✓		
	1	1	1	1	1	✓		
WA-56	1	1	1	1	1	✓		
Inside	1	1	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Helix (Browne)	1	1	1	1	1	×		

Table 6-11 Result summary B type sterilizer 2; growth in 2/54, CI fail in 0/54, growth controls showed growth (< = pass, × = fail)

*Faster vacuum cycle might be less effective

Sterilizer	BI fails	CI fails	Thermometric	Thermometric	Thermometric
			fails	fails	fails
			(>3 sec)**	(>15 sec)**	(>2°C)**
B1	0/54	0/54	0/6	0/6	0/6
B2*	1/54	0/54	0/4	0/4	0/4
Total	1/108	0/108	0/10	0/10	0/10
Total fails (%)	0.9	0	0	0	0

Table 6-12 Summary of BI, CI and thermometric fails in non-vacuum sterilizers tested in GDP

*x1 BI fail in helix PCD, ** refer to section 6.2

6.3.3 Humidity measurements

Humidity was measured in five different GDP for at least 1 hour and ranged from 30.75 - 90% RH, while the room temperature fluctuated between 18.5 and 26.5° C as shown in an example (Figure 6-11).



Figure 6-12 Relative Humidity (RH) in blue and temperature (°C) in green, measured in GDP 4 over the span of 1 hour

6.4 Discussion

Seven non-vacuum benchtop sterilizers were tested in total. Three cycles with nine handpieces with CI and BI each were performed in each sterilizer. A total of 378 CI and BI from inside handpieces were assessed, where 34 BI (9%) and 25 CI (7%) failed. Fails were found in all sterilizers, independently of model or cycle time, which suggests that dental handpieces cannot be sterilized in non-vacuum processes. Most fails were found in the straight surgical handpiece, which was the most contaminated type, due to its use in oral surgery (Deshpande et al., 2015, Smith, 2011). A total of 42 handpieces underwent thermometric assessment during non-vacuum sterilization, where 31 (74%) were classed as thermometric fails (for details refer to section 6.2) based on Perkins (1956) in combination with findings from previous testing in this study (Chapter 3), 30 handpieces (71%) were thermometric fails according to BS EN 13060:2014 and 28 (67%) of handpieces showed a thermometric fail according to SHTM 2010, which means that the delay inside the handpieces reaching the sterilization temperature compared to the chamber exceeded 3 sec, 15 sec or 2° C, respectively. Moreover, in non-vacuum sterilizer 3, where one of the handpieces did not achieve sterilization temperature, integrated lethality and log reduction were found to be considerably lower in the handpiece compared to the chamber (chamber $F_0=102.11$, log reduction=51; handpiece $F_0=71.56$, log reduction=36). A log reduction of 36 is more than the required 12 (SAL 10^{-6}) stated in the Pharmacopoeia (2014), but 10/54 BI fails, 9/54 CI fails and 6/6 thermometric fails were observed. Therefore, it may be assumed that residual air was present and this retarded the heating of the inside of the device. The sensing ends of the data loggers used were insulated to avoid measuring the thermal mass of the handpieces.

Two vacuum benchtop sterilizer were tested in this study. In vacuum sterilizer 1 all BI and thermometric measurements showed pass conditions. Perhaps this is not surprising since manufacturers of handpieces and benchtop sterilizers (W&H, KaVo) recommend vacuum sterilization for dental handpieces. The requirement of a vacuum sterilization process for hollow loads is also stated in the standards (285:2006+A2:2009, BS EN, 13060:2014, BS EN). However one BI fail was found in
vacuum sterilizer 2 with a "fast" cycle option, which may have been less effective than a full cycle. Additionally, a recent study involving US dental practices resulted in 25,000 BI fails over a period of 3 years (publication in print in AJIC). Most UK dental practices still work with non-vacuum sterilizers (Smith et al., 2009c). This is probably due to the fact that non-vacuum sterilization processes are much faster and less costly in terms of purchase and running costs (W&H). Lack of training and difficulties with commissioning, installation and periodic testing might also be an influencing factor in the choice of sterilizer (Smith et al., 2009a, Smith et al., 2007). Furthermore, a survey of dental practices in England showed that not all dental practices sterilized their handpieces after each patient, due to a shortage of instruments, fear of damage of instruments or unawareness of the necessity. However, media coverage resulted in a 20.6% increase of handpiece sterilization (Lloyd et al., 1995).

Some dental practices have little space for a local decontamination unit (LDU). Humidity and temperature fluctuated the most in the smallest LDU dental practice visited. This dental practice was equipped with a non-vacuum sterilizer without a wastewater tank. Humidity reached 90% RH when steam filled the room during the condensation phase of the sterilization process. This may have an impact on CI the stability in storage conditions, where large fluctuations in humidity are likely to occur.

Observations made in LDUs during dental practice visits also uncovered problems with the following: poor loading and unloading of sterilizers, lack of linear flow as described in 2005 (NHS, 2005), lack of daily, weekly, quarterly and annual testing, as well as poor or non existent record keeping. Even if a sterilizer might be considered to work according to the appropriate standards and validation criteria; it does not mean that a particular load would be sterile after the process. Narrow channels in surgical instruments can be challenging especially in terms of steam penetration and fail the sterilization process (van Doornmalen and Kopinga, 2013).

An important point in decontamination is infection control for the safety of patients and staff. The presence of cross-infection risk of HIV and Hepatitis B has been reported by Gurevich in 1996, which was proven by an incident in a portable dental clinic in West Virginia, US in 2009 (Gurevich et al., 1996, Radcliffe et al., 2013).

Chapter 7 - Investigating the effect of cleaning on handpiece sterilization

7.1 Introduction

Dental handpieces are used in a variety of different treatments and become contaminated with protein from saliva and blood (Dreyer and Hauman, 2001, Herd et al., 2007, Chin et al., 2006) in the process. Incomplete removal of protein and microorganisms residues from handpieces can result in risk of crossinfection for patients and staff, including blood borne viruses and bacterial infections (Epstein et al., 1995, Hu et al., 2007, Lewis and Arens, 1995, Lewis and Boe, 1992, Shpuntoff and Shpuntoff, 1993, Lewis et al., 1992). The reprocessing has to include cleaning, disinfection and sterilization (Alfa et al., 2006). Cleaning and lubricating dental handpieces prior to sterilization are essential steps in the decontamination cycle (Weightman and Lines, 2004). In the European Standards, a variety of test soils for testing the cleaning of medical devices and their methods of application to such devices are described (15883-5:2005, ISO/TS). However, there is no specific test soil in the standards for dental instruments. The aim of this section was to determine the cleaning efficacy of Prototype X using Edinburgh test soil and Austrian test soil and to compare the results to those obtained with a benchtop washer-disinfector (Thermoklenz, W&H). Furthermore, the aim was to assess residual protein on dental handpieces after clinical use both before and after Prototype X or a CSSD automated washer-disinfector (Belimed) using both new and used handpieces.

The effect of pre-cleaning using Austrian test soil and Prototype X on spore inactivation in a non-vacuum sterilization cycle was investigated as well.

7.2 Material and methods

7.2.1 Cleaning efficacy of dental handpiece cleaner - In-vitro

7.2.1.1 Edinburgh test soil - OPA

10 μ l of Edinburgh test soil (3.4 μ g protein) were inoculated into the head and the outer sleeve of six high speed air turbines (TA-98, W&H, Austria), three slow speed motors (WA-56, W&H, Austria) and three surgical handpieces (S11, W&H, Austria). After a 30 minute drying time at room temperature the devices were put through a cleaning process in the handpiece cleaner-lubricator Prototype X. Handpieces were dismantled and the following parts were sampled after protein recovery from the device measured using the OPA method (15883-1:2009+A1:2014, BS EN ISO) as described in chapter 2, section 2.1.1:

- TA-98 (air driven high speed turbines)
 - Head (blade and cap)
 - Outer sleeve
- S11 (straight surgical handpiece)
 - o Gear
 - Outer sleeve
 - o Nose cone
- WA-56 (slow speed contra angled handpiece)
 - Outer sleeve
 - Head + middle gear

Positive controls consisted of leaving the Prototype X step was omitted and for negative controls the contamination step was omitted. The amounts of protein

detected were calculated in μ g/ml with reference to a mucin standard curve (lower sensitivity limit 2±1 μ g/ml).

7.2.1.2 Austrian and Edinburgh test soil – G-Box

Eight dental air turbines (TA-98 C LED, W&H, Austria) were manually cleaned and sterilized (Lisa, W&H, Austria). One handpiece was used as a blank control without contamination or the Prototype X cleaning process. One handpiece without contamination was chosen to represent a negative control following cleaning in the Prototype X to investigate the influence of detergent and oil on the protein detection method (G-Box, details to be found in chapter 2, section 2.1.3). Three handpieces were contaminated with Austrian test soil prepared according to ISO/TS 15883-5:2005 and three handpieces were contaminated with artificial saliva containing porcine stomach mucin (Sigma).

In each case 100 μ l of contaminant were pipetted into the turbine head. 100 μ l of contaminant were pipetted onto the outer sleeve of the handpiece (Figure 7-1). The handpieces were left to dry for 30 min at room temperature.

Chapter 7



Figure 7-1 Three dental air turbines contaminated with Austrian test soil before Prototype X process

One handpiece with each contaminant was used as a positive control and was sampled in the G-Box without Prototype X cleaning and lubrication step. Three handpieces with each of two contaminants (test soil or mucin) were processed through the Prototype X before sampling in the G-Box. The efficacy of the Prototype X cleaning and lubricating device was assessed visually for the handpieces contaminated with Austrian test soil and residual protein amounts were calculated for all handpieces and turbine blades according to the mucin standard curve using Microsoft Excel. After the experiments the pipe connecting the chamber of the machine and the waste tray was wiped using a moist cotton swab.

In addition, three new turbines (TA-98, W&H, Austria) were contaminated with 100 µL of Edinburgh test soil and processed in a benchtop washer-disinfector (Thermoklenz, W&H) using the P3 cycle (intensive) before visual assessment and G-box for comparison. Experiments were performed in duplicate.

7.2.2 Cleaning efficacy of dental handpiece cleaner - In-vivo

7.2.2.1 New handpieces - OPA

For the *in-vivo* part of this chapter, W&H provided a total of 40 handpieces, 10 high-speed air turbines (TA-96), 10 high-speed motors (WA-99), 10 slow speed motors (WA-56) and 10 surgical handpieces (S11). All 40 handpieces were given tags to track and trace them and were then fed into the clinics of the Glasgow Dental Hospital (GDH), where they were used for patient treatment. Prior to reprocessing, handpieces were collected at the Dental Central Decontamination Unit (DCDU) of the GDH and transported in bags to the Oral Microbiology Laboratory for assessment. Handpieces were cleaned using the Prototype X, dismantled and parts were submerged in 1%SDS for 1 hour to facilitate protein extraction before the eluates were assessed using the OPA assay. For positive controls, handpieces were sampled directly after patient treatment without the Prototype X step. Protein levels were calculated in μ g/ml).

Handpiece parts sampled:

- TA-98 (air driven high speed turbines)
 - Head (blade and cap)
 - o Spray channels
 - o Outer sleeve
- S11 (straight surgical handpiece)
 - o Gear
 - Outer sleeve + chuck lever
 - o Nose cone
- WA-56 (contra angled slow speed motor) and WA-99 (contra angled high speed motor)
 - \circ Outer sleeve
 - Head + middle gear
 - o Spray channels

7.2.2.2 Used handpieces – G-Box

18 handpieces, which have been in clinical use for several years in the GDH clinics, (6 surgical handpieces (S11, W&H Austria), 6 slow speed motors (WA-56, W&H, Austria) and 6 high speed turbines (x2 synea, W&H, x1 NSK)) were collected at the DCDU after patient treatment (figure 7-2). Residual protein of all handpieces were assessed before and after the Prototype X process using the G-Box, for determining cleaning efficacy of the Prototype X on used handpieces.



Figure 7-2 Nine used handpieces from the GDH clinics (3 surgical handpieces (S11, W&H Austria), 3 slow speed motors (WA-56, W&H, Austria) and 3 high speed turbines (x2 synea, W&H, x1 NSK))

As a comparison, three used high-speed turbines (synea, W&H) were collected and assessed in the G-box after processing in an automated washer disinfector (AWD, Belimed) at DCDU.

7.2.3 Effect of cleaning on the sterilization of dental handpieces using a non-vacuum sterilization process

Two different handpiece types were included in this experiment (x3 dental air turbine (TA-98, W&H) and x3 surgical handpieces (S11, W&H)). A total of 12 handpieces were contaminated with 50 μ L of Austrian test soil (15883-5, 2005 ISO/TS), inoculated into the head and air channel of x3 turbines, and the chuck lever of x3 surgical handpiece. After 30 min drying time, 3 turbines and 3 surgical handpieces were processed in the Prototype X, followed by inoculating all 12 handpieces with spore strips (Excelsior) in the contaminated locations. All dirty and clean handpieces were then sterilized in a non-vacuum benchtop sterilizer (Little Sister 3, Eschmann). Spore strips were transferred into 2 ml of TSB, as shown in figure 7-3 and incubated for 8 days at 56°C.



Figure 7-3 Spore strips from dental handpieces with and without cleaning in 2 ml TSB in 24 well plate (Costar)

7.3 Results

7.3.1 Cleaning efficacy of dental handpiece cleaner - In-vitro

7.3.1.1 Edinburgh test soil – OPA

Visual assessment of cleaning efficacy of Prototype X showed that the chosen amount of Edinburgh test soil was not effectively removed from handpieces externally (Figure 7-4).



Figure 7-4 Image a shows dental air turbine (TA-98 C LED, W&H, Austria) contaminated with Edinburgh test soil; image B shows the dental air turbines after processing through Prototype X

Tables 7-1a - 7-1c show detailed results of test soil residues on different handpiece parts detected using the OPA method. Statistically significant differences in residual protein were found between soiled and cleaned head and gear of the slow speed motor (p=0.011) after performing a "two-sample independent t-test" in Microsoft Excel, which is a robust test, used for small sample sizes, which are normally distributed (Graham Currell, 2009). In all other tested samples, no statistical difference in residual protein was found between soiled and previously clean handpieces after the cleaning process.

TA-98	n	Mean (µg)	Median	Range
			(µg)	(µg)
Blade and cap				
(soiled)	3	3.6	3.0	2.1 - 5.7
Sleeve (soiled)	3	1.7	1.7	1.7 - 1.8
Blade and cap				
(cleaned)	6	2.1	1.7	1.5 - 4.1
Sleeve (cleaned)	6	1.7	1.7	1.7 - 1.7

Table 7-1a Residual protein detected on high-speed turbines, contaminated with Edinburgh test soil, using OPA

Table 7-1b Residual protein detected on surgical handpieces, contaminated with Edinburgh	I
test soil, using OPA	

S11	n	Mean (µg)	Median	Range
			(µg)	(µg)
Sleeve (soiled)	3	1.7	1.7	1.6 - 1.7
Nose cone (soiled)	3	3.6	3.9	1.8 - 5.0
Gear (soiled)	3	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.7
Sleeve (cleaned)	6	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.7
Nose cone				
(cleaned)	6	2.4	1.9	1.4 - 5.0
Gear (cleaned)	6	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.7

WA56	n	Mean (µg)	Median	Range
			(µg)	(µg)
Head and gear				
(soiled)*	3	3.2	3.0	2.9 - 3.6
Sleeve (soiled)	3	1.7	1.7	1.7 - 1.7
Head and gear				
(cleaned)*	3	2.0	1.9	1.8 - 2.3
Sleeve (cleaned)	3	1.7	1.7	1.6 - 1.7

 Table 7-1c Residual protein detected on slow-speed motors, contaminated with Edinburgh test soil, using OPA

* p=0.011

7.3.1.2 Austrian test soil – G-Box

Visual examination of handpieces contaminated with Austrian test soil showed that test soil residues were left on the outside and inside of the handpieces after processing through the Prototype X, as well as splattered across the inside of the machine (Figures 7-5 and 7-6).



Figure 7-5 Dental air turbines after Prototype X process



Figure 7-6 Open turbine head after Prototype X process

3D images were taken using the G-Box, to visualize protein contamination (Figures 7-7 - 7-9). The higher the peaks and the more red in colour, the more residual protein was detected.



Figure 7-7 G-Box 3D image of protein on dental air turbine contaminated with Austrian test soil before Prototype X process



Figure 7-8 G-Box 3D image of protein contamination on dental air turbine after Prototype X process



Figure 7-9 G-Box 3D image of protein contamination on dental air turbine wheel after Prototype X process

Residual protein values were calculated by comparison with a BSA standard curve (range 1.25 - 8 μ g), after the blank control was subtracted, using Microsoft Excel and are displayed in table 7-2. These results clearly show that artificial saliva was removed more successfully from handpieces than Austrian test soil.

Residual protein	Austrian test soil	
	(µg/instrument)	(µg/instrument)
Sleeve 1	38.7	0
Sleeve 2	26	0
Turbine head 1	0.3	0
Turbine head 2	1.5	1.4

 Table 7-2 Calculated values of residual proteins on all tested instruments and contaminants.

 One value was unreasonably high and therefore not included in the results

Residual contamination was observed by visual assessment after swabbing in the pipe connecting the chamber of the machine and the waste tray, as shown in figure 7-10.



Figure 7-10 Moist swab after wiping the pipe between chamber and waste tray

Figure 7-11 shows visual assessment of cleaning efficacy after using a benchtop washer-disinfector (Thermoklenz, W&H) intensive cycle (P3) and shows that no visually detectable residues of Edinburgh test soil are left on the instruments.



Figure 7-11 Visual assessment of residual test soil (Edinburgh test soil) after AWD

Residual protein detected on handpieces after AWD show no significant differences (Table 7-3). Figure 7-12 shows a G-box image of a handpiece, contaminated with Edinburgh test soil, after AWD reprocessing.

Handpiece	Protein residues after	Protein residues after
	Thermoklenz	Thermoklenz
	(µg/instrument) Run 1	(µg/instrument) Run 2
Turbine 1	0.66	1.66
Turbine 2	1.31	1.82
Turbine 3	4.40	0.45

Table 7-3 Residual protein on high-speed turbines after AWD, assessed using G-box



Figure 7-12 Residual protein on high-speed turbine after AWD, assessed using G-box

7.3.2 Cleaning efficacy of dental handpiece cleaner - In-vivo

7.3.2.1 New handpieces – OPA

No statistical difference was found between clinically contaminated and processed handpieces using the OPA method on new handpieces (Tables 7-4a - 7-4d).

Table 7-4a Residual protein detected on clinically contaminated high-speed turbines using OPA

TA-98	n	Mean	Median	Range
		(µg)	(µg)	(µg)
Spray (used)	14	1.5	1.5	1.5 - 1.6
Blade and cap				
(used)	14	1.6	1.6	1.5 - 1.7
Sleeve (used)	14	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6
Spray (cleaned)	26	1.6	1.6	1.4 - 2.3
Blade and cap				
(cleaned)	26	1.6	1.6	1.5 - 1.7
Sleeve (cleaned)	26	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6

S11	n	Mean (µg)	Median	Range
			(µg)	(μg)
Sleeve (used)	4	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6
Nose cone				
(used)	4	1.7	1.8	1.6 - 1.9
Gear (used)	4	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6
Spray (used)	4	1.9	1.9	1.6 - 2.5
Sleeve				
(cleaned)	2	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6
Nose cone				
(cleaned)	2	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6
Gear (cleaned)	2	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6
Spray (cleaned)	2	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.7

Table 7-4b Residual protein detected on clinically contaminated surgical handpieces using OPA

Table 7-4c Residual protein detected on clinically contaminated slow-speed motors using						
OPA						

WA-56	n	Mean (µg)	Median	Range
			(µg)	(µg)
Spray (used)	12	1.6	1.5	1.5 - 1.9
Head and gear				
(used)	12	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6
Sleeve (used)	12	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6
Spray (cleaned)	27	1.6	1.6	1.5 - 2.7
Head and gear				
(cleaned)	27	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6
Sleeve (cleaned)	27	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6

Table 7-4d Residual protein detected on clinically contaminated high-speed motors using OPA

WA-99*	n	Mean (µg)	Median	Range
			(µg)	(µg)
Spray (used)	5	1.6	1.6	1.5 - 1.8
Head and gear				
(used)	5	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6
Sleeve (used)	5	1.6	1.6	1.6 - 1.6

* For assessment of cleaned WA-99, too few devices were received from DCDU.

7.3.2.2 Used handpieces – G-Box

Clinically contaminated used handpieces showed a mean contamination of 763.30 μ g, ranging from 114.48 - 1712.31 μ g, while the mean residual protein after Prototype X process is 175.10 μ g (range 12.48 - 672.96 μ g). The overall cleaning efficacy is 49 - 92%. No significant difference in clinical contamination was found between the different handpiece types tested.

2D and 3D images of handpieces after patient treatment and after Prototype X process are shown in figures 7-13 and 7-14, respectively. After the use of Prototype X, contamination from the handpieces was found on the inside of the machine's chamber.

Table 7-5 Protein contamination on handpieces after clinical use and after Protein	otype X,
using OPA	

Using OPA	Contornination	Contomination	Drotoin removed		
Handpiece	Contamination after treatment (µg/instrument)	Contamination after Assistina (µg/instrument)	Protein removed (%)		
Surgical 1	366.39	184.16	50		
Surgical 2	1332.12	672.96	49		
Surgical 3	790.41	264.36	67		
Surgical 4	242.63	40.79	83		
Surgical 5	462.43	96.38	79		
Slow 1	976.95	356.65	63		
Slow 2	1712.31	167.48	90		
Slow 3	773.29	417.37	46		
Slow 4	1170.56	78.63	93		
Slow 5	114.48	12.48	89		
Slow 6	297.40	40.48	86		
Turbine 1	303.27	37.65	88		
Turbine 2	1690.1	136.51	92		
Turbine 3	380.67	49.26	87		
Turbine 4	188.15	93.75	50		
Turbine 5	1411.74	152.74	89		
Mean	763.30	175.10	75		
Range	114.48 - 1712.31	12.48 - 672.96	49 - 92		



Figure 7-13 Dental high-speed turbine (W&H) after use; A shows 2D image of G-BOX; B shows 3D image of G-BOX



Figure 7-14 Dental high-speed turbine (W&H) after Prototype X; A shows 2D image of G-BOX; B shows 3D image of G-BOX

Three handpieces collected from DCDU after the AWD (Belimed) were assessed using the G-box and resulted in a mean residual protein value of $1.7 \mu g$ (range 0-2.8 μg). Figure 7-15 shows a 2D and 3D G-box image of a processed handpiece.



Figure 7-15 Dental high-speed turbine (W&H) after AWD; A shows 2D image of G-BOX; B shows 3D image of G-BOX

7.3.3 Effect of cleaning on the sterilization of dental handpieces using a non-vacuum sterilization process

Comparing results of BI inactivation of soiled and cleaned handpieces, one BI fail was detected in 27 samples of soiled handpieces, located in a high-speed turbine head, while three BI fails were found in 27 samples of cleaned handpieces, located in surgical handpieces (Table 7-6).

Sterilizer Eschmann	Cycle Number						
Model: Little Sister 3	W4249		W4250		W4251		
SN LCB8D1031	BI dirty	BI clean	BI dirty	BI clean	BI dirty	BI clean	
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Head	×	1	1	1	1	1	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	
TA-98	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Air Channel	1	1	1	1	1	~	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	
S11	1	1	1	×	1	1	
Chuck Lever	1	1	1	×	1	×	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	

Table 7-6 BI results from inside soiled handpieces and handpieces cleaned using Prototype X (/ =pass, / =fail)

7.4 Discussion

There are several test soils listed in the standards and recommended for different types of medical devices in order to evaluate cleaning efficacy of automated washer-disinfectors (AWD) (15883-5:2005, ISO/TS), Edinburgh test soil and Austrian test soil are used for surgical instruments. There is no specific test soil for dental instruments yet listed in the standards and furthermore, there is no validated method to manually clean dental handpiece lumens. In 2007 Bagg et al. reported that the most common cleaning procedure for dental instruments is manual cleaning, in some cases with water only (Bagg et al., 2007). The challenge of cleaning lumens is well known in the field of endoscopy, where infection risk is an issue due to the limitations of validated cleaning procedures (Herve and Keevil, 2013). Handpieces contaminated with the specified quantity and location of Edinburgh test soil were not cleaned to the level specified in BS EN ISO 15883-5:2005 on the external surface, using Prototype X without pre-treatment of handpieces with disinfectant wipes; however, residual protein levels on the head and gear of slow speed motors inside the instrument were found to be significantly lower after the Prototype X process (p=0.011). Austrian test soil was more successfully removed using the Prototype X, however, visual residues were still detected after the cleaning step and blood spatter was found on the instruments and inside the machine. An observation of the Prototype X was that the pipe connecting the chamber of the machine and the waste tray was contaminated after use, however, there is no manufacturer's instruction concerning the decontamination of this pipe. Overall, the cleaning efficacy of the AWD tested showed no visually detectable residues of test soil. The amount of detected protein contamination on new handpieces after clinical use were very close to the limit of detection of the OPA method, therefore, no significant difference between contaminated and cleaned instruments were found. No significant difference was found between the individual handpiece types; however, it is known from the literature that surgical handpieces are the most contaminated type of handpiece (Deshpande et al., 2015, Smith, 2011). Results of the present study differ possibly because the handpieces used were new and were only used for one treatment before assessment, which may suggest biofouling of dental handpieces is cumulative over time. This notion is agreement with the publication by Smith et al., 2011.

For these reasons, handpieces taken from clinics, which have been in use for several years, were assessed before and after Prototype X. Residual protein levels after the Prototype X ranges from 12.48 - 676.96 μ g. RKI guidelines state that the recommended maximum tolerable amount of protein on medical devices after cleaning is 100 μ g (RKI, 2005), which was not achieved using this machine. Most recent guidelines (ACDP, 2015), however, recommend an even lower maximum tolerable level of 5 μ g residual protein per instrument side.

Using a non-vacuum sterilization cycle on soiled (Austrian test soil) and cleaned handpieces using BI showed that BI fails were found in both, cleaned and soiled handpieces, which indicates that residual contamination (e.g. blood) does not appear to affect the outcome of non-vacuum sterilization. However, Further experiments will have to be performed to determine whether there is a difference in the level of contamination remaining.

Andersen et al. tested three different cleaner-lubricators on high-speed turbines, artificially contaminated with Streptococcus salivarius and found that only one out of three machines was able to remove bioburden with 3.9 log reduction in the colony forming units of organisms detected (Andersen et al., 1995). Simonis et al. tested the cleaning efficacy of the Turbocid handpiece cleaner-lubricator (Micro Mega) after contaminating dental handpieces with coagulated human blood containing E. faecium. The device did not achieve a 5 log reduction of bioburden, which is the requirement for cleaning according to the Robert-Koch Institute (A. Simonis, 2008). Another handpiece cleanerlubricator, tested by Smith et al. failed to remove Swedish test soil successful (Smith, 2011). These results are comparable with the findings in the present study, which strongly suggests that cleaner-lubricators do not replace thorough manual cleaning or the use of an AWD, but might be a useful tool for additional flush of spray channels and lubrication of handpieces. The fact that artificial saliva was removed, using the Prototype X, while test soils were not might indicate that the applied amount of test soils was too challenging for Prototype X and do not represent realistic dental contamination. A study to determine the amount of standardized test soils that is equivalent to handpiece contamination after dental treatment would be necessary in order to develop and validate a soiling method for testing the cleaning efficacy of handpiece cleaner-lubricators,

such as Prototype X. Franz et al. also highlights the necessity for a dental specific test contamination (Franz et al., 2012). Kohek attempted to develop a specific test soil for dental instruments in his thesis. This potential 'dental' test soil consisting of a blood and mucin (7.5%) mixture in a ratio of 1:1, which appeared to be a promising alternative (Kohek).

In another thesis it was found that, testing the cleaning efficacy of the DAC (Sirona) handpiece cleaner-lubricator is dependent on the time between patient treatment and reprocessing. The quicker handpieces are reprocessed after treatment, the more effective the cleaning process (Radimersky, 2012). Using the OPA method to determine protein residues in a comparison of two cleaner-disinfectors for dental handpieces, the LIFEtime (Kavo) and Hygiene Center (Sirona), resulted in a significant difference of cleaning efficacy between the two machines, where LIFEtime showed better results (Schönherr, 2005).

In conclusion improvement of handpiece cleaner-lubricators is necessary in order to consistantly achieve acceptable cleaning efficacy and that these machines cannot replace manual cleaning or AWD yet. Moreover, in order to successfully determine the cleaning efficacy of cleaning devices specifically designed for dental handpieces, a standardized dental test soil should be developed and validated.

Chapter 8 – Discussion

8.1 Overview

Dental handpieces have been classed as "semi-critical" or "critical" medical devices (RKI, 2005) and are known to become contaminated during patient treatment (Smith et al., 2014, Smith, 2011). Therefore prior to reuse they must undergo decontamination, which involves cleaning, disinfection and sterilization. However, since the 1950s it has been recognized that lumens pose a challenge for steam penetration (Perkins, 1983). Therefore, vacuum sterilization is recommended for lumen containing medical devices, such as dental handpieces (13060:2014, BS EN). However, general dental practices in the UK commonly use non-vacuum benchtop sterilizers for sterilizing instruments after patient treatment (Smith et al., 2009c), including dental handpieces. The aim of this study was to investigate if benchtop steam sterilization processes commonly used in dental practice are appropriate for sterilizing dental handpieces. Critical variables affecting the outcome of steam sterilization, such as pre-cleaning and lubrication were assessed.

All results in the present thesis clearly indicate that non-vacuum sterilization in benchtop sterilizers, most commonly used in UK dental practice, are not adequate for sterilizing dental handpieces. All available methods used (biological indicators, chemical indicators and different thermometric and pressure measurements) were independent conformation and validation of all methods by showing the dame results. All our findings are in accordance with previously published scientific articles. The findings will be internationally applicable for dentistry as well as other areas in health care systems where sophisticated medical devices with narrow internal lumens are being used.

The first research question "Investigating steam penetration into dental handpieces and lumens in general (chapter 4), which was approached using thermometric measurements, chemical and biological indicators were used in different handpiece types (high-speed turbines, slow-speed motors, surgical handpieces) and process challenge devices using non-vacuum and vacuum sterilization cycles in a laboratory setting (chapter 4) and in general dental practices (chapter 6)" resulted in four main results:
1- Surgical handpieces and slow-speed motors are more difficult to sterilize than high-speed turbines, due to their mass or conductivity (chapters 4 and 5).

2- The outcome of a sterilization process differs between all types and models of handpieces (chapter 4).

3- Thermocouples placed in the load of a sterilizer facilitates steam penetration into the load and may therefore affect results (false positives) of current validation procedures for steam sterilizers (chapter 5).

4- Dental handpieces cannot be reliably sterilized in non-vacuum benchtop sterilizers, commonly used in UK dental practices (chapter 6).

The second research question "Investigating the effect of pre-cleaning dental handpieces, contaminated with different test soils from the standards or clinical contamination after patient treatment using a washer-disinfector or a handpiece cleaner-lubricator, which was assessed using the o-phtalaldehyde and G-box method (chapter 7)" showed that

1- Automated washer disinfectors (AWD) are more effective compared to dental handpiece cleaner-lubricators.

2- Surgical handpieces show the highest levels of protein contamination after the use on patients.

3- The quicker handpieces are reprocessed after treatment on patients, the more effective the cleaning process.

4- Further experiments need to be performed in order to determine the difference in the level of contamination and a standardized dental test soil should be developed and validated.

The third research question "Investigating the effect of handpiece lubricating oil on microbial inactivation by altering different parameters during a steam sterilization process using a BIER/CIER vessel in St. Paul (MN, US) (chapter 5)" resulted in two key findings:

1- Oil in thin layers might prevent spore inactivation by increasing the D value, but by blocking the channels for steam penetration.

2- The thickness of the layer of spores affects the sterilization outcome, which suggests that biofilm forming within dental handpieces, especially water spray channels, might pose an additional challenge for steam sterilization of dental handpieces.

Results for research question four "Investigating the effect of different humidity levels on chemical and biological indicators using a BIER/CIER vessel in Neuss (Germany) (chapters 3)" showed that

1- Different humidity/moisture levels affect how chemical indicators react to saturated steam, which might result in false positive results.

2- Moisture in terms of wet steam appears to be sufficient to inactivate spores. The inconsistence of results may be due to differences in spore manufacturing conditions of recovery methods.

The number of benchtop steam sterilizers and dental handpieces monitored in this study are considerably higher compared to existing scientific publications. The three independent methods (chemical indicators, biological indicators and thermometric and pressure measurements) as well as comparison of in-vitro (chapter4) and in-vivo (chapter 6) add value to the validity of findings. Moreover, extensive validation work was performed for all methods used (chapters 2, 3 and 5) in order to interpret results and increase understanding of method limitations, such as thermocouples and chemical indicators, which facilitate steam penetration into lumens rather than impair it and react to moisture rather than saturated steam, respectively. The finding that chemical indicators are likely to provide false positive results agrees with the literature (J.P.C.M. van Doornmalen, 2012, Lee et al., 1979, Rutala et al., 1996). Moreover, a weakness of this study is the small sample size of stainless steel tokens contaminated with spores (chapter 5) and surgical handpieces after patient treatment (chapter 7), due to time limitations.

8.2 Clinical implications

The three most important findings in this study are first, non-vacuum steam sterilization, even though commonly used in UK dental practice (Smith et al., 2009c), does not reliably achieve sterility of dental handpieces, second, handpiece lubrication may impair steam penetration into dental handpiece lumens and third, that handpiece cleaner-lubricators do not comply with current standards on cleaning of medical devices. Therefore, recommendations based on the findings in the present study and the interest of safety for patients and staff are not to use a handpiece cleaner-lubricator as a sole cleaning/disinfection step for dental handpieces, to refrain from relying on a non-vacuum sterilizer and to the use of vacuum sterilization of dental handpieces in order to provide a medical device that is safe to use on a patient. In general dental practice, vacuum sterilizers should replace non-vacuum sterilizers. Moreover, for better understanding of thermometric testing, it should be agreed on one definition for "thermometric fail", which could be a three second time delay, based on the findings in this work.

8.3 Future work

Using the results of this project as a foundation, it is evident that more research is required to study the effect of handpiece lubricating oil on the outcome of non-vacuum and vacuum steam sterilization cycles, in order to achieve a better understanding of the effect of handpiece lubricating oil in the heat resistance of microorganisms. Concerning PCD in dental practice, the commonly used helix does not mimic a handpiece and, as shown in this study, CI are unreliable. Therefore, the development of a dental specific PCD, simulating a dental handpiece in terms of thermal conductivity, material and dimensions, incorporating BI or electronics for faster results without incubation time, similar to the electronic Bowie Dick test (ETS, 3M), would be a good start in order to develop a PCD, which is a relevant and reliable indicator for steam sterilization of dental handpieces.

Moreover, in order to develop a standardised cleaning method for dental handpieces, the development of a dental specific test soil containing bioburden,

based on studies of instrument contamination after dental treatment, is necessary.

List of references

- 285:2006+A2:2009 BS EN. British Standard BS EN 285: 2006 + A2:2009, Sterilization - Steam sterilizers - Large sterilizers. London, British Standard Institute.
- 556-1:2001 BS EN. British Standard BS EN 556-1:2001, Sterilization of medical devices. Requirements for medical devices to be designated "STERILE". Requirements for terminally sterilized medical devices. London, British Standard Institute.
- 867-4:2001 BS EN. British Standard BS EN 867-4:2001, Non-biological systems for use in sterilizers. Specification for indicators as an alternative to the Bowie and Dick test for the detection of steam penetration. London, British Standard Institute.
- 867-5:2001 BS EN. British Standard BS EN 867-5:2001, Non-biological systems for use in sterilizers. Specification for indicator systems and process challenge devices for use in performance testing for small sterilizers Type B and Type S. London, British Standard Institute.
- 11138-1:2006 BS EN ISO. British Standard BS EN ISO 11138-1:2006, Sterilization of health care products. Biological indicators. General requirements. London, British Standard Institute.
- 11139:2006 ISO/TS. Sterilization of health care products Vocabulary. *London, British Standards Institute*.
- 11140-1:2009 BS EN ISO. British Standard BS EN ISO 11140-1:2009, Sterilization of health care products - Chemical indicators. Part 1: General requirements (ISO 11140-1:2005). London, British Standard Institute.
- 11140-3:2007 BS EN ISO. British Standard BS EN ISO 11140-3:2007, Sterilization of health care products - Chemical indicators. Part 3: Class 2 indicator systems for use in the Bowie and Dick-type steam penetration test. London, British Standards Institute.
- 13060:2014 BS EN. British Standard BS EN 13060:2014, Small steam sterilizers. London, British Standard institute.
- 15883-1:2009+A1:2014 BS EN ISO. British Standard BS EN ISO 15883-1:2009+A1:2014, Washer-disinfectors. General requirements, terms and definitions and tests. London, British Standard Institute.

- 15883-5:2005 ISO/TS. Washer-disinfectors Part 5: Test soils and methods for demonstrating cleaning efficacy. *In*: LONDON, B. S. I. (ed.).
- 17665-1:2006 BS EN ISO. British Standard BS EN ISO 17665 1: 2006, Sterilization of health care products - Moist heat - Part 1: Requirements for the development, validation and routine control of a sterilization process for medical devices. London, British Standards Institute.
- A. SIMONIS, D. R., H. MARTINY 2008. Reprocessing of dental contra-angles study of the efficacy of the washer-disinfector Turbicid. *Hyg Med*, 33, 80-85.
- ALFA, M. J., OLSON, N. & DEGAGNE, P. 2006. Automated washing with the Reliance Endoscope Processing System and its equivalence to optimal manual cleaning. *Am J Infect Control*, 34, 561-70.
- ALLISON, D. G. 1999. A review: taking the sterile out of sterility. *J Appl Microbiol*, 87, 789-93.
- ANDERSEN, H. K., FIEHN, N. E. & LARSEN, T. 1999. Effect of steam sterilization inside the turbine chambers of dental turbines. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*, 87, 184-8.
- ANDERSEN, H. K., FROST, L., HANSEN, D. B. & FIEHN, N. E. 1995. Decontamination of dental equipment. A validation of three devices designed for cleaning, disinfecting, and lubricating of dental high-speed turbines and handpieces. *Zentralbl Hyg Umweltmed*, 196, 437-43.
- APPLETON, J. L. 1924. The sterilization of the handpiece. *Dental Cosmos*, 861-877.
- BACTERIOLOGY, S. O. A. 1994. Fundamental and Applied Aspects of Bacterial Spores, Blackwell Scientific Publisher.
- BAGG, J., SMITH, A. J., HURRELL, D., MCHUGH, S. & IRVINE, G. 2007. Presterilisation cleaning of re-usable instruments in general dental practice. *Br Dent J*, 202, E22; discussion 550-1.
- BARTELS, H. A. 1931. Sterilization of dental instruments. JDR, 11, 67-81.
- BDA, B. D. A. 2013. Health Technical Memorandum (HTM) 01-05: Decontamination in primary care dental practices.

BLOCK, S. S. 1991. Disinfection, Sterilization, and Preservation, Lea & Febiger.

BORCHERS, U. M., M. 2004. How Material, Length, Wall Thickness and Diameter of Hollow Devices Affect the Inactivation Behaviour of Biological Indicators when Subjected to Moist-Heat Treatment. *Central Services*, 5, 314-322.

- BOWIE, J. H., KELSEY, J. C. & THOMPSON, G. R. 1963. The Bowie and Dick autoclave tape test. *Lancet*, 1, 586-7.
- BROWN, G. D. & GAZE, J. E. 1988. The evaluation of the recovery capacity of media for heat-treated Bacillus stearothermophilus spore strips. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 7, 109-14.
- CDC, T. C. F. D. C. A. P. 2003. Guidelines for Infection Control in Dental Health-Care Settings.
- CHECCHI, L., MONTEBUGNOLI, L. & SAMARITANI, S. 1998. Contamination of the turbine air chamber: a risk of cross infection. *J Clin Periodontol*, 25, 607-11.
- CHIN, J. R., MILLER, C. H. & PALENIK, C. J. 2006. Internal contamination of airdriven low-speed handpieces and attached prophy angles. *J Am Dent Assoc*, 137, 1275-80.
- COLE, E. C., RUTALA, W. A. & ALFANO, E. M. 1988. Comparison of stainless steel penicylinders used in disinfectant testing. *J Assoc Off Anal Chem*, 71, 288-9.
- DESHPANDE, A., SMITH, G. W. & SMITH, A. J. 2015. Biofouling of surgical power tools during routine use. *J Hosp Infect*.
- DREYER, A. G. & HAUMAN, C. H. 2001. Bacterial contamination of dental handpieces. SADJ, 56, 510-2.
- DYSON, J. E. & DARVELL, B. W. 1993a. Aspects of the design of modern dental air turbine handpieces. *Aust Dent J*, 38, 456-70.
- DYSON, J. E. & DARVELL, B. W. 1993b. The development of the dental highspeed air turbine handpiece. Part 1. *Aust Dent J*, 38, 49-58.
- DYSON, J. E. & DARVELL, B. W. 1993c. The development of the dental highspeed air turbine handpiece. Part 2. *Aust Dent J*, 38, 131-43.
- ECKER, E. E. 1937. Sterilization based on temperature attained and time ratio. *Mod Hosp*, 48.
- EDWARDSSON, S., SVENSATER, G. & BIRKHED, D. 1983. Steam sterilization of air turbine dental handpieces. *Acta Odontol Scand*, 41, 321-6.
- ELSHATSHAT, S. 2009. Effect of Potassium Carbonate on Water Permeability of Peach (Prunus laurocerasus) Cuticles at Different Air Humidity. International Journal of Agriculture and Biology, 11, 333-335.

- EPSTEIN, J. B., REA, G., SIBAU, L. & SHERLOCK, C. H. 1993. Rotary dental instruments and the potential risk of transmission of infection: herpes simplex virus. *J Am Dent Assoc*, 124, 55-9.
- EPSTEIN, J. B., REA, G., SIBAU, L., SHERLOCK, C. H. & LE, N. D. 1995. Assessing viral retention and elimination in rotary dental instruments. *J Am Dent Assoc*, 126, 87-92.
- EVERALL, P. H., MORRIS, C. A., SCHNELLMANN, R. & YARNELL, R. 1978. Superheat in porous load autoclaves and its effects on the indicator stripes on paper bags. *Hosp Eng*, 32, 12-3.
- FRANZ, A., BRISTELA, M. & STAUFFER, F. 2012. Reprocessing of dental instruments in washer-disinfectors: does a representative test soil exist in dentistry? *GMS Krankenhhyg Interdiszip*, 7, Doc13.
- GRAHAM CURRELL, A. D. 2009. Essential Mathematics and Statistics for Science, England, Wiley-Blackwell.
- GUIZELINI, B. P., VANDENBERGHE, L. P., SELLA, S. R. & SOCCOL, C. R. 2012. Study of the influence of sporulation conditions on heat resistance of Geobacillus stearothermophilus used in the development of biological indicators for steam sterilization. *Arch Microbiol*, 194, 991-9.
- GUREVICH, I., DUBIN, R. & CUNHA, B. A. 1996. Dental instrument and device sterilization and disinfection practices. *J Hosp Infect*, 32, 295-304.
- HALLECK, F. E., MIZUBA, S., ZIMMER, D. I. & WOODROW, J. 1979. Criteria for determining steam sterilization cycles for lubricated and nonlubricated mechanical equipment. *Med Instrum*, 13, 168-71.
- HEGNA, I. K., KARDEL, K. & KARDEL, M. 1978. Autoclaving of lubricated dental instruments. *Scand J Dent Res*, 86, 130-4.
- HERD, S., CHIN, J., PALENIK, C. J. & OFNER, S. 2007. The in vivo contamination of air-driven low-speed handpieces with prophylaxis angles. *J Am Dent Assoc*, 138, 1360-5; quiz 1383.
- HERVE, R. & KEEVIL, C. W. 2013. Current limitations about the cleaning of luminal endoscopes. *J Hosp Infect*, 83, 22-9.
- HOWIE, J. W. 1961. The surgeon's autoclave. J Clin Pathol, 14, 49-54.
- HU, T., LI, G., ZUO, Y. & ZHOU, X. 2007. Risk of hepatitis B virus transmission via dental handpieces and evaluation of an anti-suction device for prevention of transmission. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, 28, 80-2.

- J P C M VAN DOORNMALEN, M. V., K KOPINGA 2013. Penetration of water vapour into narrow channels during steam sterilization processes. *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, 46, 1-7.
- J. P. C. M. VAN DOORNMALEN, M. V., K. KOPINGA 2013. Penetration of water vapour into narrow channels during steam sterilization processes. *Journal* of Physics D: Applied Physics, 46.
- J.P.C.M. VAN DOORNMALEN, A. G. M. R., A.J. FEILZER, K. KOPINGA 2013. Monitoring of steam sterilization processes in the dental office. *Central Service*, 6, 435-438.
- J.P.C.M. VAN DOORNMALEN, F. T., K. KOPINGA 2014. Measurements of only pressure and temperature are insufficient to monitor steam sterilization processes: a case study. *Central Service*, 4, 250-253.
- J.P.C.M. VAN DOORNMALEN, R. J. H., K. KOPINGA 2012. Six commercially available Class 6 Chemical Indicators tested against their stated values. *Central Service*, 6, 400-404.
- JOAN F. GARDNER, M. M. P. 1991. Introduction to Sterilization, Disinfection and Infection Control, Churchill Livingstone.
- JOANNE WILLEY, L. S., CHRIS WOOLVERTON 2007. Prescott, Harley, Klein's Microbiology, McGraw-Hill Higher Education.
- KAISER U., G. J. 1998. Investigation of Air Removal from Hollow Goods using Different Steam sterilization Processes Zentral Sterilisation, 6, 401 - 413.
- KELLETT, M. & HOLBROOK, W. P. 1980. Bacterial contamination of dental handpieces. *J Dent*, 8, 249-53.
- KIM, J. & NAYLOR, H. B. 1966. Spore production by Bacillus stearothermophilus. *Appl Microbiol*, 14, 690-1.
- KOCH, A. L. 1970. Turbidity measurements of bacterial cultures in some available commercial instruments. *Anal Biochem*, 38, 252-9.
- KOHEK, T. Entwicklung einer Prüfmethode für Aufbereitungsverfahren für zahnärztliche Hand-/Winkelstücke bzw. Turbinen. Dr. med. dent., Medizinische Universität Graz.
- KONRICH, F. 1938. Die bakterielle Keimtötung durch Wärme Desinfection und Sterilisation durch Wärme, Stuttgart, Ferdinand Enke Verlag.
- LARSEN, T., ANDERSEN, H. K. & FIEHN, N. E. 1997. Evaluation of a new device for sterilizing dental high-speed handpieces. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*, 84, 513-6.

- LEE, C. H., MONTVILLE, T. J. & SINSKEY, A. J. 1979. Comparison of the efficacy of steam sterilization indicators. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 37, 1113-7.
- LEUNG, V. W. & DARVELL, B. W. 1997. Artificial salivas for in vitro studies of dental materials. *J Dent*, 25, 475-84.
- LEWIS, D. L. & ARENS, M. 1995. Resistance of microorganisms to disinfection in dental and medical devices. *Nat Med*, 1, 956-8.
- LEWIS, D. L., ARENS, M., APPLETON, S. S., NAKASHIMA, K., RYU, J., BOE, R. K., PATRICK, J. B., WATANABE, D. T. & SUZUKI, M. 1992. Cross-contamination potential with dental equipment. *Lancet*, 340, 1252-4.
- LEWIS, D. L. & BOE, R. K. 1992. Cross-infection risks associated with current procedures for using high-speed dental handpieces. *J Clin Microbiol*, 30, 401-6.
- LLOYD, L., BURKE, F. J. & CHEUNG, S. W. 1995. Handpiece asepsis: a survey of the attitudes of dental practitioners. *Br Dent J*, 178, 23-7.
- MDD, E. P. O. T. C. 1993. Council Directive 93/42/EEC of 14 June 1993 concerning medical devices.
- MRC 1959. Sterilisation by steam under increased pressure Medical Research Council by the working party on pressure-steam sterilisers. *The Lancet*, February.
- NHS, H. P. S. 2005. Local Decontamination Units: Guidance on the Requirements for Equipment, Facilities and Management.
- OJAJARVI, J. 1996. Prevention of microbial contamination of the dental unit caused by suction into the turbine drive air lines. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*, 81, 50-2.
- OZAWA, T., NAKANO, M. & ARAI, T. 2010. In vitro study of anti-suck-back ability by themselves on new high-speed air turbine handpieces. *Dent Mater J*, 29, 649-54.
- PAGE, M. J., MCKENZIE, J. E., KIRKHAM, J., DWAN, K., KRAMER, S., GREEN, S. & FORBES, A. 2014. Bias due to selective inclusion and reporting of outcomes and analyses in systematic reviews of randomised trials of healthcare interventions. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 10, MR000035.
- PELZNER, R. B., KEMPLER, D., STARK, M. M., BARKIN, P. R. & GRAHAM, D. A. 1977. Laser evaluation of handpiece contamination. *J Dent Res*, 56, 1629-34.

- PERKINS, J. J. 1983. Principles and Methods of Sterilization in Health Science, Charles C Thomas Publisher.
- PHARMACOPOEIA 2014. European Directorate for the Quality of Medicines & Health Care. *In*: EUROPE, C. O. (ed.) 8th ed.
- RADCLIFFE, R. A., BIXLER, D., MOORMAN, A., HOGAN, V. A., GREENFIELD, V. S., GAVIRIA, D. M., PATEL, P. R., SCHAEFER, M. K., COLLINS, A. S., KHUDYAKOV, Y. E., DROBENIUC, J., GOOCH, B. F. & CLEVELAND, J. L. 2013. Hepatitis B virus transmissions associated with a portable dental clinic, West Virginia, 2009. J Am Dent Assoc, 144, 1110-8.
- RADIMERSKY, L. 2012. Thermische Reinigung zahnärzlicher Hand- und Winkelstücke in einem Reinigungs- und Desinfektions-Gerät. Dr. med. dent., Medizinische Fakultät Charité.
- REDD, J. T., BAUMBACH, J., KOHN, W., NAINAN, O., KHRISTOVA, M. & WILLIAMS,
 I. 2007. Patient-to-patient transmission of hepatitis B virus associated with oral surgery. J Infect Dis, 195, 1311-4.
- RKI, R. K.-I. 2005. Infek-ti-ons-p-rä-venti-on i-n der Zah-nh-ei-lk-unde -Anforderungen an di-e Hy-gi-ene.
- ROTH, M. 1971. Fluorescence reaction for amino acids. Anal Chem, 43, 880-2.
- RUSSELL, A. D. 1982. The Destruction of Bacterial Spores, Academic Press Inc. Ltd.
- RUSSELL, H. A. S. 2004. Principles and Practice of Disinfection Preservation & Sterilization, Blackwell Publishing.
- RUTALA, W. A., GERGEN, M. F. & WEBER, D. J. 2008. Impact of an oil-based lubricant on the effectiveness of the sterilization processes. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, 29, 69-72.
- RUTALA, W. A., JONES, S. M. & WEBER, D. J. 1996. Comparison of a rapid readout biological indicator for steam sterilization with four conventional biological indicators and five chemical indicators. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, 17, 423-8.
- S. ESEN, F. T., R. J. HERMSEN AND J.P.C.M. VAN DOORMALEN 2012a. Current reference devices for hollow instrument loads as defined in standards are not a valid steam penetration test. *Central Service*, 4, 256-260.
- S. ESEN, F. T., R. J. HERMSEN, J.P.C.M. VAN DOORNMALEN 2012b. Current reference devices for hollow instrument loads as defined in standards are not valid steam penetration test. *Central Service*, 4, 256-260.

- SAMARANAYAKE, L. 1993. Handpiece and water line decontamination and HIV transmission: a critique. *Dent Update*, 20, 53-4, 56.
- SANDLE, T. 2013. Sterility, Sterilization and Sterility Assurance for *Pharmaceuticals*, Cambridge, Woodhead Publishing Limited.
- SCHÖNHERR. 2005. Die Reinigung von zahnärztlichen Winkelstücken geprüft mit der modifizierten OPA-Methode in zwei Reinigungs- und Desinfectionsgeräten. Dr. med. dent., Medizinische Fakultät Charité.
- SCRUTON, M. W. 1989. The effect of air with steam on the temperature of autoclave contents. *J Hosp Infect*, 14, 249-62.
- SENHAJI, A. F. 1977. The protective effect of fat on the heat resistance of bacteria (I). J. Fd Technol., 12, 203 216.
- SHPUNTOFF, H. & SHPUNTOFF, R. L. 1993. High-speed dental handpieces and spread of airborne infections. *N Y State Dent J*, 59, 21-3.
- SHTM 2010. Scottish Health Technical Memorandum 2010 part 3 of 6 Validation and verification Sterilization.
- SKAUG, N. & KALAGER, T. 1986. Comparative thermoresistance of two biological indicators for monitoring steam autoclaves. 3. Comparison performed at 121 degrees C in a hospital prevacuum steam sterilizer. Acta Pathol Microbiol Immunol Scand B, 94, 107-12.
- SMITH, A., CREANOR, S., HURRELL, D., BAGG, J. & MCCOWAN, M. 2009a. Management of infection control in dental practice. J Hosp Infect, 71, 353-8.
- SMITH, A., LETTERS, S., LANGE, A., PERRETT, D., MCHUGH, S. & BAGG, J. 2005.
 Residual protein levels on reprocessed dental instruments. J Hosp Infect, 61, 237-41.
- SMITH, A., SMITH, G., LAPPIN, D. F., BAXTER, H. C., JONES, A. & BAXTER, R. L. 2014. Dental handpiece contamination: a proteomics and surface analysis approach. *Biofouling*, 30, 29-39.
- SMITH, A. J., BAGG, J., HURRELL, D. & MCHUGH, S. 2007. Sterilization of reusable instruments in general dental practice. *Br Dent J*, 203, E16.
- SMITH, A. J., CREANOR, S. & HURRELL, D. J. 2009b. Survey of instrument decontamination in dental surgeries located in Scottish prisons. Am J Infect Control, 37, 689-90.

- SMITH, G. M., KOPELMAN, M., JONES, A. & PFLUG, I. J. 1982. Effect of environmental conditions during heating on commercial spore strip performance. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 44, 12-8.
- SMITH, G. W., SMITH, A. J., CREANOR, S., HURRELL, D., BAGG, J. & LAPPIN, D.
 F. 2009c. Survey of the decontamination and maintenance of dental handpieces in general dental practice. *Br Dent J*, 207, E7; discussion 160-1.
- SMITH, G. W. G. 2011. *Biofouling of Dental Handpieces*. PhD, University of Glasgow.
- SPICHER, G., PETERS, J. & BORCHERS, U. 1999. Microbiological efficacy of superheated steam. I. Communication: results with spores of Bacillus subtilis and Bacillus stearothermophilus and with spore earth. Zentralbl Hyg Umweltmed, 201, 541-53.
- STEPHENS, R. R. 1987. Dental handpiece history. Aust Dent J, 32, 58-62.
- SUTTON, S. 2011. Determination of Inoculum for Microbiological Testing. *Journal* of GXP Compliance, 15, 40 53.
- SZYMANSKA, J. & SITKOWSKA, J. 2013. Bacterial contamination of dental unit waterlines. *Environ Monit Assess*, 185, 3603-11.
- VAN DOORNMALEN, J. P. & KOPINGA, K. 2009. Temperature dependence of F-,
 D- and z-values used in steam sterilization processes. J Appl Microbiol,
 107, 1054-60.
- VAN DOORNMALEN, J. P. & KOPINGA, K. 2013. Measuring non-condensable gases in steam. *Rev Sci Instrum*, 84, 115106.
- VAN DOORNMALEN, V. W., VAN DOORNMALEN 2015. Case study on the orientation of phaco handpieces during steam sterilization processes. *Journal of Hos[pital Infection*, 90, 52-58.
- WALBUM, L. E. 1931. Sterilization of surgical instruments. *Z Hyg Infectionskr*, 112.
- WEIGHTMAN, N. C. & LINES, L. D. 2004. Problems with the decontamination of dental handpieces and other intra-oral dental equipment in hospitals. J Hosp Infect, 56, 1-5.
- YOUNG, J. H. L., W.C.; GABER, R.P. 1995. Transport processes during sterilization of vertical and 5 degree horizontal dead-legs. *Bioprocess Engineering*, 12, 293-304.

- ZHOU, L. F., ZHU, H. H., LIN, J., HU, M. J., CHEN, F. & CHEN, Z. 2006.Surveillance of viral contamination of invasive medical instruments in dentistry. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B, 7, 745-8.
- ZHU, D., SAUL, A., HUANG, S., MARTIN, L. B., MILLER, L. H., RAUSCH, K. M.2009. Use of o-phthalaldehyde assay to determine protein contents of Alhydrogel-based vaccines. *Vaccine*, 27.